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Financial Highlights
(Millions of dollars, except per share amounts)

Years ended December 31 2020 2019

Net Equity Value per Common Share (1) $ 1,684.93 $ 1,486.19 

Net Income per Common Share $ 128.21 $ 185.67 

Comprehensive Income per Common Share $ 136.75 $ 196.32 

Contribution to Shareholders' Net Income:
E-L Corporate $ 361 $ 572 
Empire Life  139  173 

Shareholders' Net Income  500  745 
Preferred Shareholder Dividends  15  15 

Net Income attributable to Common Shareholders $ 485 $ 730 

E-L Corporate
Shareholders' Net Income $ 361 $ 572 
Investments - Corporate $ 5,689 $ 5,270 
Investments in Associates $ 245 $ 332 

Empire Life
Common Shareholders' Net Income $ 139 $ 173 
Net Premiums and Fee Income $ 1,111 $ 1,172 
Assets Under Management (1) $ 18,836 $ 18,100 
Life Insurance Capital Adequacy Test Total Ratio (“LICAT”) (%)  136  155 

(1) See Non-GAAP measures within the Management’s Discussion and Analysis 

ANNUAL MEETING OF SHAREHOLDERS
The Annual Meeting of Shareholders (“AGM”) will be held Tuesday May 18, 2021 at 11:30 a.m. (Toronto 
time). The AGM will be held as on online-only meeting in order to comply with legal requirements and 
social distancing best practices in light of the COVID-19 pandemic. All shareholders are invited to attend.
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REPORT ON E-L FINANCIAL CORPORATION LIMITED

This document has been prepared for the purpose of providing Management’s Discussion and Analysis 
(“MD&A”) of the financial condition and results of operations for the years ended December 31, 2020 and 
2019 for E-L Financial Corporation Limited (“E-L Financial” or the “Company”). This MD&A should be read 
in conjunction with the December 31, 2020 year end consolidated financial statements and the notes, 
which form part of the E-L Financial Corporation Limited 2020 Annual Report dated March 3, 2021. The 
consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International Financial 
Reporting Standards (“IFRS”) as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (“IASB”). Unless 
otherwise noted, both the consolidated financial statements and this MD&A are expressed in Canadian 
dollars. Figures in this MD&A may differ or not sum due to rounding.

This MD&A contains certain forward-looking statements that are subject to risks and uncertainties that 
may cause the results or events mentioned in this discussion to differ materially from actual results or 
events. No assurance can be given that results, performance or achievement expressed in, or implied by, 
any forward-looking statements within this discussion will occur, or if they do, that any benefits may be 
derived from them.

Unless otherwise stated, all per share amounts are based on the weighted average number of Common 
Shares and Series A Convertible Preference Shares outstanding for the period, adjusted for the 
Company’s proportionate interest in its own Common Shares held indirectly through investments in 
associates.

Additional information relating to the Company, including its Annual Information Form, may be found at 
www.sedar.com.

Forward-looking statements and information

Certain statements in this MD&A about the Company’s current and future plans, expectations and 
intentions, results, market share growth and profitability, strategic objectives or any other future events or 
developments constitute forward-looking statements and information within the meaning of applicable 
securities laws. The words “may”, “will”, “would”, “should”, “could”, “expects”, “plans”, “intends”, “trends”, 
“indications”, “anticipates”, “believes”, “estimates”, “predicts”, “likely” or “potential” or the negative or other 
variations of these words or other comparable words or phrases, are intended to identify forward-looking 
statements and information. Although management believes that the expectations and assumptions on 
which such forward-looking statements and information are based are reasonable, undue reliance should 
not be placed on the forward-looking statements and information because there can be no assurance that 
they will prove to be correct. By their nature, such forward-looking statements and information are subject 
to various risks and uncertainties, which could cause the actual results and expectations to differ 
materially from the anticipated results or expectations expressed. These risks and uncertainties include, 
but are not limited to, market risk including equity risk, hedging risk, interest rate risk, foreign exchange 
rate risk; liquidity risk; credit risk including counterparty risk; insurance risk including mortality risk, 
policyholder behaviour risk, expense risk, morbidity risk, product design and pricing risk, underwriting and 
claims risk, reinsurance risk; operational risk, including legal and regulatory risk, model risk, human 
resources risk, third party risk, technology, information security and business continuity risk; and business 
risk and strategic, including risk with respect to competition, risk with respect to financial strength, capital 
adequacy risk, risk with respect to distribution channels, risk with respect to changes to applicable income 
tax legislation, risk with respect to litigation, risk with respect to reputation, risk with respect to risk 
management policies, risk with respect to intellectual property, risk with respect to significant ownership of 
common shares. Please see the section titled “Description of the Business” in E-L Financial’s Annual 
Information Form available at www.sedar.com for more details on these risks.
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Material factors or assumptions that were applied in drawing a conclusion or making an estimate set out 
in the forward-looking statements and information include that the general economy remains stable; 
assumptions on interest rates, mortality rates and policy liabilities; and capital markets continue to provide 
access to capital. These factors are not intended to represent a complete list of the factors that could 
affect the Company; however, these factors should be considered carefully, and readers should not place 
undue reliance on forward-looking statements made herein or in the documents reproduced herein.

To the extent any forward-looking information in this MD&A constitutes future-oriented financial 
information or financial outlooks within the meaning of securities laws, such information is being provided 
to demonstrate potential benefits and readers are cautioned that this information may not be appropriate 
for any other purpose. Future-oriented financial information and financial outlooks are, without limitation, 
based on the assumptions and subject to the risks set out above. 

The forward-looking information contained herein is expressly qualified in its entirety by this cautionary 
statement. When relying on the Company’s forward-looking statements and information to make 
decisions, investors and others should carefully consider the foregoing factors, assumptions and other 
uncertainties and potential events. Readers are cautioned not to place undue reliance on this forward-
looking information, which is given as of the date hereof or the date indicated, and to not use such 
forward-looking information for anything other than its intended purpose. The Company undertakes no 
obligation to update publicly or revise any forward-looking statements and information, whether as a result 
of new information, future events or otherwise after the date of this document, except as required by law.

Non-GAAP measures

The MD&A contains information using non-GAAP measures. Current Canadian GAAP is IFRS for the 
Company’s consolidated financial statements. The Company believes that these measures provide useful 
information to its shareholders in evaluating the Company’s financial results. Where non-GAAP measures 
are used, descriptions have been provided as to the nature of the adjustments made.

The MD&A contains reference to net equity value, net equity value per common share and growth in net 
equity value per common share. Net equity value per common share is described and reconciled to 
shareholders’ equity on page 8. These terms do not have any standardized meaning according to IFRS 
and therefore may not be comparable to similar measures presented by other companies. 

The MD&A also contains non-consolidated cash flow information of E-L Financial which is a non-GAAP 
presentation. The information is useful as it separates the Company’s cash flows from the cash flows of 
its subsidiaries. This information is reconciled to the consolidated cash flows on page 10.

Other non-GAAP measures are also used in The Empire Life Insurance Company (“Empire” or “Empire 
Life”) section of the MD&A. These include references to return on common shareholders’ equity, source of 
earnings, assets under management, annualized premium sales, gross and net sales for mutual funds, 
segregated funds and fixed annuities. These provide investors with supplemental measures of its 
operating performance and to highlight trends in its core business that may not otherwise be apparent 
when relying solely on GAAP financial measures. Empire Life also believes that securities analysts, 
investors and other interested parties frequently use non-GAAP measures in the evaluation of issuers. 
Empire Life’s management also uses non-GAAP measures in order to facilitate operating performance 
comparisons from period to period, to prepare annual operating budgets and to determine components of 
management compensation. 

Return on Empire Life’s common shareholders’ equity is a profitability measure that presents the net 
income available to common shareholders as a percentage of the average capital deployed to earn the 
income. Quarterly and year to date returns are calculated on an annualized basis.

Sources of earnings breaks down Empire Life’s earnings into several categories which are useful to 
assess the performance of the business. These categories include expected profit from in-force business, 
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impact of new business, experience gains and losses, management actions and changes in assumptions, 
and earnings on surplus. The sources of earnings components are reconciled to Empire Life’s net income 
on page 20 of this report. 

Annualized premium sales are used as a method of measuring sales volume. It is equal to the premium 
expected to be received in the first twelve months for all new individual insurance and employee benefit 
policies sold during the period. Mutual fund gross and net sales and segregated fund gross and net sales 
are also used as measures of sales volume. Empire Life believes that these measures provide 
information useful to its shareholders and policyholders in evaluating Empire Life’s underlying financial 
results. 

Assets under management is a non-GAAP measure of the assets managed by Empire Life, which 
includes general fund assets, mutual fund assets and segregated fund assets. They represent the total 
assets of Empire Life and the assets its customers invest in. Empire Life believes that these measures 
provide information useful to its shareholders and policyholders in evaluating Empire Life’s underlying 
financial results.

The following table provides a reconciliation of assets under management to total assets in Empire Life’s 
financial statements:

(in millions of dollars) 2020 2019

General fund assets $ 10,259 $ 9,462 
Segregated fund assets  8,457  8,499 
Total Empire Life assets  18,716  17,961 
Mutual fund assets  120  139 
Total assets under management $ 18,836 $ 18,100 
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The Company

E-L Financial operates as an investment and insurance holding company. In managing its operations, the 
Company distinguishes between two operating segments, E-L Corporate and Empire Life. 

E-L Corporate’s operations include the oversight of investments in global equities held through direct and 
indirect holdings of common shares, investment funds, closed-end investment companies and other 
private companies. E-L Financial holds a 52.7% interest in a closed-end investment corporation, United 
Corporations Limited (“United”) which is listed on the Toronto Stock Exchange. United is an investment 
vehicle for long-term growth through investments in common equities. The invested assets and 
operations of United are consolidated and included in the E-L Corporate segment. In addition, E-L 
Corporate has two significant investments in associates which includes a 37.4% interest in Algoma 
Central Corporation (“Algoma”) and a 24.1% interest in Economic Investment Trust Limited (“Economic”). 
Algoma and Economic are accounted for using the equity method.

The Company’s investment in Empire Life (99.4% interest) is consolidated by E-L Financial. The Empire 
Life operating segment underwrites life and health insurance policies and provides segregated funds, 
mutual funds and annuity products.

The Company’s strategy is to accumulate shareholder value through long-term capital appreciation and 
dividend and interest income from its investments. E-L Financial oversees its investments through 
representation on the Boards of Directors of the subsidiaries and the other companies in which the 
Company has significant shareholdings.

Overview of results attributable to shareholders of E-L Financial

E-L Financial consolidated Fourth quarter Year 
(millions of dollars) 2020 2019 2020 2019

Contribution to net income 
E-L Corporate(1) $ 438 $ 217 $ 361 $ 572 
Empire Life(2)  72  76  139  173 
Net income  510  293  500  745 
Other comprehensive income (loss)(2)  1  (14)  32  41 
Comprehensive income $ 511 $ 279 $ 532 $ 786 

The following tables summarize the results of the Company’s business segments:

E-L Corporate Fourth quarter Year 
(millions of dollars) 2020 2019 2020 2019

Revenue
Net gain on investments(3) $ 527 $ 271 $ 453 $ 646 
Investment and other income  34  27  130  145 
Share of associates income (loss)  27  10  (29)  24 

 588  308  554  815 
Operating expenses  12  10  42  37 
Income taxes  71  40  66  107 
Non-controlling interests  67  41  85  99 

 150  91  193  243 
Net income  438  217  361  572 
Other comprehensive (loss) income, net of taxes(1)  (3)  2  (8)  (6) 
Comprehensive income $ 435 $ 219 $ 353 $ 566 
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Empire Life Fourth quarter Year 
(millions of dollars) 2020 2019 2020 2019

Revenue
Net premiums $ 221 $ 229 $ 860 $ 910 
Net gain (loss) on investments(3)  102  (131)  541  618 
Investment income  86  85  330  325 
Fee income  66  66  251  262 

 475  249  1,982  2,115 
Benefits and expenses  363  122  1,762  1,847 
Income and other taxes  31  39  63  77 

Non-controlling and participating policyholders’ 
interests  9  12  18  18 

 403  173  1,843  1,942 
Net income  72  76  139  173 
Other comprehensive income (loss), net of taxes(2)  4  (16)  40  47 
Comprehensive income $ 76 $ 60 $ 179 $ 220 

(1) Net of non-controlling interests
(2) Net of non-controlling interests and participating policyholders’ amounts 
(3) Includes fair value change in fair value through profit and loss (“FVTPL”) investments and realized gain on available for sale 

(“AFS”) investments

E-L Financial reported a consolidated 2020 net income of $500 million or $128.21 per common share 
compared to $745 million or $185.67 per common share in 2019. Despite the international emergence 
and spread of COVID-19 and the associated declines in global stock markets in the earlier part of 2020, 
the Company reported strong results in the business segments for the year. 

E-L Corporate reported a net income of $361 million for the year ended December 31, 2020 compared to 
net income of $572 million in 2019. The decrease in earnings was primarily due to lower net gains on 
investments of $453 million in 2020 compared to $646 million in 2019. E-L Corporate’s global investment 
portfolio had a pre-tax total return, including dividend income, of 10% in 2020 compared to a pre-tax total 
return of 17% in the prior year. 

Empire Life reported net income of $139 million in 2020 compared to $173 million in 2019. The decrease 
in earnings from 2019 was due, in part, to a large one-time gain recognized in 2019 related to a 
reinsurance recapture initiative. In 2020, earnings from the Wealth Management line were lower due to 
reserve strengthening and assumption updates in the Wealth Management line, resulting from poor 
market returns earlier in the year. This was partially offset by increased earnings from the Individual 
Insurance line primarily as a result of asset trading gains from continued improvements in the Company's 
matching of assets and liabilities. 

Consolidated comprehensive income for 2020 was $532 million or $136.75 per common share compared 
to $786 million or $196.32 per common share in 2019. Other comprehensive income (“OCI”) was $32 
million in 2020 compared to $41 million in 2019. The decrease in OCI relative to 2019 was primarily due 
to a higher loss from the re-measurement of post-employment liabilities partially offset by higher 
unrealized fair value gains on AFS assets in 2020 relative to 2019.

Normal course issuer bid

On March 9, 2020, the Company obtained approval from the TSX to commence a normal course issuer 
bid (“NCIB”) to purchase up to 200,970 Common Shares between March 9, 2020 and March 8, 2021. 
Daily purchases (other than pursuant to a block purchase exemption) on the TSX under the NCIB are 
limited to 1,000 Common Shares. The price that the Company pays for the Common Shares is the 
prevailing market price at the time of acquisition. 
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During the second quarter of 2020 the Company had purchased the maximum permitted shares under the 
NCIB totaling 200,970 Common Shares. The total consideration paid for the shares acquired was $120 
million with an average price of $599.18 per share.

Senior unsecured notes

In the second quarter of 2020, the Company issued $200 million principal amount of 4.0% senior 
unsecured notes. The notes mature on June 22, 2050 and bear interest at an annual rate of 4.0% 
calculated and payable semi-annually in arrears on June 22 and December 22 of each year commencing 
December 22, 2020 and ending June 22, 2050. 

Substantial issuer bid

On November 9, 2020 the Company announced its intention to commence a substantial issuer bid (“SIB”) 
pursuant to which the Company offered to purchase up to $100 million of its outstanding Common Shares 
for cash. The SIB proceeded by way of a “modified Dutch auction”. 

As of December 17, 2020 the Company had taken up and paid for 109,863 Common Shares (the 
“Shares”) at a price of $750.00 per share. The Shares purchased under the SIB represent an aggregate 
purchase price of approximately $82 million and represented 2.9% of the total number of the Company’s 
issued and outstanding Common Shares at the expiry date of the SIB. After giving effect to the SIB, the 
Company had 3,708,576 Common Shares issued and outstanding.

Net equity value per common share

Investments in Algoma and Economic are accounted for using the equity method and are not carried at 
fair value. Therefore, to provide an indication of the accumulated shareholder value, the following table 
adjusts shareholders’ equity to reflect investments in associates at fair value:

(millions of dollars, except per share amounts) 2020 2019

E-L Financial shareholders' equity $ 6,474 $ 6,275 

Less: First preference shares  (300)  (300) 

 6,174  5,975 

Adjustments for investments in associates not carried at fair value:

Carrying value  (245)  (332) 

Fair value(1)  344  331 

 99  (1) 

Non-controlling interest and deferred tax  (23)  — 

 76  (1) 

Net equity value $ 6,250 $ 5,974 

Common Shares(2) outstanding at year end  3,708,834  4,019,667 

Net equity value per common share(2) (3) $ 1,684.93 $ 1,486.19 
(1) Based on quoted market prices
(2) Common Shares includes Series A Convertible Preference Shares
(3) See non-GAAP measures

The Common Shares outstanding for 2020 are lower compared to the prior year amounts due to shares 
acquired as part of the Company’s SIB and NCIB. 

Growth in net equity value 

The Company’s objective is to build long-term shareholder value by compounding growth in net equity 
value per common share over the long term. Set out below is a table that shows the net equity value per 
common share and growth for the respective fiscal periods. The growth in net equity value includes 
dividends paid to common shareholders.
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Annual Net equity value* Growth*
$ %

2011  642.98  (13.9) 
2012  740.49  15.2 
2013  872.45  28.0 
2014  970.65  11.3 
2015        1,089.23  12.3 
2016  1,159.26  6.8 
2017  1,316.64  14.0 
2018  1,295.65  (1.2) 
2019  1,486.19  15.1 
2020  1,684.93  15.4 

Compounded annual growth in net equity value*
2011 - 2020 - 10 years  9.3 
1969 - 2020 - Since inception  12.8 

* This chart was drawn from the individual annual reports and has not been restated for any subsequent changes in accounting 
policies. 

Summary of quarterly results

The following table summarizes the quarterly results:

(millions of dollars, except per share 
amounts)

2020 2019

Q4 Q3 Q2 Q1 Q4 Q3 Q2 Q1

Revenue

Net gain (loss) on investments(1) $ 629 $ 221 $ 1,273 $ (1,129) $ 139 $ 163 $ 209 $ 753 

Net premium income  221  221  202  216  229  218  225  238 

Investment and other income  185  173  177  176  178  186  200  168 
Associates(2)  28  6  29  (92)  10  4  7  3 

Total $ 1,063 $ 621 $ 1,681 $ (829) $ 556 $ 571 $ 641 $ 1,162 

Net income (loss)(3) $ 510 $ 201 $ 452 $ (663) $ 293 $ 101 $ 42 $ 309 

Earnings (loss) per common share 

- basic $ 136.42 $ 52.88 $ 119.36 $ (170.26) $ 73.68 $ 24.61 $ 9.70 $ 77.68 

- diluted $ 124.11 $ 48.71 $ 108.83 $ (170.26) $ 67.58 $ 23.26 $ 9.70 $ 71.45 

(1) Fair value change on FVTPL investments and realized gain (loss) on AFS investments
(2) Share of income (loss) of associates
(3) Attributable to shareholders

Quarterly trend analysis

The consolidated revenue and consolidated net income of the Company are expected to fluctuate on a 
quarterly basis given its two segments. In particular, equity market movements, changes in interest rates, 
underwriting results, policy liability discount rates and policy reserve adjustments are likely to cause 
fluctuations. Investment income includes dividend income earned by the Company. In general, dividends 
earned on investments outside North America peak in the second and fourth quarters of the year.

Revenue for the fourth quarter of 2020 increased compared to the prior quarter and fourth quarter of 
2019, with the fluctuation mainly due to the impact of net investment gains. The fair value change in 
FVTPL investments increased in the fourth quarter of 2020, reflecting strong equity markets experience 
during the quarter.  
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Net premiums for the fourth quarter of 2020 were consistent with the prior quarter but lower relative to the  
fourth quarter of 2019. The decrease from the prior year is due to lower sales of fixed annuity products in 
the Wealth Management line partially offset by higher net premiums in the Individual Insurance line, 
resulting from strong sales of Empire Life’s term life products.

Fourth quarter results

E-L Financial reported a consolidated net income of $510 million or $136.42 per common share for the 
fourth quarter of 2020 compared to $293 million or $73.68 per common share in 2019. 

The increase in net income for the fourth quarter of 2020 is primarily due to a net gain on investments 
within the E-L Corporate segment of $527 million compared to $271 million in 2019 reflecting the strong 
global equity experience during the fourth quarter of 2020. The pre-tax total return on E-L Corporate’s 
global investment portfolio for the fourth quarter of 2020 was 10% compared to 7% in the prior year. 

Empire Life reported net income of $72 million for the fourth quarter of 2020 compared to $76 million for 
the fourth quarter of 2019. 

Consolidated comprehensive income for the fourth quarter of 2020 was $511 million or $136.75 per 
common share compared to $279 million or $70.01 per common share for the fourth quarter of 2019. OCI 
for the fourth quarter of 2020 was $1 million compared to other comprehensive loss (“OCL”) of $14 million 
in 2019. OCI increased in the fourth quarter of 2020, primarily due to unrealized fair value gains on AFS 
investments compared to unrealized fair value losses on these assets in 2019. The 2019 losses were 
partially offset by a gain on re-measurement of post-employment benefit liabilities in the fourth quarter of 
the year. 

Liquidity and cash flows
Consolidated cash flows

The condensed cash flows of United and Empire Life, as well as E-L Financial non-consolidated and 
consolidated are presented below:

Year ended December 31
(millions of dollars)

E-L Financial 
(non-

consolidated) United Empire Life
Consolidation 
adjustments E-L Financial Consolidated

2020 2019

Cash flows from:

Operating activities $ 247 $ 16 $ 273 $ (207) $ 329 $ 417 

Financing activities  (199)  (36)  (205)  196  (244)  (101) 

Investing activities  (2)  50  (19)  11  40  (346) 
Increase (decrease) in cash and 

cash equivalents  46  30  49  —  125  (30) 
Cash and cash equivalents, 

beginning of the year  125  38  140  —  303  333 

Cash and cash equivalents, end of 
the year $ 171 $ 68 $ 189 $ — $ 428 $ 303 

The decrease in cash provided from operating activities in 2020 relative to 2019, reflects the decrease in 
cash earnings during 2020 compared to the prior year, along with changes in working capital levels. 

The increase in cash used for financing activities in 2020 relative to 2019 was due to the payment of a 
special cash dividend of $25.00 per common share in the second quarter of 2020, purchases of the 
Company’s Common Shares under the NCIB and SIB, a $60 million repayment of the margin loan, and 
partly offset by the issuance of 30 year, 4% senior unsecured notes. 

Cash used for investing activities declined in 2020 relative to 2019. In 2019 Empire Life deployed excess 
cash into higher yielding investments in order to enhance investment income. 

MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION & ANALYSIS

10 E-L Financial Corporation Limited



Non-consolidated cash flows of E-L Financial

E-L Financial’s corporate cash flows from operating activities, before payment of dividends, are primarily 
comprised of dividends and interest received, less operating expenses and income taxes. 

The following table details the non-consolidated cash flows of the Company on a direct basis, excluding 
the cash flows of the subsidiaries. This table has been prepared to assist the reader in isolating the cash 
flows of E-L Financial (non-consolidated). 

(millions of dollars) 2020 2019

Cash flows from:

Operating activities

Dividends from subsidiaries $ 190 $ 83 

Dividends and interest  86  93 

Expenses and taxes, net of other income  (29)  (26) 

 247  150 

Financing activities

Cash dividends  (133)  (36) 

Share purchases  (203)  — 

Issuance of 4% unsecured notes  198  — 

Repayment of margin loan  (60)  (25) 

Interest paid on borrowings  (1)  (2) 

Purchases of subsidiary shares  —  (1) 

 (199)  (64) 

Investing activities

Purchases of investments  (458)  (812) 

Proceeds from sales of investments  434  774 

Net sales of short-term investments  13  (13) 

Dividends from associates  9  15 

 (2)  (36) 

Increase in cash and cash equivalents  46  50 

Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of the year  125  75 

Cash and cash equivalents, end of the year $ 171 $ 125 

During 2020, the non-consolidated cash and cash equivalents of E-L Financial increased by $46 million. 

Operating cash flows for 2020 increased compared with the prior period due to an additional dividend 
received from Empire Life in 2020. The movement in financing cash flows are due to the reasons noted 
above.

Investment activities in 2019 showed increased investment trading activity compared to 2020 as E-L 
Financial repositioned the assets managed by one of the global investment managers resulting in higher 
investment portfolio turnover during that period. As well, dividends received from associates in 2019 
included a special dividend paid by Algoma.

E-L Financial maintains sufficient liquidity through holding cash equivalents and a sufficient amount of 
marketable investments that may be sold, if necessary, to fund new investment opportunities and to meet 
any operating cash flow requirements. 
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Capital resources

The Company’s capital management process is designed to protect capital and build shareholder value 
over the long-term. Effective capital management includes maintaining sufficient liquidity to be able to pay 
dividends to the Company’s preferred shareholders, satisfy issuer credit ratings requirements, as well as 
providing flexibility to pursue strategic opportunities. Total capital on a consolidated basis at 
December 31, 2020, consisted of the Company’s shareholders’ equity of $6,474 million, non-controlling 
interests in subsidiaries of $1,132 million and participating policyholders’ interests of $44 million. 

In the normal course of business, the Company is obligated to fund investment commitments which are 
not recognized in the consolidated financial statements. As of December 31, 2020, E-L Corporate has 
$144,321 (2019 - $86,401) in unfunded commitments for units in limited partnerships. 

Selected annual information

(millions of dollars, except per share amounts) 2020 2019 2018

Revenue $ 2,536 $ 2,930 $ 1,077 

Shareholder net income (loss)
E-L Corporate $ 361 $ 572 $ (105) 

Empire Life  139  173  136 

Total $ 500 $ 745 $ 31 

Earnings per share
- basic $ 128.21 $ 185.67 $ 3.96 

- diluted $ 119.68 $ 171.64 $ 3.96 

Assets
E-L Corporate $ 6,229 $ 5,788 $ 5,077 

Empire Life  18,716  17,961  16,270 

Total assets $ 24,945 $ 23,749 $ 21,347 

Non-current financial liabilities
E-L Corporate - Senior unsecured notes $ 198 $ — $ — 

Empire Life - Subordinated debt  399  399  399 

Total non-current financial liabilities $ 597 $ 399 $ 399 

Cash dividends declared per share
First Preference Shares, Series 1 $ 1.3250 $ 1.3250 $ 1.3250 

First Preference Shares, Series 2 $ 1.1875 $ 1.1875 $ 1.1875 

First Preference Shares, Series 3 $ 1.3750 $ 1.3750 $ 1.3750 

Common Shares $ 30.00 $ 5.00 $ 5.00 

Revenues and net income over the period have been significantly impacted by fluctuations in the global 
stock markets. In 2020 E-L Corporate reported a net gain on investments of $453 million compared to 
$646 million in 2019. E-L Corporate’s global investment portfolio had a pre-tax total return of negative 
10% in 2020 compared to a pre-tax total return of positive 17% in the prior year. In 2018 E-L Corporate 
reported a net loss on investments of $206 million with pre-tax total return of negative 2%. The fluctuation 
in Empire Life’s revenue for the three year period is primarily driven by the impact of market interest rate 
movements on Empire Life’s FVTPL investments. 

Assets have increased over the three year period, which is mainly due to the growth in investment 
portfolios. 
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In 2020 Common Share dividends were $30.00 per share, representing a quarterly dividend of $1.25 and 
an additional special cash dividend of $25.00 per common share declared in the second quarter of 2020. 
In 2019 and 2018 Common Share dividends remained constant at $5.00 per common share.

Outstanding share data

The following summarizes the issued and outstanding shares of the Company:

Issued and outstanding
Preferred shares

Series A Preference Shares  258 
First Preference Shares, Series 1  4,000,000 
First Preference Shares, Series 2  4,000,000 
First Preference Shares, Series 3  4,000,000 

Common Shares  3,708,576 

The Series A Preference Shares are convertible, at the shareholder’s option, into Common Shares on a 
share for share basis. The Series A Preference Shares and Common Shares are each entitled to one vote 
per share.

The First Preference Shares are convertible at the option of the Company, into that number of Common 
Shares determined by dividing by the then applicable redemption price, together with all declared and 
unpaid dividends to the date of conversion, by the greater of $1.00 and 95% of the weighted average 
trading price of the Common Shares on the Toronto Stock Exchange for the 20 consecutive trading days 
ending on the fourth day prior to the conversion date.

Disclosure controls and procedures

The Company’s disclosure controls and procedures are designed to provide reasonable assurance that 
information required to be disclosed by the Company under Canadian securities laws is recorded, 
processed, summarized and reported within the specified time periods, and include controls and 
procedures that are designed to ensure that information is accumulated and communicated to 
management on a timely basis to allow appropriate decisions regarding public disclosure. Under the 
supervision of management, an evaluation was carried out on the effectiveness of the Company’s 
disclosure controls and procedures as of December 31, 2020. Based on that evaluation, management 
concluded that the Company’s disclosure controls and procedures were effective as at December 31, 
2020.

Internal control over financial reporting

Management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial 
reporting to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the 
preparation of consolidated financial statements for external purposes in accordance with IFRS. Under 
the supervision of management, an evaluation of the Company’s internal control over financial reporting 
was carried out as at December 31, 2020. Based on that evaluation, management concluded that the 
Company’s internal control over financial reporting was effective as at December 31, 2020. No changes 
were made in the Company’s internal control over financial reporting during the year ended December 31, 
2020, that have materially affected, or are reasonably likely to materially affect, the Company’s internal 
control over financial reporting. 
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Critical accounting estimates

The consolidated financial statements are prepared in accordance with generally accepted accounting 
principles in Canada which require estimates and assumptions in determining amounts reported in the 
financial statements. Note 2 to the consolidated financial statements describes the significant accounting 
policies. The Company considers the following items to be particularly susceptible to changes in 
estimates and judgments:

Insurance contract liabilities

The determination of policy liabilities requires best estimate assumptions that cover the remaining life of 
the policies for mortality, morbidity, investment returns, persistency, expenses, inflation and taxes and 
include consideration of related reinsurance effects. Due to the long-term risks and measurement 
uncertainties inherent in the life insurance business, a margin for adverse deviation from best estimates is 
included in each assumption. These margins allow for possible deterioration in future experience and 
provide for greater confidence that policy liabilities are adequate to pay future benefits. The resulting 
provisions for adverse deviations have the effect of increasing policy liabilities and decreasing the income 
that otherwise would have been recognized at policy inception. A range of allowable margins is prescribed 
by the Canadian Institute of Actuaries. Assumptions are reviewed and updated at least annually and the 
impact of changes in those assumptions is reflected in earnings in the year of the change. Empire Life’s 
sensitivity to risks related to policy liabilities are included in notes 22 and 23 to the consolidated financial 
statements.

Impairment

The Company maintains a prudent policy in setting the provision for impaired investments. When there is 
no longer reasonable assurance of full collection of loan principal and loan interest related to a mortgage 
or policy contract loan, management establishes a specific provision for loan impairment and charges the 
corresponding reduction in carrying value to income in the period the impairment is identified. In 
determining the estimated realizable value of the investment, management considers a number of events 
and conditions. These include the value of the security underlying the loan, geographic location, industry 
classification of the borrower, an assessment of the financial stability of the borrower, repayment history 
and an assessment of the impact of current economic conditions. Changes in these circumstances may 
cause subsequent changes in the estimated realizable amount of the investment and changes in the 
specific provision for impairment.

AFS securities are subject to a regular review for losses that are significant or prolonged. Objective 
evidence of impairment exists if there has been a significant or prolonged decline in the fair value of the 
investment below its cost or if there is a significant adverse change in the technological, market, 
economic or legal environment in which the issuer operates or the issuer is experiencing financial 
difficulties.

Investments in associates recognize an impairment loss if the investment in associates’ recoverable 
amount is determined to be lower than the investment’s carrying amount at the reporting date. 
Recoverable amount is equal to the higher of the investment’s fair value less costs of disposal and value 
in use. Impairment losses are recognized in the consolidated statements of income. Previously 
recognized impairment losses are reversed if the investment’s recoverable amount subsequently 
increases and there is a significant indication that the circumstances that led to the initial recognition of 
the impairment loss have improved or recovered completely. 

Consolidation

There could be judgment involved in assessing control or significant influence of certain of the Company’s 
interests in other entities. The Company has applied judgment to assess which party has power or 
influence over the relevant activities of these entities. When assessing decision making power, the 
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Company has considered voting rights, contractual agreements, relative share holdings, and other facts 
and circumstances. The initial assessment of control or influence is reassessed when there are changes 
in facts and circumstances. 

Fair value estimates

In measuring the fair value of financial instruments, management exercises judgment in the selection of 
fair value inputs and in determining their significance to the fair value estimate. Judgment is also required 
in the classification of fair value measurements within the levels of the fair value hierarchy, in particular 
those items categorized within Level 3 of the hierarchy.

Accounting changes

New accounting pronouncements issued but not yet effective

IFRS 9 Financial Instruments 

IFRS 9, effective for periods beginning on or after January 1, 2018 with retrospective application replaces 
IAS 39 Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement with a new mixed measurement model 
having three measurement categories of amortized cost, fair value through other comprehensive income 
(“FVTOCI”) and FVTPL for financial assets. 

Under IFRS 9, all financial assets currently within the scope of IAS 39 will be measured at either 
amortized cost, FVTOCI or FVTPL. Classification will depend on the business model and the contractual 
cash flow characteristics of the financial asset. All equity instruments will be measured at FVTOCI or 
FVTPL. A debt instrument will be measured at amortized cost only if it is held to collect the contractual 
cash flows and the cash flows represent principal and interest. For financial liabilities designated as at 
FVTPL, the change in the fair value attributable to changes in the liability’s credit risk will be recognized in 
OCI. 

On September 12, 2016, the IASB published an amendment to IFRS 4 Insurance Contracts (which will be 
subsequently changed to IFRS 17 Insurance Contracts). The amendment provides two solutions for 
insurance companies relating to IFRS 9: 

• a temporary exemption from IFRS 9 for entities that meet specific requirements (applied at the 
reporting entity level); and

• the ‘overlay approach’.

The Company has evaluated the criteria and will apply the temporary exemption for periods beginning 
before January 1, 2023, which allows continued application of IAS 39 instead of adopting IFRS 9, if the 
Company’s activities are ‘predominantly connected with insurance’.  

Per the amendments to IFRS 4 Applying IFRS 9 Financial Instruments with IFRS 4 Insurance Contracts, 
companies applying the temporary exemption are required to disclose fair value information with respect 
to their investments in financial assets whose contractual cash flows reflect solely payments of principal 
and interest on the principal amount outstanding (“SPPI”), to enable users of financial statements to 
compare insurers applying the temporary exemption with entities applying IFRS 9. The Company’s fixed 
income invested assets presented in Note 4 include cash equivalents, short-term investments, bonds, 
mortgages, loans on policies and policy contract loans and primarily have cash flows that qualify as SPPI. 
Fixed income invested assets which do not have SPPI qualifying cash flows as at December 31, 2020 
and December 31, 2019 include mortgages with fair values of $13,200 and $10,400, respectively.

The Company has considered the total insurance liabilities, which include segregated fund liabilities, 
against total liabilities and have concluded that the Company meets both criteria noted above. 

The Company is currently evaluating the impact of IFRS 9 on its consolidated financial statements.
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IFRS 17 Insurance Contracts 

The IASB issued the final IFRS 17 Standard on June 25 2020. IFRS 17 provides a comprehensive 
principle-based framework for the recognition, measurement, presentation and disclosures of all 
insurance contracts.

The new standard will replace IFRS 4 Insurance contracts. IFRS 17 requires entities to measure 
insurance contract liabilities at their current fulfillment cash flows and for revenue to be recognized as the 
service is provided over the coverage period. This new standard is required to be adopted retrospectively, 
if this is impracticable, the modified retrospective or fair value method may be used.

The effective dates for IFRS 17 and IFRS 9 have been deferred to annual reporting periods beginning on 
or after January 1, 2023. The Company is currently assessing the impact of adopting this standard on its 
consolidated financial statements. 

Novel Coronavirus (or COVID-19) 

The continued worldwide spread of novel coronavirus (or COVID-19) continues to impact international 
business operations, supply chains, travel, commodity prices, consumer confidence and business 
forecasts. This has created increased uncertainty and volatility which will impact the performance and 
expected returns of the investment portfolios.

The Company continues to adjust operations as government restrictions and measures evolve. As the 
impacts of the COVID-19 pandemic continue to materialize, management is monitoring the developments 
in equity markets generally, and in connection with the Company’s investment portfolios in particular.

To date, the Company has taken proactive measures through business continuity plans, carefully planning 
the return to premises for some employees. Processes supporting ongoing systems availability, stability 
and security are operating effectively and the Company continues to monitor the threat landscape.

The duration and impacts of the COVID-19 outbreak cannot currently be determined. If the COVID-19 
pandemic is prolonged, or further diseases emerge that give rise to similar effects, there may be further 
negative effects on economies as well as increased volatility in equity markets. Unexpected 
developments in financial markets, regulatory environments, may also have adverse impacts on the 
Company's financial results.

Analysis of business segments 

The remainder of this MD&A discusses the individual results of operations and financial condition of the 
Company’s business segments: E-L Corporate and Empire Life.
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E-L CORPORATE

E-L Corporate’s operations includes the oversight of investments in global equities held through direct and 
indirect holdings of common shares, investment funds, closed-end investment companies, a limited 
partnership and other private companies.

Investments in Economic and Algoma are reported as investments in associates and are discussed 
below. Investments in equities and fixed income securities held directly by E-L Financial and through 
United are combined to form “Investments – corporate”.

Investments - corporate

Investments - corporate includes investments in equities and short-term fixed-income investments. At 
December 31, 2020, investments - corporate had aggregate investments of $5.7 billion, comprised 
primarily of common shares and units of investment funds, compared to aggregate investments at 
December 31, 2019 of $5.3 billion. The fair value of investments - corporate is summarized in the table 
below:

(millions of dollars) 2020 2019
Short-term investments $ — $ 13 
Preferred shares  1  1 
Common shares and units

Canada and U.S.  3,491  3,107 

Europe and United Kingdom  1,171  1,158 
Emerging Markets  501  454 
Japan  488  468 
Other  37  69 
Total  5,688  5,256 

Total invested assets $ 5,689 $ 5,270 

The following table provides a summary of E-L Corporate’s results:

Fourth quarter Year  
(millions of dollars) 2020 2019 2020 2019
Revenue
Net gain on investments $ 527 $ 271 $ 453 $ 646 
Investment and other income  34  27  130  145 
Share of associates income (loss)  27  10  (29)  24 

 588  308  554  815 
Operating expenses  12  10  42  37 
Income taxes  71  40  66  107 
Non-controlling interests  67  41  85  99 

 150  91  193  243 
Net income  438  217  361  572 
(OCL) OCI, net of taxes  (3)  2  (8)  (6) 
Comprehensive income $ 435 $ 219 $ 353 $ 566 

E-L Corporate reported net income of $438 million in the fourth quarter of 2020 compared to $217 million 
in 2019. For the fourth quarter of 2020 there was a net gain on investments of $527 million compared to 
$271 million in 2019. The pre-tax total return on investments was 10% for the fourth quarter of 2020 
compared to 7% in 2019.
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For the year ended December 31, 2020, E-L Corporate had a net gain on investments of $453 million 
compared to $646 million in 2019. The international emergence and spread of COVID-19 in 2020 
negatively impacted global stock markets in the earlier part of 2020. Despite these events the Company’s 
year to date pre-tax total return on investments including dividend income was 10% compared to 17% in 
the prior year. For the year ended December 31, 2020 the portfolio earned investment returns of 15% in 
Canada and the U.S., 8% in Europe and 11% in other geographic regions, which includes investments in 
Japan and emerging markets.

E-L Corporate’s investment and other income decreased by $15 million on year-to-date basis. This 
decline is primarily attributable to the impact of lower foreign dividends as certain companies within the 
investment portfolio have suspended or reduced dividends during the year.

Share of associates income 

The details of E-L Corporate’s share of income (loss) of associates are as follows:

Fourth quarter Year (1)

(millions of dollars) 2020 2019 2020 2019
Algoma $ 11 $ 2 $ (33) $ 9 
Economic  16  8  4  15 

$ 27 $ 10 $ (29) $ 24 
(1) Year includes a $58 million impairment loss (2019 - $6 million).

During the first quarter of 2020 the stock market prices for Algoma and Economic declined significantly 
resulting in a $63 million impairment write down. Although equity markets have continued to recover 
during the remainder of 2020, on a year to date basis the Company’s investments in associates has been 
negatively impacted by the impairment write down. 

Algoma’s net income for the fourth quarter of 2020 increased over 2019 mainly due to strong results in 
the Domestic Dry-Bulk segment. Excluding the impairment write down in the first quarter of 2020, Algoma 
on a year to date basis reported strong results with increased earnings from their three marine segments, 
improved results from their joint ventures, and a gain on the sale of a real estate property.

Economic owns, directly and indirectly, long-term investments in the common shares of some publicly-
traded Canadian companies, and a managed global investment portfolio of common shares of publicly-
traded global companies. Economic’s global investment portfolio had a quarterly pre-tax total return, 
gross of fees, of 8% in the fourth quarter 2020 compared to a 5% return in the fourth quarter of 2019. On 
a year to date basis, Economic’s global investment portfolio had a pre-tax total return, gross of fees, of 
7% during 2020 compared to an 18% return in 2019.

The ownership interests, carrying value and fair value of E-L Corporate’s investment in associates is 
summarized in the table below: 

2020 2019

Ownership
Carrying 

value Fair value Ownership
Carrying 

value Fair value
Algoma  37.4 % $ 98 $ 197  37.0 % $ 185 $ 184 
Economic  24.1 % $ 147 $ 147  24.0 % $ 147 $ 147 
Total $ 245 $ 344 $ 332 $ 331 

Algoma and Economic are Canadian public companies for which further information is publicly available. 
Risk management
The objective of the Company’s risk management process is to ensure that the operations of the 
Company encompassing risk are consistent with the Company’s objectives and risk tolerance, while 
maintaining an appropriate risk/reward balance. 
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Market risk

Market risk is the most significant risk impacting E-L Corporate as its investing activities are influenced by 
market price, foreign currency and interest rate risk. As the Company’s investment portfolio is represented 
by Canadian and global equities, the value of its investments will vary from day to day depending on a 
number of market factors including economic conditions, global events, market news, and on the 
performance of the issuers of the securities in which the Company invests. Changes in foreign currency 
exchange rates will also affect the value of investments of non-Canadian dollar securities. As of 
December 31, 2020, 52% (2019 - 49%) of the investment - corporate including cash and cash equivalents 
was denominated in U.S. dollars, 10% (2019 - 10%) in Euros and 8% (2019 - 9%) in the Japanese Yen 
representing the largest foreign currency exposures. The Company also holds investments within 
emerging markets. Investments in emerging markets are more likely to experience political, economic and 
social instability, which may result in higher levels of market value volatility.

Credit risk

In addition to the discussion of risks included in this MD&A, a comprehensive discussion of the material 
risks that impact the Company is included in the Annual Information Form which is available at 
www.sedar.com. Disclosures regarding E-L Corporate’s financial instruments, including financial risk 
management, are included in Notes 4, 6 and 22 to the consolidated financial statements.

Outlook

The Company’s future earning prospects are dependent on the successful management of its E-L 
Corporate portfolio and on the continued profitability of its insurance company subsidiary. The 
performance of the E-L Corporate portfolio is impacted by global securities markets and the selection of 
equity and fixed income investments. The Company continues to maintain its strategy of accumulating 
shareholder value through long-term capital appreciation and dividend and interest income. 
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REPORT ON EMPIRE LIFE

Empire Life provides a broad range of life insurance and wealth management products, employee benefit 
plans and financial services to meet the needs of individuals, professionals and businesses through a 
network of Independent Financial Advisors (“IFA”), Managing General Agents (“MGA”), National Account 
firms, Mutual Fund Dealers and Employee Benefits brokers and representatives.

Empire Life’s net income attributable to the owners of E-L Financial, after adjustment for non-controlling 
interests, is shown in the following table:

Fourth quarter Year 
(millions of dollars) 2020 2019 2020 2019
Empire Life common shareholders’ net income $ 72 $ 76 $ 140 $ 174 
Non-controlling interests  —  —  1  1 

Net income, contribution to E-L Financial $ 72 $ 76 $ 139 $ 173 

Empire Life return on common shareholders’ 
   equity (quarterly annualized)  17.8 %  18.7 %  8.5 %  11.1 %

Empire Life reported fourth quarter common shareholders’ net income of $72 million for 2020, compared 
to $76 million for 2019. Full year common shareholders’ net income was $140 million compared to $174 
million in 2019. The decrease in earnings from 2019 was due, in part, to a large one-time gain recognized 
in 2019 related to a reinsurance recapture initiative. In 2020, earnings from the Wealth Management line 
were lower due to reserve strengthening and assumption updates in the Wealth Management line due to 
poor market returns early in the year, partially offset by increased earnings from the Individual Insurance 
line primarily as a result of asset trading gains from continued improvements in Empire Life's matching of 
assets and liabilities. 

The following table provides a breakdown of the sources of earnings for the fourth quarter and year:

Sources of Earnings Fourth quarter Year

(millions of dollars) 2020 2019 2020 2019

Expected profit on in-force business $ 55 $ 47 $ 215 $ 190 

Impact of new business  (1)  (7)  (16)  (28) 

Experience gains (losses)  61  5  (81)  (6) 
Management actions and changes in 

assumptions  (22)  48  13  37 

Earnings on operations before income taxes  92  94  130  194 

Earnings on surplus  8  16  70  54 

Income before income tax  101  110  200  247 

Income taxes  25  30  47  60 

Empire Life’s shareholders’ net income  76  79  153  187 

Dividends on preferred shares  (3)  (3)  (13)  (13) 
Empire Life common shareholders’ net 

income $ 72 $ 76 $ 140 $ 174 

The expected profit on in-force business for the fourth quarter and for the year increased by 16% and 
13% respectively, due to higher levels of business inforce at the start of the year for all three business 
lines. 

The improvement in impact of new business for the fourth quarter and the year was primarily driven by 
favourable new business profits at issue in the Individual Insurance line, combined with lower strain in the 
Employee Benefits line. For the year, the impact of new business improved over 2019 partially due to the 
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Employee Benefits line where several new specialty partners were added in 2019 causing significant new 
business strain in that period. The Individual Insurance line also contributed to improved impact of new 
business as sales of term products, which generally contribute a positive impact of new business value 
were strong in the fourth quarter. The impact of new business in the Individual Insurance line is positive 
when the present value of future profits from new business exceeds the sum of the margins in the initial 
policy liabilities plus the expenses incurred at the point of sale.

The improvement in experience gains for the fourth quarter of 2020 is primarily attributable to the Wealth 
Management line as strong equity returns contributed to a partial reversal of provisions recorded for 
segregated fund benefit guarantees earlier in 2020. For the year, the increase in experience losses was 
primarily driven by the overall strengthening of policy liabilities supporting segregated fund benefit 
guarantees.

The effect of management actions and changes in assumptions in the fourth quarter of 2020 was lower 
than 2019 primarily due to unfavourable assumption updates in the Wealth Management line in 2020 and 
the favourable impact of a reinsurance recapture initiative in 2019, partially offset by favourable 
assumption updates in the Individual Insurance line. For the year, the effect of management actions and 
changes in assumptions was lower than 2019 primarily due to overall assumption updates which were 
less favourable than 2019, and due to the positive effect of a reinsurance recapture initiative which was 
recorded in 2019. This was partially offset by improved asset trading gains in the Individual Insurance line 
in 2020. 

Earnings on surplus were lower in the fourth quarter of 2020 primarily due to lower realized gains on AFS 
assets. For the year, earnings on surplus were higher primarily due to realized gains on AFS bonds 
recorded earlier in the year and lower realized and unrealized losses on FVTPL assets in this segment. 

Results by major product line 

The following tables provide a summary of Empire Life results by major product line for the three months 
ended December 31 and year for 2020 and 2019. A discussion of results is provided in the Product Line 
section of the MD&A.

Three months ended December 31
Wealth 

Management
Employee 

Benefits
Individual 
Insurance

Capital 
& Surplus Total

(millions of dollars) 2020 2019 2020 2019 2020 2019 2020 2019 2020 2019

Revenue

Net premiums $ 21 $ 35 $ 94 $ 94 $ 108 $ 101 $ — $ — $ 223 $ 231 

Fee income  63  63  3  3  —  —  —  —  66  66 

Investment income  9  9  1  1  59  57  16  17  85  84 
Net gains (losses) on investments (1)  14  (5)  1  —  90  (134)  (3)  8  101  (131) 

 107  102  99  97  257  24  12  25  475  249 

Expenses

Benefits and expenses  74  92  95  94  189  (68)  4  4  362  122 

Income and other taxes  8  2  3  3  19  27  2  8  33  40 

 82  94  98  97  208  (42)  6  12  394  162 

Net income after tax $ 25 $ 8 $ 1 $ — $ 49 $ 67 $ 6 $ 13 $ 81 $ 87 

Participating policyholders’ portion  5  8 

Dividends on preferred shares  3  3 

Empire Life’s common shareholders’ net income  72  76 

Non-controlling interests in net income  —  — 

Net income attributable to owners of E-L Financial $ 72 $ 76 
(1) Includes fair value change on FVTPL investments and realized gains on AFS investments
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For the years ended December 31
Wealth 

Management
Employee 

Benefits
Individual 
Insurance

Capital 
& Surplus Total

(millions of dollars) 2020 2019 2020 2019 2020 2019 2020 2019 2020 2019

Revenue

Net premium $ 95 $ 159 $ 357 $ 360 $ 409 $ 390 $ — $ — $ 860 $ 910 

Fee income  238  249  13  13  —  —  —  —  251  262 

Investment income  38  40  4  5  222  215  65  65  329  326 
Net gains on investments (1)  34  19  8  4  478  585  21  9  541  617 

 405  467  382  382  1,109  1,190  86  76  1,982  2,115 

Expenses

Benefits and expenses  447  368  353  365  940  1,094  16  16  1,757  1,843 

Income and other taxes  (13)  24  14  11  50  31  17  16  67  81 

 434  393  368  375  990  1,125  33  32  1,825  1,924 

Net (loss) income after tax $ (29) $ 74 $ 14 $ 7 $ 119 $ 65 $ 53 $ 43 $ 157 $ 191 

Participating policyholders’ portion  4  3 

Dividends on preferred shares  13  13 

Empire Life’s common shareholders’ net income  140  174 

Non-controlling interests in net income  1  1 

Net income attributable to owners of E-L Financial $ 139 $ 173 
(1) Includes fair value change on FVTPL investments and realized gains on AFS investments

Product line results - Wealth Management
Key Operating Results Fourth quarter Year 
(millions of dollars) 2020 2019 2020 2019

Fixed Annuities
Assets under management $ 950 $ 958 $ 950 $ 958 

Gross sales  21  35  95  159 

Net sales  (9)  —  (19)  13 

Segregated Funds
Assets under management  8,439  8,480  8,439  8,480 

Gross sales  234  243  759  856 

Net sales  (58)  (83)  (236)  (329) 

Fee income  62  62  235  246 

Mutual Funds
Assets under management  120  139  120  139 

Gross sales  1  2  8  8 

Net sales  (8)  (7)  (23)  (28) 

Fee income  1  —  2  2 

Net income (loss) after tax $ 25 $ 8 $ (29) $ 74 

Fixed annuity assets under management decreased by 1% during the last 12 months. Gross sales in the 
fourth quarter and for the year were 40% lower as customers shifted away from fixed income products. 

Segregated fund assets under management at the end of the period were unchanged from their levels at 
the beginning of the year. Gross sales in the fourth quarter of 2020 were 4% lower than the same period 
in 2019. For the year, gross sales were 11% lower than 2019 levels, reflecting the challenging sales 
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environment experienced in 2020 and the effects of turbulent equity markets in the first half of the year. 
On October 23, 2019, Empire Life launched six new Multi-Strategy GIF segregated funds to offer 
customers a mix of investment management styles and greater diversification. Empire Life also launched 
a new Short Term High Income GIF and reopened the Global Dividend Growth GIF.

Segregated fund fee income for the fourth quarter was consistent with the same period in 2019. For the 
year, fee income from segregated funds was 4% lower than 2019 primarily due to lower average assets 
relative to 2019.

Mutual fund assets under management decreased during the last 12 months due to lower mutual fund 
sales. Empire Life continues to explore various strategic alternatives with respect to its mutual fund 
business.

Product line results - Employee Benefits

Key Operating Results Fourth quarter Year 
(millions of dollars) 2020 2019 2020 2019

Annualized premium sales $ 24 $ 21 $ 85 $ 104 

Net premiums  93  93  357  360 

Net income after tax $ 1 $ — $ 14 $ 7 

For the fourth quarter, annualized premium sales for Employee Benefits increased by 12% relative to 
2019, primarily related to strong sales in core group benefit products and specialty arrangements, partially 
offset by lower block transfers from strategic partners. For the year, annualized premium sales were 18% 
lower than 2019, primarily due to lower overall sales in the core group benefit products, partially offset by 
an overall increase in sales from the strategic distribution partner arrangements early in the year. Over the 
last several years, Empire Life has entered into a number of strategic arrangements to expand market 
share in this space. 

Net premiums for the fourth quarter and year decreased by less than 1% compared to the same periods 
in 2019, primarily due to premium rebates offered to customers in the spring to reflect lower health claims 
experience as a result of COVID-19 regional lockdowns and limited capacity offered by many health care 
providers. Empire Life continues to focus on profitable sales in the employee benefits market where price 
competition continues for all major product lines.

Net income increased in 2020 and relative to 2019 primarily due to experience gains on dental and 
extended health care benefits. 

Product line results - Individual Insurance

Key Operating Results Fourth quarter Year 
(millions of dollars) 2020 2019 2020 2019

Shareholders’
Annualized premium sales $ 9 $ 5 $ 25 $ 21 

Net premiums  73  69  280  274 

Net income after tax  43  62  115  67 

Policyholders’
Annualized premium sales  4  5  13  18 

Net premiums  35  32  128  116 

Net income (loss) after tax  5  4  4  (1) 

Net income after tax $ 49 $ 66 $ 119 $ 65 
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Shareholders' annualized premium sales increased for the fourth quarter and the year compared to 2019 
primarily due to increased sales of Empire Life's term life products. Policyholders' annualized premium 
sales declined compared to the fourth quarter of the prior year and were 25% lower for the full year as 
COVID-19 lockdowns and restrictions made underwriting of sales more challenging. Shareholders' total 
net premiums increased by 6% in the quarter and 2% for the year, primarily from stronger sales of term 
life products over the period. Policyholders' net premiums were 9% and 10% higher for the fourth quarter 
and full year respectively compared to 2019, primarily due to the effect of strong sales of Empire Life's 
participating life products in the last half of 2019. 

Shareholders' net income was lower for the fourth quarter, primarily due to the impact of a reinsurance 
recapture initiative and the impact of a mortality table update on insurance contract liabilities recorded in 
the fourth quarter 2019 results. For the year, Shareholders' net income increased, primarily due to to 
improved mortality experience, reduced losses on interest rate movements and improved matching of 
assets and liabilities, which offset the lower gain from the update of policy liability assumptions described 
in the following table and subsequent paragraphs.

(millions of dollars) 2020 2019
Components of pre-tax income increase from update of policy liability 

assumptions
Lapse/premium assumptions $ (98) $ (27) 

Net investment assumptions  (49)  (120) 

Mortality experience  (45)  12 

Mortality table update  76  155 

Reinsurance recapture  19  107 

Deferred tax liability  117  — 

Other  12  (69) 
Total gain from update of policy liability assumptions (excluding 

policyholders’ portion) $ 32 $ 57 

In 2020 the lapse/premium assumption change is related to updates of assumed lapse rates on 
renewable term, non-par whole life and universal life policies. The refinements to the lapse/premium 
assumptions for 2019 were primarily related to the adjustment of the lapse assumption on renewable term 
products. 

The primary driver of the net investment assumptions change for 2020 is a decrease to the initial 
reinvestment rate (“IRR”) used in the valuation of liabilities. The primary drivers of the net investment 
assumptions change for 2019 were decreases to the IRR and ultimate reinvestment rate (“URR”) used in 
the valuation of liabilities. Updates were also made to the equity investment return assumption, the 
planned level of equities matching policy liabilities, and to the maturity assumptions for preferred shares. 
However, these items had a less significant impact when compared with the IRR and URR updates. 

Updates to the mortality experience in 2020 are primarily related to revised projected assumptions related 
to renewable term business and to the partial recognition of the change described in the next paragraph. 

In 2019 the individual insurance mortality tables were replaced by more recent industry tables. The 
updated tables provide a more appropriate mortality projection, specifically at older ages. Actual/expected 
ratios were updated based on a combination of Empire Life and industry experience. Partial credit was 
taken for this change in 2019 with the remainder being recognized in 2020. 

In 2019, Empire Life enacted significant changes to its reinsurance programs. Specifically, the reinsurers 
of Empire Life's individual life policies were notified that in 2020 Empire Life would increase its individual 
life retention from $500 to $1,500 and the recapture provisions of all eligible reinsurance treaties would be 
enacted. The recapture resulted in a substantial net liability decrease on both the universal life and non-
participating blocks of business as the present value of future reinsurance premiums was greater than the 
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estimated future claims. An additional amount was recognized in 2020 as provisions from the actuarial 
liabilities were released. 

Actuarial standards allow for a wide range of practice with respect to capitalization of the preferred tax 
treatment of dividends on Canadian equities that are supporting actuarial liabilities. In 2020, Empire Life 
updated its projections to be more consistent with industry practice, which resulted in a significant 
reduction in insurance contract liabilities.

Results - Capital and Surplus

Fourth quarter Year 
(millions of dollars) 2020 2019 2020 2019

Net income after tax

Net income after tax shareholders’ portion $ 7 $ 10 $ 54 $ 39 

Net income after tax policyholders’ portion  —  4  —  5 

Net income after tax $ 7 $ 13 $ 54 $ 44 

In addition to the three major lines of business, Empire Life maintains distinct accounts for the investment 
income attributable to Shareholders’ Capital and Surplus and to Policyholders’ Surplus.

Net income from the shareholders' portion of Capital & Surplus was lower than the fourth quarter of 2019, 
primarily due to lower realized gains on AFS assets in this portfolio. For the year, shareholders' net 
income was higher than 2019 primarily due to higher realized gains on AFS assets, partially offset by 
realized losses on FVTPL assets. Policyholders net income was lower than the comparable periods in 
2019 primarily due to lower realized gains on AFS assets.

On February 17, 2021, Empire Life completed an offering of $200 million aggregate principal 3.625% 
Limited Recourse Capital Notes Series 1 (“Notes”). In connection with the issuance of the Notes, Empire 
Life issued Non-Cumulative 5-Year Fixed Rate Reset Preferred Shares, Series 5 (“Preferred Shares 
Series 5”) to be held by a trustee for a newly formed trust. In case of non-payment of interest on or 
principal of the Notes when due, the recourse of each Note holder will be limited to that holder’s 
proportionate share of the Limited Recourse Trust’s assets, which will consist of the Preferred Shares 
Series 5 except in limited circumstances. The purpose of the sale of the Notes is to enlarge the 
Company's Tier 1 capital base with a view to optimizing Empire Life's capital structure within the 
parameters prescribed by the Superintendent of Financial Institutions for regulatory capital requirements.

Sources of capital

Empire Life has issued private and public securities to strengthen its capital position and fund new 
business growth. Details of the Empire Life’s outstanding subordinated debt and preferred shares are as 
follows:

Subordinated debentures Face amounts as at

(millions of dollars) Date Issued
Earliest 

redemption date Interest rate
December 31

2020
December 31

2019

Series 2016-1 (1) December 2016 December 16, 2021  3.383 % $ 200 $ 200 

Series 2017-1 (2) September 2017 March 15, 2023  3.664 % $ 200 $ 200 

(1) Unsecured Debentures due 2026. From December 16, 2021, interest is payable at 1.95% over the 3-month Canadian Deposit 
Offering Rate (“CDOR”). 

(2) Unsecured Debentures due 2028. From March 15, 2023, interest is payable at 1.53% over the 3-month CDOR.
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Preferred Shares Principal amounts as at

(millions of dollars) Date Issued
Earliest 

redemption date Yield
December 31

2020
December 31

2019
Preferred shares January 2016 April 17, 2021  5.75 % $ 150 $ 150 
Preferred shares November 2017 January 17, 2023  4.90 % $ 100 $ 100 

Empire Life’s debentures and preferred shares are rated by DBRS Limited (“DBRS”) and A.M. Best 
Company, Inc. (“A.M. Best”). 

Empire Life’s DBRS issuer rating is “A”, its subordinated debt rating is “A (low)”, its financial strength 
rating is “A” and its Preferred Share rating is Pfd-2. All ratings have a stable trend. 

A.M. Best ratings of Empire Life are “A Excellent” financial strength rating, “a” long-term issuer credit 
rating, “bbb+” Subordinated Debt rating, and “bbb” Preferred Share rating. All ratings have a stable trend. 

Regulatory capital

The Life Insurance Capital Adequacy Test (“LICAT”) is intended to improve the measurement of the life 
insurer’s solvency position by recognizing the long-term economics of the life insurance business. Empire 
Life continues to have a strong capital position under the LICAT framework. Empire Life is required to 
maintain a minimum Core Ratio of 55% and a Total Ratio of 90%. OSFI has established supervisory 
target levels of 70% for Core and 100% for Total capital.

LICAT
(millions of dollars)

Dec 31
2020

Sep 30
2020

Jun 30
2020

Mar 31
2020

Dec 31
2019

Available capital
Tier 1 $ 1,623 $ 1,544 $ 1,527 $ 1,435 $ 1,616 
Tier 2  677  703  710  671  669 

Total $ 2,300 $ 2,247 $ 2,237 $ 2,106 $ 2,285 
Surplus allowance and eligible 
deposits $ 1,156 $ 1,111 $ 1,094 $ 1,029 $ 1,109 

Base solvency buffer $ 2,541 $ 2,542 $ 2,510 $ 2,371 $ 2,191 
LICAT Total Ratio  136 %  132 %  133 %  132 %  155 %
LICAT Core Ratio  96 %  91 %  91 %  91 %  109 %

Industry dynamics and management’s strategy

Empire Life’s operations are organized by product line with each line of business having responsibility for 
product development, product pricing, marketing, distribution and customer service within their particular 
markets. This structure recognizes that there are distinct marketplace dynamics in each of the three major 
product lines. Management believes this structure enables each line of business to develop strategies to 
achieve the enterprise-wide objectives of business growth and expense management while recognizing 
the unique business environment in which each operates. The lines of business are supported by 
corporate units that provide administrative and technology services to the lines of business, manage 
invested assets, and oversee enterprise risk management policies.

Based on general fund and segregated fund assets, Empire Life is among the 10 largest life insurance 
companies in Canada. Empire Life has approximately 7% market share of segregated funds, 1% market 
share for employee benefits and 2% market share for new life insurance premiums. To be priced 
competitively in the marketplace while simultaneously providing acceptable long-term financial 
contribution to shareholders, Empire Life, as a mid-sized company, must find a way to continue to be cost 
competitive with the larger companies that have some natural economy of scale advantages. In order to 
improve its unit expenses, management’s enterprise-wide strategic focus has been on achieving 
profitable growth in its selected markets and on expense management. Empire Life has focused 
exclusively on the Canadian marketplace and, within it, on particular market segments, where 
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management feels there are opportunities to build solid, long-term relationships with its distribution 
partners by offering competitive products and more personal service. By focusing on particular market 
segments and by being seen by these independent advisors as a viable alternative to broadly focused 
competitors, management believes these solid relationships will enable profitable growth. In 2019, Empire 
Life acquired a minority interest in The Gryphin Advantage Inc. as part of its continuing commitment to 
ensuring consumers have the availability of independent advice in the marketplace. 

The Wealth Management product line at Empire Life is comprised of segregated fund products, 
guaranteed interest products and mutual funds. These products compete against products offered by a 
variety of financial institutions. A key element of any competitive strategy in this market is providing a 
competitive rate of return to clients. The value-oriented equity investment strategy used by Empire Life 
has focused on developing long-term performance in the fund marketplace. Management will continue to 
improve competitiveness by focusing on long-term performance, providing low cost products to customers 
along with broadening distribution reach. Empire Life continues to achieve strong growth in assets under 
management from its segregated fund business as a result of net new sales and equity market 
appreciation. Empire Life is continuing to monitor and manage guaranteed minimum withdrawal benefit 
(“GMWB”) risk exposure and the competitive landscape for this product. 

Within the broader employee benefits marketplace in Canada, Empire Life continues to focus on the small 
group employer market with fewer than 200 employees representing the majority of Canadian companies. 
This niche strategy coupled with an ongoing focus on balancing growth and profit has enabled Empire 
Life to be cost competitive within this market segment and is expected to enable this product line to grow 
its market share while generating acceptable returns.

Individual Insurance products are very long-term in nature and consequently can be subject to new 
business strain. New business strain occurs when the provisions for adverse deviation included in the 
actuarial policy liabilities exceeds the profit margin in the product pricing. At current reinsurance price 
levels in the Canadian market-place, a company may reduce new business strain and improve profitability 
in the short term by opting to increase the amount of insurance risk reinsured to third parties. Mortality 
trends continue to be favourable for life insurance products. Rather than give up the future earnings that 
would emerge if the trend in mortality improvement witnessed in recent decades continues, Empire Life 
continues to utilize lower than average levels of reinsurance with the resultant negative impact on short-
term earnings. Low long-term interest rates continue to have an unfavourable impact on this product line. 
In the past few years, industry prices for longer term life insurance products have increased. Empire Life 
has also increased prices for these products and has focused its growth efforts on shorter term products, 
such as 10-year renewable term life insurance. Because of the reasonable long-term returns of this 
product line, management continues to focus on steady growth, technology development and process 
improvement in order to continue to have a cost structure that allows Empire Life to compete while 
generating an acceptable long-term financial contribution. Empire Life is continuously reviewing its 
Individual Insurance product mix to improve profitability, reduce interest rate risk, reduce required 
regulatory capital, develop web-based products and processes, and improve the customer and advisor 
experience.

Risk management

Empire Life is a financial institution offering wealth management, employee benefits and individual 
insurance products. Empire Life is exposed to a number of risks as a result of its business activities. The 
goal of Empire Life’s risk management process is to ensure that the operations that expose it to risk are 
consistent with its strategy, business objectives and risk philosophy, while maintaining an appropriate risk/
reward balance and enhancing stakeholder value. When making decisions about risk taking and risk 
management, Empire Life considers:

• The need to meet the expectations of its customers, shareholders and creditors and to protect the 
commitments that have been made to them;
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• The need to be adequately compensated for the capital it deploys to support business activities 
and strategic objectives;

• The need to protect its brand; and
• The need to maintain (or improve) its external financial strength rating.

Empire Life’s risk appetite defines the aggregate level of risk Empire Life is willing to take to achieve its 
business strategies. The risk appetite supports the pursuit of shareholder value but does not compromise 
Empire Life’s ability to pay claims and fulfil policyholder commitments.

Empire Life’s risk management framework is structured based on a number of guiding principles:

• Due to the long-term nature of the majority of its commitments, Empire Life accepts capital 
market risk provided it is managed within specific risk tolerances and limits. Empire Life takes a 
low-risk, value-oriented approach to managing its investments - it accepts credit and alternative 
asset risk provided it is rewarded through appropriately enhanced returns;

• Empire Life manages liquidity across the business to provide a high level of confidence that all 
obligations (to customers, creditors and shareholders) will be met when they fall due;

• Empire Life accepts insurance risks provided they are properly priced and managed in order to 
deliver value to its customers and shareholders;

• Empire Life is forward-looking in its business planning and takes a prudent approach to capital 
management. It strives to have a high level of confidence that capital is sufficient to support 
planned future activities;

• Management is active in industry committees and, through a network of oversight functions, 
monitors the landscape so that Empire Life is appropriately positioned to manage regulatory, tax, 
accounting and actuarial changes;

• Empire Life accepts that operational risks are a part of doing business and knows that risk 
management is a key part of decision-making. It protects its business and customers by engaging 
in cost-effective risk mitigation; and

• Empire Life expects ethical conduct by all of its employees and it acts with integrity at all times.

The Board of Directors oversees and monitors Empire Life’s risk management framework, processes and 
practices, and reviews and approves Empire Life’s Enterprise Risk Management Framework and overall 
risk appetite. Senior management shares responsibility and accountability for risk management across 
the organization. This enables a cross-functional perspective on risk management, enhanced by the 
frequency of contact across the management team. Empire Life has an Asset Management Committee 
with responsibility for overseeing the management of corporate policies established by both the 
Investment Committee and Risk and Capital Committee of the Board, with specific focus on market, credit 
and liquidity risk including asset/liability management as well as capital management. The Product 
Management Review Committee is responsible for overseeing management of corporate policy 
established by the Risk and Capital Committee of the Board, with specific focus on insurance. Activities 
not delegated to one of these two committees remain under the oversight of senior management. More 
information related to governance can be found under the Corporate Governance over Risk Management 
section of Empire Life’s 2019 Annual Report. Risk management policy development is centralized under 
the leadership of the Chief Risk Officer and applies to all business units. The Chief Risk Officer is a 
member of the Asset Management Committee and Product Management Review Committee and has 
Board reporting responsibility with respect to risk and capital management. All risk management policies 
and procedures are regularly reviewed for relevance and changes in the risk environment. Accountability, 
application, day-to-day management and procedural elements are the responsibility of area management, 
supported by business unit compliance officers and the risk management department. There is senior 
management representation and oversight on various interdisciplinary risk control committees. Empire 
Life formally establishes and documents its values and risk tolerances through several company-wide 
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policies including a code of business conduct, corporate disclosure principles, enterprise risk 
management, capital management and whistleblower policies. Empire Life’s strategic risk management 
policies (including those related to product design and pricing, investment and capital management) are 
also approved by its Board, or a Board committee.

Caution related to sensitivities

In the sections that follow, Empire Life provides sensitivities and risk exposure measures for certain risks. 
These include sensitivities due to specific changes in market prices and interest rates, based on market 
prices, interest rates, assets, liabilities and business mix in place as at the calculation dates. The 
sensitivities are calculated independently for each risk factor, assuming that all other risk variables remain 
constant. Actual results can differ materially from these estimates for a variety of reasons, including the 
interaction among these factors when more than one factor changes; changes in actuarial and investment 
return and future investment activity assumptions; actual experience differing from the assumptions; 
changes in business mix, effective tax rates and other market factors; and the general limitations of 
Empire Life’s internal models used for purposes of these calculations. Changes due to new sales or 
maturities, asset purchases/sales, or other management actions could also result in material changes to 
these reported sensitivities. For these reasons, the sensitivities should only be viewed as directional 
estimates of the underlying sensitivities for the respective factors based on the assumptions outlined, and 
should not be viewed as predictors for Empire Life’s future net income, OCI, and capital sensitivities. 
Given the nature of these calculations, Empire Life cannot provide assurance that actual impact will be 
consistent with the estimates provided. Changes in risk variables in excess of the ranges illustrated may 
result in other than proportionate impacts.

Significant developments

Commencing in the first quarter of 2020, the spread of the COVID-19 pandemic, given its severity and 
scale, continues to affect Empire Life's business, some of our clients and also continues to pose risks to 
the Canadian economy. Empire Life continues to adjust operations as government restrictions and 
measures evolve. As the impacts of the COVID-19 pandemic continue to materialize, management is 
monitoring the effects of the disruption on Empire Life's business strategies and initiatives and the effects 
on its financial results. 

The COVID-19 pandemic has and may continue to result in disruptions to clients and the way in which 
business is conducted, including prolonged duration of employees working from home. To date, Empire 
Life has taken proactive measures through business continuity plans, carefully planning the return to 
premise for some employees, and management teams have increased their efforts to preserve the well-
being of employees and our ability to serve clients. Processes supporting ongoing systems availability, 
stability and security are operating effectively and Empire Life continues to monitor the threat landscape.

The duration and impacts of the COVID-19 outbreak cannot currently be determined. If the COVID-19 
pandemic is prolonged, or further diseases emerge that give rise to similar effects, there may be further 
negative effects on the Canadian economy as well as increased volatility in equity and fixed income 
markets. Unexpected developments in financial markets, regulatory environments, or consumer 
behaviour and confidence may also have adverse impacts on Empire Life's financial results and 
condition, and business.

Market risk

Empire Life has equity market risk related to its segregated fund products and from equity assets backing 
life insurance liabilities. Empire Life has a semi-static hedging program. The objective of the hedging 
program is to partially protect Empire Life from future regulatory (LICAT) ratio declines that might result 
from adverse stock market price changes. The hedging program may employ derivatives positions 
including put options and futures. The extent of derivatives used is monitored and managed on an 
ongoing basis, giving consideration to equity risk and the level of available capital. 
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There is income statement volatility from this hedging program. Based on current equity market levels, 
Empire Life has required capital for LICAT purposes and policy liabilities on the statement of financial 
position related to segregated fund guarantees. Therefore, a by-product of hedging LICAT exposure is net 
income volatility, as the gains or losses from hedging instruments are not necessarily offset by changes in 
policy liabilities related to segregated fund guarantee risk. During the fourth quarter and for the year, 
Empire Life experienced a loss of $5 million and $3 million after tax respectively on its hedging program, 
primarily as Canadian equity markets experienced positive returns in the fourth quarter and for the year. 
This compares to a hedging program loss of $2 million and $11 million respectively for the comparable 
periods in 2019, primarily due to a rise in Canadian stock prices.

Empire Life’s LICAT ratio is also sensitive to stock market volatility, due primarily to liability and capital 
requirements related to segregated fund guarantees. As of December 31, 2020, Empire Life had $8.5 
billion of segregated fund assets and liabilities. Of this amount, approximately $8.2 billion have 
guarantees. The following table provides a percentage breakdown by type of guarantee.

December 31
2020

December 31
2019

Percentage of segregated fund liabilities with:
75% maturity guarantee and a 75% death benefit guarantee  6 %  4 %

75% maturity guarantee and a 100% death benefit guarantee  44 %  46 %

100% maturity and death benefit guarantee (with a minimum of 15 years between 
deposit and maturity date)  7 %  7 %

Guaranteed minimum withdrawal benefit (“GMWB”)  43 %  43 %

All Empire Life segregated fund guarantees are policy-based (not deposit-based), thereby generally 
lowering Empire Life’s stock market sensitivity relative to products with deposit-based guarantees. Policy-
based guarantees consider all of the deposits in the customer’s policy (whether the fund value is below or 
above the guaranteed amount) to arrive at an overall net guarantee payment, whereas deposit-based 
guarantees consider only the deposits where the fund value is below the guaranteed amount and ignore 
all the deposits in the customer’s policy where the fund value is above the guaranteed amount. Therefore, 
policy-based guarantees generally pay less than deposit-based guarantees. For segregated fund 
guarantee insurance contract liabilities, the level of sensitivity is highly dependent on the level of the stock 
market at the time of performing the estimate. If period-end stock markets are high relative to market 
levels at the time that segregated fund policies are issued, the sensitivity is reduced. If period-end stock 
markets are low relative to market levels at the time that segregated fund policies are issued, the 
sensitivity is increased.

The segregated fund regulatory capital and liability framework includes the use of "zero floors" (i.e., 
negative liability amounts are not permitted so zero is used instead, as described below) and other 
regulatory constraints, and this often makes the sensitivity impacts non-linear. The liabilities are the 
greater of: (i) the average of the amounts determined by averaging the results from adverse economic 
scenarios; and (ii) zero. 

Empire Life also has equity market risk related to its equity assets backing life insurance liabilities. Based 
on stock market levels as at December 31, 2020 and December 31, 2019, the sensitivity of Empire Life 
shareholders’ net income and LICAT Total ratio resulting from stock market increases and decreases is 
provided in the following table.
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Sensitivity to equity risk Increase Decrease
Impact on net income (millions of dollars after tax) 20% 10% 10% 20% 30%
As at December 31, 2020

Segregated fund guarantees $ 108 $ 104 $ (13) $ (86) $ (220)
Other equity risk 37 18 (16) (29) (78)
Equity hedge (8) (4) 5 12 20

Total $ 136 $ 117 $ (23) $ (103) $ (278)

As at December 31, 2019

Segregated fund guarantees $ — $ — $ (10) $ (76) $ (229)

Other equity risk 33 15 (12) (20) (65)

Equity hedge (2) (1) 4 16 38

Total $ 31 $ 14 $ (18) $ (80) $ (256)

Sensitivity to equity risk Increase Decrease
Impact on LICAT 20% 10% 10% 20% 30%
As at December 31, 2020

Segregated fund guarantees 6% 5% (1)% (8)% (16)%
Other equity risk —% —% —% —% (1)%
Equity hedge (1)% —% —% 1% 1%

Total 6% 5% —% (7)% (16)%

As at December 31, 2019

Segregated fund guarantees 3% —% (6)% (16)% (22)%

Other equity risk (1)% (1)% —% 1% 1%

Equity hedge (3)% (2)% 1% 3% 3%

Total (1)% (2)% (4)% (12)% (18)%

In early 2020, Empire Life significantly increased the segregated fund guarantee liability because of 
market declines. This liability was further strengthened during the fourth quarter assumption update 
process, which offset most of the reduction in liability that arose from strong fourth quarter equity returns. 
These changes caused a significant increase in the potential positive net income impacts of a 10% and 
20% increase in stock markets at the end of 2020 relative to the end of 2019. 

These changes also caused an increase in the potential positive LICAT ratio impacts of favourable equity 
shocks and a decrease in the potential negative LICAT ratio impacts of unfavourable equity shocks.

The amount at risk related to segregated fund maturity guarantees and segregated fund death benefit 
guarantees, and the resulting policy liabilities and LICAT base solvency buffer for Empire Life’s 
segregated funds is provided in the following table. 

Segregated Funds Withdrawal Benefit > 
Fund Value

Maturity Guarantee > 
Fund Value

Death Benefit > Fund 
Value

(millions of dollars) Fund 
Value

Amount at 
Risk

Fund 
Value

Amount 
at Risk

Fund 
Value

Amount 
at Risk

Policy 
Liabilities

LICAT 
Capital

December 31, 2020 $ 2,687 $ 931 $ 52 $ 2 $ 654 $ 12 $ 147 $ 682

December 31, 2019 $ 2,701 $ 882 $ 51 $ 2 $ 650 $ 6 $ — $ 465

The first six columns of the above table show all segregated fund policies where the future withdrawal 
benefit, future maturity guarantee, or future death benefit guarantee is greater than the fund value. The 
amount at risk represents the excess of the future withdrawal benefit, future maturity guarantee or future 
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death benefit guarantee amount over the fund value for these policies. The withdrawal benefit amounts in 
the above table relate to GMWB products. The GMWB withdrawal benefit amount at risk represents the 
amount that could be paid by Empire Life to GMWB policyholders if the net return on each GMWB 
policyholder’s assets is zero for the remainder of each GMWB policyholder’s life, based on life 
expectancy. As at December 31, 2020, the aggregate amount at risk for all three categories of risk was 
$946 million. At December 31, 2019, the aggregate amount at risk for these three categories of risk was 
$890 million. For these three categories of risk, the amount at risk is not currently payable. Payment is 
contingent on future outcomes, including fund performance, deaths, deposits, withdrawals and maturity 
dates.

The level of policy liabilities and required regulatory capital in the above table is calculated based on the 
probability that Empire Life will ultimately have to make payment to the segregated fund policyholders for 
any fund value deficiency that may exist on future payments to GMWB policyholders, or upon future 
maturity of the segregated fund policies, or upon future death of the segregated fund policyholders.

In addition, Empire Life considers the sensitivity of its LICAT ratio to changes in market interest rates. The 
impact of an immediate 50 basis point decrease in interest rates and a 50 basis point decrease in 
assumed IRR for non-participating insurance business and segregated fund guarantees for December 31, 
2020 and December 31, 2019, is shown in the table below. This assumes no change in the URR. 

Sensitivity to market interest rates LICAT: Impact of
50 bps decrease

December 31, 2020 LICAT total ratio 3%
December 31, 2019 LICAT total ratio 1%

Operational risk 

Operational risk is broadly defined as the risk of loss resulting from human error, decisions, actions or 
failure to act, inadequate or failed internal processes and systems, or from external events that affect 
business operations. Operational risk is naturally present in all of Empire Life’s business activities and is 
also embedded in the practices used to manage other risks. If not managed effectively, operational risk 
can impact Empire Life's ability to manage other risks. The following is a further description of some 
operational risks and their associated risk management strategies.

Legal and regulatory compliance risk

Empire Life is governed by the Insurance Companies Act and supervised by OSFI and is also subject to 
various requirements imposed by legislation and regulation in each of the provinces and territories of 
Canada applicable to insurance companies and companies providing other financial services. Material 
changes in the regulatory framework could have an adverse effect on Empire Life. Failure to comply with 
regulatory requirements or public expectations could adversely impact Empire Life’s reputation and ability 
to conduct business. Empire Life is subject to litigation from time to time, in the normal course of 
business, and currently has a number of outstanding lawsuits. There can be no assurance that the 
present or any future litigation will not have a material adverse effect on Empire Life.

Empire Life’s corporate compliance department, headed by the Chief Compliance Officer, oversees the 
regulatory compliance framework. This framework promotes risk-based management of regulatory 
compliance risk and includes company-wide policies, operating guidelines, programs to promote 
awareness of laws and regulations impacting Empire Life, ongoing monitoring of emerging legal issues 
and regulatory changes and employee education programs that include anti-money laundering and anti-
terrorist financing, privacy and information security risk management as well as reporting breaches and 
Empire Life’s code of business conduct. The framework is supported by a network of business unit 
compliance officers as well as the corporate legal services department. The Chief Compliance Officer 
reports regularly to the Conduct Review Committee of the Board on the state of compliance, key 
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compliance risks and emerging regulatory trends. The General Counsel reports regularly to the Audit 
Committee of the Board on litigation activity.

Model risk

Empire Life uses models to support many business functions including investment analysis, product 
development and pricing, valuation of policy liabilities, financial planning, asset/liability management, 
capital management, project management and risk management. The risk of inappropriate use or 
interpretation of Empire Life’s models or their output, or the use of deficient models, data or assumptions 
could result in financial losses or inappropriate business decisions. Empire Life has developed 
management and mitigation processes related to model use and oversight of models to limit financial, 
operational and strategic impacts from an error or misinterpretation of model results. Senior management 
has overall responsibility and accountability for models in use to support activities within their business 
area. The Chief Risk Officer reports regularly to the Risk and Capital Committee of the Board on model 
use and related oversight activities.

Human resources risk

Competition for qualified employees, including executives, is intense both in the financial services industry 
and non-financial industries. If Empire Life is unable to retain and attract qualified employees and 
executives, and is unable to maintain and effectively deploy resources with the in-depth knowledge and 
necessary skills needed to support business activities, the results of its operations and financial condition, 
including its competitive position, could be adversely affected. To mitigate this risk, Empire Life has a 
number of human resources policies, processes and practices in place. Management reports regularly to 
the Human Resources Committee of the Board on succession planning and employee development 
programs as well as compensation practices and programs, all of which are designed to attract, motivate 
and retain high-performing and high-potential employees.

Third-party risk

Empire Life obtains many different types of services from a number of third-party service providers and 
has outsourced certain business functions or processes to third parties. Should these third parties fail to 
deliver systems and/or services in compliance with contractual or other service arrangements, Empire 
Life’s business may be adversely impacted. To mitigate this risk, Empire Life has established contracting 
guidelines as well as a company-wide outsourcing risk management policy that provides guidance when 
considering, entering into or managing existing outsourcing arrangements commensurate with the risks 
associated with the service provider and the nature of the arrangement. Annually, management reports to 
the Conduct Review Committee of the Board on outsourcing activities including details on those 
arrangements deemed to be most material to Empire Life.

Technology and information security risk

Empire Life relies on technology in virtually all aspects of its business and operations including the 
creation and support of new products and services, and the nature of life insurance business necessitates 
a substantial investment in technology. Operational integrity, data integrity and security of information and 
systems infrastructure are all relied upon for normal business operations. Disruptions due to system 
failure, information security breaches, privacy breaches, cyber-attacks, human errors, criminal activity, 
fraud or the loss of certain software licensing agreements could have a material adverse impact on 
Empire Life.

Information security breaches, including various forms of cyber-attack, could occur and may result in 
inappropriate disclosure or use of personal or confidential information. To mitigate this risk, Empire Life 
has an information security program overseen by the Vice-President, Enterprise Services and Security, 
who reports at least annually to the Risk and Capital Committee of the Board. This program consists of a 
number of standards, procedures and guidelines focused on management of cybersecurity risk and 
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maintenance of the security and integrity of the data entrusted to Empire Life. An incident management 
process is in place for monitoring and managing security events.

Privacy breaches could occur and may result in unauthorized disclosure or use of private and confidential 
information. To manage this risk, Empire Life has a privacy program overseen by the Chief Privacy 
Officer. The program includes policies and standards, ongoing monitoring of emerging privacy legislation 
and a network of business unit privacy officers. Processes have been established to provide guidance to 
employees on the handling of personal information and the reporting of privacy incidents and issues to 
appropriate management for response and resolution. The Chief Privacy Officer reports regularly to the 
Conduct Review Committee of the Board on privacy and data security risks and emerging trends.

Business continuity risk

Empire Life has an enterprise-wide business continuity and disaster recovery program overseen by the 
Business Continuity Planning Team and senior management. The program includes policies, plans and 
procedures designed so that, to the extent practically possible, key business functions can continue and 
normal operations can resume effectively and efficiently should a major disruption of key business 
functions occur as a result of an event, including pandemic, impacting the availability of trained 
employees, physical locations to conduct operations and/or access to technology. Each business unit is 
accountable for preparing and maintaining detailed business continuity plans and processes. Empire Life 
establishes and regularly tests business continuity and disaster recovery plans and maintains services 
and failover capability designed to minimize downtime and accelerate system recovery. The Business 
Continuity Planning Team Chair reports at least annually to the Risk and Capital Committee of the Board 
on business continuity preparedness and operational resiliency.

Business and strategic risk 

Business and strategic risk relates to the uncertainty in future earnings and capital related to the potential 
inability to implement appropriate business plans and strategies, make decisions, allocate resources, 
manage distribution or adapt to changes in business environment, such as the competitive landscape, 
regulatory and tax changes or changes in accounting and actuarial standards. Empire Life regularly 
reviews and adapts its business strategies and plans in consideration of changes in the external business 
environment, economic, political and regulatory environment. Empire Life’s financial performance is 
dependent upon its ability to implement and execute business strategies and plans for growth.

Empire Life’s business strategies and plans are designed to align with risk appetite, capital position and 
financial performance objectives. Empire Life periodically reassesses risk appetite taking into 
consideration the economic, regulatory and competitive environments in which it operates. The current 
environment requires Empire Life to adapt rapidly to new opportunities and challenges and to refine its 
strategies accordingly. If Empire Life fails to revise its strategies on a timely basis or adapt to the 
changing environment, it may not be able to achieve its growth objectives.

Empire Life’s business strategies and plans are dependent on the successful execution of organizational 
and strategic initiatives designed to support the growth of its business. The ability to effectively manage 
these changes and prioritize initiatives directly affects Empire Life’s ability to execute these strategies.  
Identifying and implementing the right set of initiatives is critical to achieving Empire Life’s business plan 
targets. Failure to implement these initiatives could also lead to cost structure challenges.

Successful execution of Empire Life’s business strategies and plans depends on a number of factors 
including its ability to (i) generate sufficient earnings to maintain an adequate level of capital; (ii) generate 
sustained investment performance; (iii) meet regulatory requirements; (iv) manage risk exposures 
effectively; (v) attract and retain customers and distributors;(vi) have the right set of products; and (vii) 
reduce operating expenses while maintaining the ability to hire, retain and motivate key personnel. As a 
long-term oriented underwriter and investor, Empire Life may be adversely affected if it does not 
adequately prepare for the direct or indirect negative impacts of environmental events and developments, 
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including those related to impacts of climate changes and the transition to a lower-carbon economy. 
These events and developments may include increased frequency and severity of natural or human-made 
environmental disasters, longer-term shifts in climate patterns, emerging regulatory and public policy 
developments and the impacts on Empire Life's operations, invested assets, suppliers and customers.

Empire Life’s business and strategic plans are reviewed and discussed by its senior management team 
and are subject to approval by the Board of Directors, which also receives regular updates on 
implementation progress against key business plan objectives. The Board and its subcommittees receive 
regular updates on key risks.

In addition to the discussion of risks included in this MD&A, a comprehensive discussion of the material 
risks that impact Empire Life is included in Empire Life’s Annual Information Form available at 
www.sedar.com. Additional disclosures of Empire Life’s sensitivity to risks are included in notes 22 and 23 
to the 2020 consolidated financial statements.

Outlook

The path and implications of COVID-19 on Canadian and international business operations, supply 
chains, travel, consumer confidence and business forecasts, and domestic and international securities 
markets, remains uncertain and is expected to continue into 2021. The progression of the virus, potential 
treatments and therapies, the availability of vaccines and actions taken by governments, businesses and 
individuals could vary by region and country and will impact economic recoveries. Empire Life continues 
to adjust operations as government restrictions and measures evolve. Our business continuity processes 
have been successful in ensuring that key business functions and normal operations continue through 
these unprecedented times. Processes supporting ongoing systems availability, stability and security are 
operating effectively and we continue to monitor the threat landscape. The majority of employees continue 
to work from home. Return to office activities have been carefully planned but remain appropriately 
flexible in response to government restrictions. Management remains focused on preserving the well-
being of all employees and our ability to serve our customers. 

The effects of the COVID-19 pandemic took a toll on the Canadian economy in 2020 as GDP contracted 
by an estimated 5.5% for the full year and, the Canadian dollar strengthened slightly to 1.29 (annual 
average) per U.S. dollar. Amid the backdrop of regional lockdowns and other restrictions, annual 
unemployment in Canada rose to 9.5%, the highest level in 25 years. The lingering effects of the 
pandemic will continue to weigh on 2021 and potentially beyond. The recovery of the Canadian and 
global economy will depend on the effectiveness of vaccine rollouts and limiting the effects of future 
waves of infections.

In response to the contracting economy, the Bank of Canada decreased the overnight rate to 0.25% in 
2020 with the Bank of Canada indicating that the overnight rate is expected to remain low in the near-
term. The Canadian Federal Bond yield curve shifted down with the 5-year rate decreasing from 1.68% to 
0.39% in 2020 and the 30-year rate decreasing from 1.76% to 1.21% in 2020. While corporate and 
provincial bond spreads widened significantly in the first and second quarters and the effects of the 
pandemic took hold, spreads narrowed in the latter half of the year and ended 2020 near their opening 
levels. Interest rates have generally been lower than historic averages for several years. 

Despite an uneven quarterly performance, global equity markets performed well in 2020 with the MSCI up 
over 16% for the year. The S&P 500 stock index was up 16.3% and the S&P/TSX composite index was 
up 2.2% for the year. Stock market conditions impact the in-force profit margins and new business growth 
for the segregated fund and mutual fund portions of Empire Life’s Wealth Management product line.

Looking forward to 2021, the global economy is expected to have moderate growth. The Canadian 
economy is expected to rebound in 2021 and 2022 with forecast GDP of 4.0% and 4.8% respectively. The 
ability of economies to recover and grow in line with projections is highly dependent on the ability of 
governments to contain further spread of COVID-19 infection and achieve sufficient immunity through 
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vaccinations to ease the containment measures currently in place. Other threats to economic growth 
include the impact of the energy policy on the regional economies of the western provinces. Short-term 
interest rates may continue to stay at their historic low levels in the near-term. Overall, the Canadian 
economy is well-positioned to support continued growth of all Empire Life’s product lines.

The individual insurance market continues to grow modestly even with the challenge of the persistent low 
long-term interest rate environment that followed the financial crisis and has remained low in the current 
COVID-19 pandemic. Empire Life has decreased its emphasis on long-term life insurance products in 
favor of shorter-term products, such as 10-year renewable term life insurance. Long-term interest rates, 
product mix and product pricing are expected to continue to be challenges for Empire Life’s Individual 
Insurance product line. The segregated fund product line saw a decline in net sales while experiencing 
uneven market returns in 2020; fees will likely be impacted by competition going forward. Empire Life will 
continue to develop low-cost efficient products delivered digitally to satisfy consumer needs. Within the 
employee benefits product line, although highly concentrated, Empire Life will continue to penetrate its 
niche market to grow the business. Across all business lines, Empire Life is focused on growth and 
diversification of distribution as well digital enablement and adoption, all while maintaining personalized 
service.

As noted under the Regulatory Capital section, OSFI implemented its LICAT Guidelines on January 1, 
2018. This Guideline established a new risk-based regulatory capital framework for life insurance 
companies and replaced the previous Minimum Continuing Capital and Surplus Requirements Guideline. 
LICAT is intended to improve the quality of capital available and provide a better alignment of risk 
measures with the long-term economics of the insurance business. This Guideline was developed in 
consultation with the life insurance industry and OSFI. OSFI is also reviewing the overall approach for 
determining capital requirements for segregated fund guarantee risks. Changes to the capital required for 
products with guaranteed income may ultimately impact the industry’s ability to offer these products at 
reasonable prices to the consumer. OSFI has indicated that the effective date for the Guideline for 
segregated fund guarantees will be implemented at the same time as IFRS 17. OSFI is continuing to 
review the application of Non-Viable Contingent Capital (“NVCC”) for life insurance companies. If NVCC 
applied, new preferred shares and subordinated debentures issued after the transition date would have to 
be compliant with the new regime to qualify as capital.

The IASB issued the final standard for IFRS 17 Insurance Contracts in June 2020. IFRS 17 includes 
fundamental changes from the CALM method (equivalent to IFRS 4 Insurance Contracts) that Empire Life 
currently applies for the valuation of insurance contracts and revenue recognition. The IASB has also 
granted a temporary exemption from the application of IFRS 9 Financial Instruments to allow insurance 
companies the ability to implement both IFRS 17 and IFRS 9 concurrently. IFRS 9 applies to the 
measurement of financial assets, the expected credit loss model and hedge accounting. For insurance 
contracts and financial instruments accounting, the goal is global consistency under IFRS as opposed to 
the differing approaches in each country that exist today. Preparing for the adoption of IFRS 17 and IFRS 
9 is a significant initiative for Empire Life and for the industry. Empire Life is currently assessing the 
impact that IFRS 17 and IFRS 9 will have on Empire Life’s consolidated financial statements and has 
developed a plan to implement the changes required to be ready to report under the new standards when 
they take effect on January 1, 2023.

The Canadian Securities Administrators (“CSA”) has increased disclosure requirements for mutual fund 
companies, including point of sale requirements and customer relationship model initiatives. Mutual fund 
fees continue to be an area of interest for Canadian securities regulators. The CSA commissioned 
independent third-party research that will assess the impact of commissions and embedded (trailer) fees 
on mutual fund flows. This research will support CSA policy decisions concerning Canada's current 
mutual fund fee structure. Empire Life continues to monitor these developments and assess the possible 
impact to the insurance industry at some future date.
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The industry is also improving the oversight of MGAs and their advisors. Life insurance companies, 
including Empire Life, commonly contract with MGAs as a key component of the distribution chain for 
insurance and wealth management products. In 2013, the Canadian Life and Health Insurance 
Association (“CLHIA”) developed a new Insurer-MGA Relationship guideline (effective January 1, 2015). 
The Guideline describes desired outcomes and related practices in five general areas, including, perform 
due diligence prior to entering into a contract with an MGA, clearly set out roles and responsibilities in the 
contract, commit to a culture of treating customers fairly, monitor the performance of the MGA and retain 
ultimate responsibility. The industry is also considering establishing a licensing regime for all distribution 
firms. The licensing of distribution firms would clarify the accountability for the distribution partners to 
adhere to the insurer’s code of conduct and provide on-going monitoring of the advisors activities.

The cost of managing regulation is a concern. The insurance industry is facing more aggressive 
consumer and financial solvency regulation than in the past and must also absorb the cost of 
implementing IFRS 17. The regulation load is increasing operating costs without offsetting revenue gains. 
Empire Life must continue to grow its business to absorb these rising costs.
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MANAGEMENT REPORT

The accompanying consolidated financial statements of E-L Financial Corporation Limited and its 
subsidiaries and all information in the Annual Report are the responsibility of management and have been 
approved by the Board of Directors. The consolidated financial statements necessarily include amounts 
that are based on judgments, which are applied consistently and are considered appropriate in the 
circumstances. 

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared by management in accordance with Canadian 
generally accepted accounting principles. Financial and operating data elsewhere in the Annual Report 
are consistent with the information contained in the consolidated financial statements.

The Company and its subsidiaries maintain systems of internal control over financial reporting which are 
designed to provide reasonable assurance that assets are safeguarded, expenditures are made in 
accordance with authorizations of management and directors, transactions are properly recorded and that 
financial records are reliable for preparing the consolidated financial statements in accordance with 
Canadian generally accepted accounting principles. Under the supervision of management, an evaluation 
of the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control over financial reporting was carried out as at 
December 31, 2020. Based on that evaluation, management concluded that the Company’s internal 
control over financial reporting was effective as at December 31, 2020.

The Board of Directors carries out its responsibility for the consolidated financial statements in this Annual 
Report principally through its Audit Committee and the Audit Committees of its subsidiaries. These Audit 
Committees meet periodically with management and with the internal and external auditors to discuss the 
scope and results of audit examinations with respect to internal controls and financial reporting of the 
Company and its subsidiaries. The Audit Committee of the insurance subsidiary also meets periodically 
with the Appointed Actuary.

The Appointed Actuary is appointed by the Board of Directors of the insurance subsidiary to conduct an 
annual valuation of policy liabilities, in accordance with accepted actuarial practices, and to report on 
whether the valuations are appropriate and whether their results are fairly presented in the subsidiary’s 
financial statements. The Appointed Actuary uses the work of the external auditors in verifying data used 
for valuation purposes.

PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP has been appointed independent auditor. It is their responsibility to report 
to the shareholders regarding the fairness of presentation, in all material respects, of the Company’s 
consolidated financial position and financial performance and cash flows as shown in the annual 
consolidated financial statements. In carrying out their audit, the independent auditors also consider the 
work of the actuaries and their report on policy liabilities. The independent auditors have full and free 
access to, and meet periodically with, the Audit Committees to discuss their audits. The Independent 
Auditor’s Report outlines the scope of their examination and their opinion. 

Duncan N.R. Jackman Scott Ewert

Chairman, President Vice-President 
   and Chief Executive Officer    and Chief Financial Officer

March 3, 2021 
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Independent auditor’s report

To the Shareholders of E-L Financial Corporation Limited

Our opinion

In our opinion, the accompanying consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, 
the financial position of E-L Financial Corporation Limited and its subsidiaries (together, the Company) as 
at December 31, 2020 and 2019, and its financial performance and its cash flows for the years then 
ended in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards as issued by the International 
Accounting Standards Board (IFRS).

What we have audited

The Company's consolidated financial statements comprise:

• the consolidated statements of financial position as at December 31, 2020 and 2019;
• the consolidated statements of income for the years then ended;
• the consolidated statements of comprehensive income for the years then ended;
• the consolidated statements of changes in equity for the years then ended;
• the consolidated statements of cash flows for the years then ended; and
• the notes to the consolidated financial statements, which include a summary of significant 

accounting policies and other explanatory information.

Basis for opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards. Our 
responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of 
the consolidated financial statements section of our report.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for 
our opinion.

Independence

We are independent of the Company in accordance with the ethical requirements that are relevant to our 
audit of the consolidated financial statements in Canada. We have fulfilled our other ethical 
responsibilities in accordance with these requirements.
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Key audit matters
Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were of most significance in our 
audit of the consolidated financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2020. These matters were 
addressed in the context of our audit of the consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming 
our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters. 

Key audit matter How our audit addresses the key audit matter
Fair value of investments in private companies 

Refer to Note 2 – Significant accounting policies, and 
Note 4 – Investments, corporate to the consolidated 
financial statements.

At December 31, 2020, a substantial portion of the Level 
3 investments of $929,490,000 consist of investments in 
private companies. These investments are measured at 
fair value. The Company utilizes the adjusted net asset 
method to measure the fair value of investments in 
private companies.

This method estimates the fair values of the underlying 
net assets of the private companies and considers 
adjustments for characteristics such as a minority 
marketability discount and control block premiums. 
These adjustments are unobservable inputs for fair 
value measurement.

Determining unobservable inputs requires the use of 
management judgment. We considered this a key audit 
matter due to the judgment applied by management in 
determining the fair value estimates of the investments 
in private companies. This led to a high degree of 
auditor judgment in performing procedures relating to 
the valuation of the investments in private companies. 
The audit effort involved the use of professionals with 
specialized skill and knowledge.

Our approach to addressing the matter involved the 
following procedures, among others: 

• Tested how management determined the fair value 
estimates, which included the following:

– Evaluated the appropriateness of the method 
being applied by management. 

– Agreed the net assets of the private companies 
to the underlying private companies’ audited 
financial statements. 

– Professionals with specialized skill and 
knowledge assisted with evaluating the 
methodology applied by management in fair 
valuing the minority interests in the private 
companies by assessing whether 
management’s method appropriately applies a 
minority marketability discount and control 
block premiums. 

– Evaluated the minority marketability discount 
and control block premiums for reasonableness 
by examining underlying support and 
considering whether this was consistent with 
evidence obtained in other areas of the audit.
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Key audit matter How our audit addresses the key audit matter
Valuation of insurance contract liabilities

Refer to Note 2 - Significant accounting policies and 
Note 14 - Insurance contract liabilities and reinsurance 
liabilities to the consolidated financial statements. 

The Company has gross insurance contract liabilities of 
$7,145,461,000 and reinsurance liabilities of 
$384,761,000 as at December 31, 2020 on its 
consolidated statement of financial position (collectively, 
insurance contract liabilities). Insurance contract 
liabilities represent an estimate of the amount that, 
together with estimated future premiums and investment 
income, will be sufficient to pay future benefits, 
dividends, expenses, and premium taxes on policies in 
force. 

Insurance contract liabilities are determined using the 
Canadian Asset Liability Method (CALM), as established 
by the Canadian Institute of Actuaries (CIA) (actuarial 
models). The CALM incorporates best-estimate 
assumptions for mortality, policy lapses, surrenders and 
future investment yields that require management 
judgement. The assumptions are based on experience 
studies, industry studies and requirements of the CIA. 

We considered this a key audit matter due to the 
judgement applied by management when developing 
their valuation of the contract liabilities, which in turn led 
to a high degree of auditor judgment and effort in 
evaluating the assumptions. Professionals with 
specialized skill and knowledge in the field of actuarial 
sciences assisted us in performing our procedures.

Our approach to addressing the matter included the 
following procedures, among others: 

• Tested how management determined the valuation 
of the insurance contract liabilities, which included 
the following: 

– Understood management’s method for 
determining the valuation of insurance contract 
liabilities. 

– Tested the operating effectiveness of relevant 
controls over the completeness and accuracy 
of the underlying policy data used in 
management’s valuation of insurance contract 
liabilities. 

– With the assistance of professionals with 
specialized skill and knowledge in the field of 
actuarial science assessed the reasonableness 
of the policy lapse and surrenders, mortality 
and future investment yields by:

◦ evaluating management’s assumptions in 
accordance with actuarial principles and 
requirements of the CIA.

◦ evaluating experience studies conducted by 
the Appointed Actuary for appropriateness 
and considering the relationship of the 
results with industry studies. 

– With the assistance of professionals with 
specialized skill and knowledge in the field of 
actuarial science, tested the appropriateness of 
the actuarial models used in developing the 
valuation of insurance contract liabilities, by:

◦ assessing a sample of actuarial models to 
ensure the correct modeling of product 
features. 

◦ assessing a sample of actuarial models to 
ensure the correct application of 
assumptions. 

– Tested the disclosures made in the 
consolidated financial statements, particularly 
on the sensitivity of significant assumptions on 
insurance contract liabilities.

Other information

Management is responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the Management’s 
Discussion and Analysis and the information, other than the consolidated financial statements and our 
auditor’s report thereon, included in the annual report.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the other information and we do not 
express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.
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In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other 
information identified above and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially 
inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit, or 
otherwise appears to be materially misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other 
information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

Responsibilities of management and those charged with governance for the 
consolidated financial statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated financial 
statements in accordance with IFRS, and for such internal control as management determines is 
necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from material 
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the 
Company's ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going 
concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless management either intends to liquidate 
the Company or to cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Company’s financial reporting 
process. 

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated financial statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements 
as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s 
report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a 
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards 
will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and 
are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence 
the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards, we exercise 
professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. We also:

• Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, 
whether due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and 
obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of 
not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, 
as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of 
internal control.

• Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures 
that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the 
effectiveness of the Company’s internal control.

• Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting 
estimates and related disclosures made by management.

• Conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use of the going concern basis of accounting 
and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events 
or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Company’s ability to continue as a going 
concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our 
auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the consolidated financial statements or, if such 
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disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence 
obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may cause the 
Company to cease to continue as a going concern. 

• Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated financial statements, 
including the disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial statements represent the 
underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

• Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or 
business activities within the Company to express an opinion on the consolidated financial 
statements. We are responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the group audit. 
We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned 
scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in 
internal control that we identify during our audit. 

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement that we have complied with relevant 
ethical requirements regarding independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and other 
matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable, related 
safeguards.

From the matters communicated with those charged with governance, we determine those matters that 
were of most significance in the audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current period and 
are therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or 
regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we 
determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of 
doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent auditor’s report is Owen Thomas.

Chartered Professional Accountants, Licensed Public Accountants

Toronto, Ontario
March 3, 2021 
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E-L Financial Corporation Limited 
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF FINANCIAL POSITION
(in thousands of Canadian dollars)

December 31
2020

December 31
2019

Assets
Cash and cash equivalents (Note 8) $ 427,757 $ 303,085 
Investments - corporate (Note 4)  5,688,889  5,270,128 
Investments - insurance (Note 5)  9,855,846  9,152,734 
Investments in associates (Note 6)  266,570  349,899 
Insurance receivable  46,533  48,728 
Other assets (Note 9)  202,211  125,810 
Segregated fund assets (Note 12)  8,457,417  8,498,583 
Total assets $ 24,945,223 $ 23,748,967 

Liabilities
Reinsurance liabilities (Note 14) $ 384,761 $ 698,372 
Insurance contract liabilities (Note 14)  7,216,402  6,141,016 
Investment contract liabilities  29,041  28,866 
Deferred tax liabilities (Note 18)  321,587  268,468 
Dividends payable  8,523  8,912 
Other liabilities (Note 10)  274,737  257,807 
Borrowings (Note 16)  602,268  464,098 
Segregated fund liabilities (Note 12)  8,457,417  8,498,583 
Total liabilities $ 17,294,736 $ 16,366,122 

Equity
Capital stock (Note 15) $ 366,793 $ 372,388 
Retained earnings  6,050,795  5,878,228 
Accumulated other comprehensive income (“AOCI”)  56,411  24,156 
Total E-L Financial shareholders' equity  6,473,999  6,274,772 
Non-controlling interests in subsidiaries (“NCI”)  1,132,340  1,067,961 
Participating policyholders' interests (“PAR”)  44,148  40,112 
Total equity  7,650,487  7,382,845 
Total liabilities and equity $ 24,945,223 $ 23,748,967 

Approved by the Board
Duncan N.R. Jackman, Director
James F. Billett, Director

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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E-L Financial Corporation Limited 
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF INCOME 
(in thousands of Canadian dollars, except per share amounts)

2020 2019

Revenue
Gross premiums $ 1,081,630 $ 1,091,828 
Premiums ceded to reinsurers  (221,389)  (181,987) 
Net premiums  860,241  909,841 
Investment and other income (Note 7)  710,680  732,616 
Share of (loss) income of associates (Note 6)  (28,858)  23,552 
Fair value change in fair value through profit or loss investments  964,564  1,242,198 
Realized gain on available for sale investments  29,414  21,886 

 2,536,041  2,930,093 

Expenses
Gross claims and benefits  1,822,525  1,649,199 
Claims and benefits ceded to reinsurers  (451,086)  (192,484) 
Net claims and benefits  1,371,439  1,456,715 
Change in investment contracts provision  989  937 
Commissions  202,561  198,754 
Operating (Note 17)  208,041  211,243 
Interest expense  20,797  16,608 
Premium taxes  18,742  18,675 

 1,822,569  1,902,932 
Income before income taxes  713,472  1,027,161 
Income taxes (Note 18)  109,960  165,479 
Net income  603,512  861,682 

Less: Participating policyholders' income  4,047  3,219 
Non-controlling interests in net income  99,773  113,818 

 103,820  117,037 
E-L Financial shareholders' net income $ 499,692 $ 744,645 

Earnings per share attributable to E-L Financial shareholders (Note 19)
Basic $ 128.21 $ 185.67 
Diluted $ 119.68 $ 171.64 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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E-L Financial Corporation Limited
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME 
(in thousands of Canadian dollars)

2020 2019

Net income $ 603,512 $ 861,682 

Other comprehensive (loss) (“OCL”) income (“OCI”), 
  net of taxes (Note 20)
Items that may be reclassified subsequently to net income:
Net unrealized fair value change on available for sale 
   investments (“AFS”)  57,274  49,610 
Share of OCL of associates  (2,219)  (6,069) 

 55,055  43,541 

Items that will not be reclassified to net income:
Net remeasurement of defined benefit plans  (17,149)  (1,644) 
Share of (OCL) OCI of associates  (6,474)  247 

 (23,623)  (1,397) 
Total OCI  31,432  42,144 
Comprehensive income  634,944  903,826 

Less: Participating policyholders' comprehensive income  4,036  3,949 
          Non-controlling interests in comprehensive income  98,961  113,412 

 102,997  117,361 
E-L Financial shareholders' comprehensive income $ 531,947 $ 786,465 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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E-L Financial Corporation Limited
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
(in thousands of Canadian dollars)

E-L Financial shareholders’ equity

Capital 
stock 

Retained 
earnings AOCI Total NCI PAR Total equity

At January 1, 2020 $ 372,388 $ 5,878,228 $ 24,156 $ 6,274,772 $ 1,067,961 $ 40,112 $ 7,382,845 

Net income  —  499,692  —  499,692  99,773  4,047  603,512 

OCI (OCL)  —  —  32,255  32,255  (812)  (11)  31,432 

Comprehensive  income  —  499,692  32,255  531,947  98,961  4,036  634,944 

Dividends (Note 15)  —  (132,975)  —  (132,975)  (23,221)  —  (156,196) 

Share purchases 
   (Note 15)  (5,595)  (197,218)  —  (202,813)  —  —  (202,813) 

Acquisition of subsidiary 
shares  —  3,068  —  3,068  (11,361)  —  (8,293) 

At December 31, 2020 $ 366,793 $ 6,050,795 $ 56,411 $ 6,473,999 $ 1,132,340 $ 44,148 $ 7,650,487 

E-L Financial shareholders’ equity

Capital 
stock

Retained 
earnings

(AOCL)
 AOCI Total NCI PAR Total equity

At January 1, 2019 $ 372,388 $ 5,168,573 $ (17,664) $ 5,523,297 $ 979,142 $ 36,163 $ 6,538,602 

Net income  —  744,645  —  744,645  113,818  3,219  861,682 

OCI (OCL)  —  —  41,820  41,820  (406)  730  42,144 

Comprehensive income  —  744,645  41,820  786,465  113,412  3,949  903,826 

Dividends (Note 15)  —  (35,647)  —  (35,647)  (22,530)  —  (58,177) 

Acquisition of subsidiary 
shares  —  657  —  657  (2,063)  —  (1,406) 

At December 31, 2019 $ 372,388 $ 5,878,228 $ 24,156 $ 6,274,772 $ 1,067,961 $ 40,112 $ 7,382,845 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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E-L Financial Corporation Limited
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
(in thousands of Canadian dollars)

2020 2019
Net inflow (outflow) of cash related to the following activities:
Operating

Net income $ 603,512 $ 861,682 
Items not affecting cash resources:

Change in insurance and investment contract liabilities  758,971  807,953 
Realized gain on available for sale of investments  (29,414)  (21,886) 
Fair value change in fair value through profit or loss investments  (964,564)  (1,242,198) 
Deferred taxes  60,614  71,597 
Share of loss (income) of associates (Note 6)  28,858  (23,552) 
Amortization related to bond investments  (80,137)  (88,161) 
Other items  (53,082)  79,628 

 324,758  445,063 
Net change in other assets and liabilities  4,317  (28,536) 

 329,075  416,527 
Financing

Cash dividends to shareholders  (133,364)  (35,647) 
Cash dividends by subsidiaries to non-controlling interests  (23,249)  (22,530) 
Purchases of subsidiary shares  (8,293)  (1,406) 
Share purchases (Note 15)  (202,813)  — 
Repayment of margin loan (Note 16)  (60,000)  (25,000) 
Issuance of 4.0% senior unsecured notes (Note 16)  197,826  — 
Interest paid on borrowings (Note 16)  (14,628)  (15,963) 

 (244,521)  (100,546) 
Investing

Purchases of investments  (3,080,098)  (3,520,579) 
Proceeds from sale or maturity of investments  3,075,165  3,186,025 
Net sales (purchase) of short-term investments  32,565  (17,614) 
Net purchases of other assets  (7,861)  (12,682) 
Dividends from associates  20,347  19,396 

 40,118  (345,454) 
Increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents  124,672  (29,473) 
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of the year  303,085  332,558 
Cash and cash equivalents, end of the year $ 427,757 $ 303,085 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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1.  Business operations

E-L Financial Corporation Limited (the “Company”) is an investment and insurance holding company, 
publicly traded on the Toronto Stock Exchange and incorporated under the laws of Ontario.

The head office, principal address and registered office of the Company is located at 165 University 
Avenue, Toronto, Ontario, M5H 3B8.

The consolidated financial statements were approved by the Company’s Board of Directors on March 3, 
2021.

2.  Significant accounting policies

(a) Basis of preparation

The Company’s consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with Canadian 
Generally Accepted Accounting Principles (“Canadian GAAP”) as set out in Part I of the Handbook of The 
Chartered Professional Accountants of Canada which represent International Financial Reporting 
Standards, as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (“IFRS”). 

These consolidated financial statements have been prepared on a fair value measurement basis, with the 
exception of certain assets and liabilities. Insurance contract liabilities and reinsurance assets/liabilities 
are measured on a discounted basis in accordance with accepted actuarial practice. Investment contract 
liabilities, mortgages, policy contract loans and loans on policies are carried at amortized cost. Certain 
other assets and liabilities are measured on a historical cost basis, as explained throughout this note. 

(b) Critical accounting estimates and judgments 

The preparation of consolidated financial statements requires management to make judgments and 
estimates and form assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities as at the date of 
the consolidated financial statements, and the reported amounts of revenue and expenses during the 
year. On an ongoing basis, management evaluates its judgments, estimates and critical assumptions in 
relation to assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses. Actual results could differ from these estimates and 
changes in estimates are recorded in the accounting period in which they are determined. 

The Company considers the following items to be particularly susceptible to changes in estimates and 
judgments:

Insurance-related liabilities

Liabilities for insurance contracts are determined using the Canadian Asset Liability Method (“CALM”), 
which incorporates best-estimate assumptions for mortality, morbidity, policy lapses, surrenders, future 
investment yields, policy dividends, administration costs and margins for adverse deviation. These 
assumptions are reviewed at least annually and are updated to reflect actual experience and market 
conditions. Changes in the assumptions and margins for adverse deviation can have a significant impact 
on the valuation of insurance related liabilities.

Additional information is included in Notes 2(k), 14, 22 and 23.

Fair value estimates

In measuring the fair value of financial instruments, management exercises judgment in the selection of 
fair value inputs and in determining their significance to the fair value estimate. Judgment is also required 
in the classification of fair value measurements within the levels of the fair value hierarchy, in particular 
those items categorized within Level 3 of the hierarchy.

Additional information regarding the fair value of financial instruments is included in Notes 2(e)i, 4 and 5.
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Impairment

Available for sale (“AFS”) securities, investments in associate and loans and receivables are reviewed at 
each quarter-end reporting period to identify and evaluate investments that show indications of possible 
impairment. Judgment is required in determining if there is objective evidence of impairment.

For AFS securities and loans and receivables, impairment losses are recognized if there is objective 
evidence of impairment as a result of an event that reduces the estimated future cash flows of the 
instrument and the impact can be reliably estimated. Objective evidence of impairment includes, but is not 
limited to, bankruptcy or default, delinquency by a debtor, and specific adverse conditions affecting an 
industry or a region. In addition, for equity securities, a significant or prolonged decline in the fair value of 
a security below its cost is objective evidence of impairment. The decision to record a write-down, its 
amount and the period in which it is recorded could change if management’s assessment of those factors 
were different. Impairment write-downs on debt securities are not recorded when impairment is due to 
changes in market interest rates, if future contractual cash flows associated with the debt security are still 
expected to be recovered.

Investments in associates recognize an impairment loss if the investment in associates’ recoverable 
amount is determined to be lower than the investment’s carrying amount at the reporting date. 
Recoverable amount is equal to the higher of the investment’s fair value less costs of disposal and value 
in use. Impairment losses are recognized in the consolidated statements of income. Previously 
recognized impairment losses are reversed if the investment’s recoverable amount subsequently 
increases and there is a significant indication that the circumstances that led to the initial recognition of 
the impairment loss have improved or recovered completely. 

Additional information regarding impairment of financial instruments is included in Notes 2(e)iv, 4, 5, 6 and 
22.

Consolidation 

There could be judgment involved in assessing control or significant influence of certain of the Company’s 
interests in other entities. The Company has applied judgment to assess which party has power or 
influence over the relevant activities of these entities. When assessing decision making power, the 
Company has considered voting rights, contractual agreements, relative share holdings, and other facts 
and circumstances. The initial assessment of control or influence is reassessed when there are changes 
in facts and circumstances. 

Additional information regarding the principles of consolidation is included in Note 2(c).

(c) Principles of consolidation

i) Subsidiaries are all entities over which the Company has control. The Company controls an entity when 
the Company is exposed to, or has rights to, variable returns from its involvement with the entity and has 
the ability to affect those returns through its power over the entity. Subsidiaries are fully consolidated from 
the date on which control is transferred to the Company. They are deconsolidated from the date that 
control ceases.

The Company applies the acquisition method to account for business combinations. The consideration 
transferred for the acquisition of a subsidiary is the fair values of the assets transferred, the liabilities 
incurred to the former owners of the acquiree and the equity interests issued by the Company. Identifiable 
assets acquired and liabilities and contingent liabilities assumed in a business combination are measured 
initially at their fair values at the acquisition date. The Company recognizes any non-controlling interest in 
the acquiree on an acquisition-by-acquisition basis, either at fair value or at the non-controlling interest’s 
proportionate share of the recognized amounts of acquiree’s identifiable net assets.
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Inter-company transactions, balances and unrealized gains or losses on transactions between group 
companies are eliminated. When necessary amounts reported by subsidiaries have been adjusted to 
conform with the Company’s accounting policies.

ii) Changes in ownership interests in subsidiaries without change of control

Transactions with non-controlling interests that do not result in loss of control are accounted for as equity 
transactions. The difference between fair value of any consideration paid and the relevant share acquired 
of the carrying value of net assets of the subsidiary is recorded in equity. Gains or losses on disposals to 
non-controlling interests are also recorded in equity.

iii) Investments in associates 

Associates are all entities over which the Company has significant influence but not control, generally 
accompanying a shareholding of between 20% and 50% of the voting rights. Investments in associates 
are accounted for using the equity method of accounting. Under the equity method, the investment is 
initially recognized at cost, and the carrying amount is increased or decreased to recognize the investor’s 
share of the income or loss of the investee after the date of acquisition. 

The Company’s share of post-acquisition income or loss is recognized in the consolidated statements of 
income, and its share of OCI is recognized in consolidated statements of comprehensive income.

The Company determines at each reporting date whether there is any objective evidence that the 
investment in the associate is impaired. The Company calculates the amount of impairment as the 
difference between the recoverable amount of the associate and its carrying value and recognizes the 
amount as share of income (loss) of associates in the consolidated statements of income.

Income and losses resulting from transactions between the Company and its associate are recognized in 
the Company’s financial statements only to the extent of unrelated investor’s interests in the associates. 
Unrealized losses are eliminated unless the transaction provides evidence of an impairment of the asset 
transferred. Accounting policies of associates have been changed where necessary to ensure 
consistency with the policies adopted by the Company. 

(d) Operating segments

Operating segments are reported in a manner consistent with the internal reporting provided to the chief 
operating decision maker. Internal reports about these segments are regularly reviewed by the 
Company’s Chief Executive Officer and by the Board of Directors to assess their performance and to 
allocate capital and resources.

(e) Financial instruments

i) Fair value of financial instruments  

Fair value is the amount of consideration that would be agreed upon in an arm’s length transaction 
between knowledgeable, willing parties who are under no compulsion to act. When a financial instrument 
is initially recognized, its fair value is generally the value of the consideration paid or received. 
Subsequent to initial recognition, the fair value of a financial asset or liability quoted in an active market is 
generally the closing price. The investments in private companies that are not listed on a stock exchange 
are measured using the adjusted net asset method. This method estimates the fair values of the 
underlying net assets of the private companies and considers adjustments for characteristics such as a 
minority marketability discount and control block premiums. For financial instruments such as cash 
equivalents and short-term investments with a short duration, carrying value is considered to approximate 
fair value. 
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Fair value measurements used in these consolidated financial statements have been classified by using a 
fair value hierarchy based upon the transparency of the inputs used in making the measurements. The 
three levels of the hierarchy are:

Level 1 - Fair value is based on unadjusted quoted prices for identical assets or liabilities in an active 
market. The types of financial instruments classified as level 1 generally include cash and exchange 
traded common and preferred shares and derivatives.

Level 2 - Fair value is based on quoted prices for similar assets or liabilities in an active markets, 
valuation that is based on significant observable inputs, or inputs that are derived principally from or 
corroborated with observable market data through correlation or other means. The types of financial 
instruments classified as level 2 generally include government bonds, certain corporate and private 
bonds, and short-term investments, certain common shares (real estate limited partnership units and 
pooled funds) and over the counter derivatives.

Level 3 - Fair value is based on valuation techniques that require one or more significant inputs that are 
not based on observable market inputs. These unobservable inputs reflect our expectations about the 
assumptions market participants would use in pricing the asset or liability.

ii) Cash and cash equivalents and investments 

Cash and cash equivalents and short-term investments are short term, highly liquid investments that are 
subject to insignificant changes in value and are readily convertible into known amounts of cash. Cash 
equivalents comprise financial assets with maturities of three months or less from the date of acquisition. 

Short-term investments comprise financial assets with maturities of greater than three months and less 
than one year when acquired.  

The Company’s financial assets are designated as fair value through profit or loss (“FVTPL”), AFS or 
loans and receivables based on management’s intentions or characteristics of the instrument. All 
transactions are recorded on a trade date basis. Transaction costs are expensed for FVTPL instruments 
and capitalized for all others when the transaction costs are directly attributable to the acquisition of the 
financial asset. 

FVTPL instruments are carried at fair value in the consolidated statements of financial position with 
changes in the fair value recorded in the consolidated statements of income in the period in which they 
occur.

AFS common and preferred share instruments, short-term investments, bonds and debentures are 
carried at fair value in the consolidated statements of financial position. Changes in the fair value of AFS 
instruments are recorded, net of taxes, in OCI in the consolidated statements of comprehensive income 
until realized, or required to be written down due to impairment, at which time, these gains and losses will 
be reclassified to the consolidated statements of income. 

Loans and receivables may include mortgage loans, loans on policies and policy contract loans. Loans 
and receivables are recorded at amortized cost, using the effective interest method, net of provisions for 
impairment losses, if any. Mortgage loans are secured by real estate. Loans on policies and policy 
contract loans are secured by policy values. Loans and receivables are defined as non-derivative financial 
assets with fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in active markets.

The Company designates all of its Investments - corporate as FVTPL. Empire Life Insurance Company 
(“Empire Life”) designates most financial assets supporting insurance contract liabilities and investment 
contract liabilities as FVTPL. Most financial assets supporting capital and surplus are classified as AFS. 
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iii) Derivative financial instruments

The Company uses derivative financial instruments to partly manage exposure to foreign currency, 
interest rate, equity and other market risks associated with certain assets and liabilities. Derivative 
financial assets are classified as FVTPL which are recorded at fair value on the acquisition date and 
subsequently revalued at their fair value at each reporting date. Derivative financial instruments with a 
positive fair value are recorded as assets while derivative financial instruments with a negative fair value 
are recorded as liabilities. Changes in fair value are recorded in fair value change in FVTPL investments, 
in the consolidated statements of income.

iv) Impairment 

All investments other than FVTPL instruments are assessed for impairment at each reporting date. 
Impairment is recognized in the consolidated statements of income, when there is objective evidence that 
a loss event has occurred which has impaired the estimated future cash flows of an asset.

An AFS debt instrument would be identified as impaired when there is objective evidence suggesting that 
timely collection of the contractual principal or interest is no longer reasonably assured. This may result 
from a breach of contract by the issuer, such as a default or delinquency in interest or principal payments, 
or evidence that the issuer is in significant financial difficulty. Impairment is recognized through the 
consolidated statements of income. Impairment losses previously recorded through the consolidated 
statements of income are reversed through net income if the fair value subsequently increases and the 
increase can be objectively related to an event occurring after the impairment loss was recognized.

For AFS equity investments, objective evidence of impairment exists if there has been a significant or 
prolonged decline in the fair value of the investment below its cost or if there is a significant adverse 
change in the technological, market, economic or legal environment in which the issuer operates or the 
issuer is experiencing financial difficulties. The accounting for an impairment that is recognized in the 
consolidated statements of income is the same as described for AFS debt securities above with the 
exception that impairment losses previously recognized in the consolidated statements of income cannot 
be subsequently reversed through net income (loss). Any subsequent increase in value is recorded in OCI 
in the consolidated statements of comprehensive income. 

Mortgages and loans are individually evaluated for impairment in establishing the allowance for 
impairment. Objective evidence of impairment exists if there is no longer reasonable assurance of full 
collection of loan principal or loan interest related to a mortgage, policy contract loan or loan on a policy. 
Events and conditions considered in determining if there is objective evidence of impairment include the 
value of the security underlying the loan, geographic location, industry classification of the borrower, an 
assessment of the financial stability of the borrower and credit worthiness of the borrower, repayment 
history or an assessment of the impact of current economic conditions. If objective evidence of 
impairment is found, allowances for credit losses are established to adjust the carrying value of these 
assets to their net recoverable amount and the impairment loss is recorded in the consolidated 
statements of income. If, in a subsequent period, the amount of the impairment loss decreases and the 
decrease can be objectively related to an event occurring after the impairment was recognized, the 
impairment loss is reversed by adjusting the allowance account and the reversal is recognized in the 
consolidated statements of income.

v) Derecognition

A financial asset is derecognized, when the contractual rights to cash flows expire or the Company has 
transferred its economic rights to the asset and substantially all risks and rewards. In instances where 
substantially all risks and rewards have not been transferred or retained, the assets are derecognized if 
the asset is not controlled through rights to sell or pledge the asset.
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vi) Other

Premium receivables and trade accounts receivable have been classified as loans or receivables and are 
carried at amortized cost. Trade accounts receivables are presented as other assets. Accounts payable 
and other liabilities (excluding derivative liabilities) and insurance payables are carried at amortized cost. 
For these financial instruments, carrying value approximates fair value due to their short-term nature.

vii) Securities lending

The Company engages in securities lending through its custodian as lending agent. Loaned securities are 
not derecognized and continue to be reported within investments in the consolidated statements of 
financial position, as the Company retains substantial risks and rewards and economic benefits related to 
the loaned securities. For further details, refer to Note 22.

(f) Reinsurance 

Empire Life enters into reinsurance agreements with reinsurers in order to limit its exposure to significant 
losses. Empire Life has a Reinsurance Risk Management policy which requires that such arrangements 
be placed with well-established, highly rated reinsurers. Reinsurance is measured consistently with the 
amounts associated with the underlying insurance contracts and in accordance with the terms of each 
reinsurance treaty. Amounts due to or from reinsurers with respect to premiums received or claims paid 
are included in reinsurance recoverable and reinsurance liabilities in the consolidated statements of 
financial position. Premiums for reinsurance ceded are presented as premiums ceded to reinsurers in the 
consolidated statements of income. Reinsurance recoveries on claims incurred are recorded as claims 
and benefits ceded to reinsurers in the consolidated statements of income. The reinsurers’ share of 
insurance contract liabilities is recorded as other assets or other liabilities in the consolidated statement of 
financial position at the same time as the underlying insurance contract liability to which it relates.

Reinsurance assets are reviewed for impairment at each reporting date or more frequently when an 
indication of impairment arises during the reporting year. Impairment occurs when objective evidence 
exists that not all amounts due under the terms of the contract will be received. If a reinsurance asset is 
determined to be impaired, it would be written down to its recoverable amount and the impairment loss 
would be recorded in the consolidated statements of income.

Gains or losses on buying reinsurance are recognized in the consolidated statements of income 
immediately at the date of purchase and are not amortized.

(g) Property and equipment 

Property and equipment is comprised of office properties (including land, building and leasehold 
improvements) and furniture and equipment. All classes of assets are carried at cost less accumulated 
amortization including any impairment losses, except for land, which is not subject to amortization. Cost 
includes all expenditures that are directly attributable to the acquisition of an asset. Subsequent costs are 
included in the asset’s carrying amount only when it is probable that future economic benefits associated 
with the item will flow to the Company and the cost can be measured reliably.

Amortization is calculated to write down the cost of property and equipment to their residual values over 
their estimated useful lives. 

Property and equipment is included in other assets in the consolidated statements of financial position. 

(h) Intangible assets

Intangible assets include computer software, related licenses and software development costs, which are 
carried at cost less accumulated amortization and any impairment losses. Amortization of intangible 
assets is calculated using the straight-line method to allocate the costs over their estimated useful lives, 
which are generally between three and seven years. Amortization is included in operating expenses in the 
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consolidated statements of income. For intangible assets under development, amortization begins when 
the asset is available for use. The Company does not have intangible assets with indefinite useful lives.

Intangible assets are included in other assets in the consolidated statements of financial position. 

(i) Income taxes

Income tax comprises both current and deferred tax. Income tax is recognized in the consolidated 
statements of income except to the extent that it relates to items recognized directly in OCI or directly in 
equity. In these cases, the tax is recognized directly in OCI or directly in equity, respectively.

Current tax assets and liabilities for the current and prior periods are measured at the amount expected to 
be recovered from or paid to the taxation authorities. The tax rates and tax laws used to compute these 
amounts are those that are enacted or substantively enacted at the end of each reporting period. 

Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are recorded for the expected future income tax consequences 
of events that have been reflected in the consolidated financial statements or income tax returns. 
Deferred income taxes are provided for using the liability method. Under the liability method, deferred 
income taxes are recognized for all significant temporary differences between the tax and consolidated 
financial statement bases for assets and liabilities and for certain carry-forward items.

Deferred income tax assets are recognized only to the extent that, in the opinion of management, it is 
probable that the deferred income tax assets will be realized. Deferred income tax assets and liabilities 
are adjusted for the effects of changes in tax laws and rates, on the date of the enactment or substantive 
enactment.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset if there is a legally enforceable right to offset current tax 
liabilities and assets and they relate to income taxes levied by the same tax authority on the same taxable 
entity.

(j) Employee benefits 

The Empire Life Insurance Company Staff Pension Plan (“the Plan”) provides employee pension benefits 
through either a defined benefit or a defined contribution pension plan. The Company discontinued new 
enrollments in the defined benefit component effective October 1, 2011 and introduced a defined 
contribution component effective January 1, 2012 for new enrollments and for any existing employees 
who chose to transfer from the defined benefit component. The Company also provides other post-
employment benefits.

The defined benefit plan defines an amount of pension benefit that an employee will receive on 
retirement, dependent on factors such as age, years of service and compensation. The liability 
recognized in the balance sheet in respect of the defined benefit component is the present value of the 
defined benefit obligation at the end of the reporting period less the fair value of plan assets. The defined 
benefit obligation is calculated annually by independent actuaries using the projected unit credit method. 
The present value of the defined benefit obligation is determined by discounting the estimated future cash 
outflows using current interest rates of high-quality corporate bonds.

Defined benefit expense includes the net interest on the net defined benefit liability (asset) calculated 
using a discount rate based on market yields on high quality bonds as of prior-year end. Actuarial gains 
and losses arising from experience adjustments and changes in actuarial assumptions are charged or 
credited to OCI in the period in which they arise, and remain in AOCI. Past-service costs are recognized 
immediately in net income.

The defined contribution component of the Plan is a component under which the Company pays fixed 
contributions. The Company has no legal or constructive obligations to pay further contributions if the fund 
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does not hold sufficient assets to pay employees the benefits relating to employee service in the current 
and prior periods. The contributions are recognized as employee benefit expense when they are due.

The Company also provides other post-employment benefits to their retirees. The entitlement to these 
benefits is conditional on the employee remaining in service up to retirement age and the completion of a 
minimum service period. The expected costs of these benefits are accrued over the period of employment 
using the same accounting methodology as used for defined benefit pension plans. Actuarial gains and 
losses arising from experience adjustments and changes in actuarial assumptions are charged or credited 
to OCI in the period in which they arise and remain in AOCI. These obligations are valued annually by 
independent actuaries and are not funded.

Termination benefits are payable when employment is terminated before the normal retirement date or 
whenever an employee accepts voluntary redundancy in exchange for these benefits. The Company 
recognizes termination benefits when it is demonstrably committed to either terminating the employment 
of current employees according to a detailed formal plan without realistic possibility of withdrawal or 
providing termination benefits as a result of an offer made to encourage voluntary redundancy. 

The Company has granted Restricted Share Units and Deferred Share Units awards to certain officers of 
the Company. These awards are to be settled in cash. The liabilities and benefit expenses associated with 
these awards are recognized across the vesting periods. The liability is determined based on the fair 
value of the award at grant date and subsequently revalued at each period end.

(k) Insurance and investment contracts

i) Product classification

Insurance contracts are those contracts that transfer significant insurance risk at the inception of the 
contract. Insurance risk is transferred when Empire Life agrees to compensate a policyholder if a 
specified uncertain future event (other than a change in a financial variable) adversely affects the 
policyholder and the insurance contract has commercial substance. Any contracts not meeting the 
definition of an insurance contract under IFRS are classified as investment contracts or service contracts, 
as appropriate. Products issued by Empire Life that transfer significant insurance risk have been 
classified as insurance contracts in accordance with IFRS 4 Insurance Contracts. Otherwise, products 
issued by Empire Life are classified as either investment contracts in accordance with IAS 39 Financial 
Instruments: Recognition and Measurement or service contracts in accordance with IFRS 15 Revenue 
from Contracts with Customers. Empire Life defines significant insurance risk as the possibility of paying 
at least 2% more than the benefits payable if the insured event did not occur. When referring to multiple 
contract types, Empire Life uses the terminology policy liabilities.

Once a contract has been classified as an insurance contract, it remains an insurance contract for the 
remainder of its lifetime, even if the insurance risk reduces significantly during this period, unless all rights 
and obligations are extinguished or expire. Investment contracts, however, can be reclassified as 
insurance contracts after inception if insurance risk becomes significant.

Insurance and investment contracts are classified into three main categories: short-term insurance 
contracts, long-term insurance contracts and investment contracts. 

Insurance contract liabilities are determined using accepted actuarial practices according to standards 
established by the Canadian Institute of Actuaries (“CIA”) and the requirements of Office of the 
Superintendent of Financial Institutions Canada (“OSFI”). Empire Life uses the CALM for valuation of 
insurance contracts, which satisfies the IFRS 4 Insurance Contracts requirements for eligibility for use 
under IFRS.

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
 (all dollar figures in thousands of Canadian dollars, except per share amounts and where otherwise stated) 

56 E-L Financial Corporation Limited



Short-term insurance contracts include both annuity products and group benefits.  

The annuity products classified as short-term insurance contracts are guaranteed investment options that 
provide for a fixed rate of return over a fixed period. Contracts include certain guarantees that are initiated 
upon death of the annuitant. The liabilities are determined using CALM.

The group benefits classified as short-term insurance contracts include short-term disability, health and 
dental benefits. Benefits are typically paid within one year of being incurred. Liabilities for unpaid claims 
are estimated using statistical analysis and Empire Life’s experience for claims incurred but not reported.

Long-term insurance contracts include insurance products, annuity products and group benefits. In all 
cases, liabilities represent an estimate of the amount that, together with estimated future premiums and 
investment income, will be sufficient to pay future benefits, dividends, expenses and taxes on policies in 
force.  

The insurance products so classified are life insurance and critical illness that provide for benefit 
payments related to death, survival or the occurrence of a critical illness. Terms extend over a long 
duration. The annuity products classified as long-term insurance contracts include both annuities that 
provide for income payments for the life of the annuitant and guarantees associated with Empire Life’s 
segregated fund products. The group benefits classified as long-term insurance contracts are life benefits 
which are payable upon death of the insured and disability benefits that provide for income replacement in 
case of disability.

The determination of long-term insurance contract liabilities requires best estimate assumptions that 
cover the remaining life of the policies. Due to the long-term risks and measurement uncertainties 
inherent in the life insurance business, a margin for adverse deviation from best estimates is included in 
each assumption. These margins allow for possible deterioration in future experience and provide for 
greater confidence that insurance contract liabilities are adequate to pay future benefits. The resulting 
provisions for adverse deviation have the effect of increasing insurance contract liabilities and decreasing 
the income that otherwise would have been recognized at policy inception. Assumptions are reviewed and 
updated at least annually and the impact of changes in those assumptions is reflected in gross claims and 
benefits in the consolidated statement of income in the year of the change.

Annually, the Appointed Actuary determines whether insurance contract liabilities (for both short-term and 
long-term categories) are sufficient to cover the obligations and deferred acquisition costs that relate to 
policies in force as at the date of the consolidated statement of financial position. A number of valuation 
methods are applied, including CALM, discounted cash flows and stochastic modeling. Aggregation levels 
and the level of prudence applied in assessing liability adequacy are consistent with requirements of the 
CIA. Any adjustment is recorded as a gross change in insurance contract liabilities and/or a change in 
insurance contract liabilities ceded in the consolidated statements of income.

Investment contracts include annuity products that do not involve the transfer of significant insurance risk, 
either at inception or during the life of the contract. For Empire Life, products so classified are limited to 
term certain annuities that provide for income payments for a specified period of time.

Investment contract liabilities are recognized when contracts are entered into and deposits are received. 
These liabilities are initially recognized at fair value, and subsequently they are carried at amortized cost 
based on expected future cash flows using the effective interest rate method. The expected future cash 
flows are re-estimated at each reporting date and the carrying amount of the financial liability is 
recalculated as the present value of estimated future cash flows using the financial liability’s original 
effective interest rate. Any adjustment is immediately recognized in the consolidated statements of 
income. Deposits and withdrawals are recorded in gross claims and benefits on the consolidated 
statements of financial position.
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ii) Premiums

Gross premiums for all types of insurance contracts are recognized as revenue when due and collection 
is reasonably assured. When premiums are recognized, policy liabilities are computed, with the result that 
benefits and expenses are matched with such revenue. Annuity premiums are comprised solely of new 
deposits on general fund products with a guaranteed rate of return and exclude deposits on segregated 
fund and investment contract products.

iii) Benefits and claims paid

Benefits are recorded as an expense when they are incurred. Annuity payments are expensed when due 
for payment. Health insurance claims are accounted for when there is sufficient evidence of their 
existence and a reasonable assessment can be made of the monetary amount involved. Benefits and 
claims paid include the direct costs of settlement. Reinsurance recoveries are accounted for in the same 
period as the related claim.

iv) Deferred acquisition costs

Distribution costs of segregated funds having a deferred sales charge are deferred and amortized over 
the term of the related deposits or the applicable period of such sales charge, as appropriate. These 
deferred costs form part of insurance contract liabilities on the consolidated statement of financial 
position. The costs deferred in the period and amortization of deferred costs form part of the change in 
insurance contract liabilities on the consolidated statements of income.

(l) Segregated funds 

Certain insurance contracts allow the policyholder to invest in segregated investment funds managed by 
Empire Life for the benefit of these policyholders. Although the underlying assets are registered in Empire 
Life’s name and the policyholder has no direct access to the specific assets, the contractual 
arrangements are such that the segregated fund policyholder bears the risk and rewards of the fund’s 
investment performance. Segregated fund assets are not available to pay liabilities of the general fund. 
The assets of these funds are carried at their period-end fair values. Empire Life records a segregated 
fund policy liability equal to the fair value of the assets and any guarantees are recorded as an insurance 
contract liability. Empire Life’s consolidated statements of income includes fee income earned for 
management of the segregated funds under investment and other income, as well as expenses related to 
the acquisition, investment management, administration and death benefit, maturity benefit and 
withdrawal guarantees of these funds. See Note 12 for details on segregated fund assets and changes in 
segregated fund assets.

Empire Life provides minimum guarantees on certain segregated fund contracts. These include minimum 
death, maturity and withdrawal benefit guarantees which are accounted for as insurance contracts. The 
actuarial liabilities associated with these minimum guarantees are recorded within insurance contract 
liabilities. Sensitivity of Empire Life’s liability for segregated fund guarantees to market fluctuations is 
disclosed in Note 22.

(m) Participating policyholders’ interest 

Certain life, disability and annuity policies issued by Empire Life are defined as participating policies by 
contractual provisions, and are eligible for periodic dividends. Empire Life maintains an account in respect 
of participating policies (“participating account”), separate from those maintained in respect of other 
policies, in the form and manner determined by the Office of the Superintendent of Financial Institutions 
under section 456-464 of the Insurance Companies Act. The participating account includes all policies 
issued by Empire Life that entitle its policyholders to participate in the profits of the participating account. 
Empire Life has discretion as to the amount and timing of dividend payments which take into 
consideration the continuing solvency of the participating account. Dividends are paid annually, with a few 
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older plans paying dividends every five years as per contractual provisions. Participating policyholder 
dividends are recognized as policy dividends expense in the consolidated statements of income.

At the end of the reporting period, all participating policy liabilities, both guaranteed and discretionary are 
held within insurance contract liabilities, policyholders’ funds on deposit, and provision for profits to 
policyholders. All participating policy reinsurance ceded at the end of the reporting period is held within 
reinsurance recoverable or reinsurance liabilities. Net income attributable to participating policyholders is 
shown on the consolidated statements of income. Comprehensive income attributable to participating 
policyholders is shown on the consolidated statements of comprehensive income. The portion of equity is 
reported separately in the Company’s total equity section of the consolidated statements of financial 
position.

(n) Investment and other income

Other income includes investment management, policy administration and guarantee fees that are 
recognized on an accrual basis, and surrender charges that are recognized as incurred. Fee income 
earned for investment management, administration and guarantees of the investment funds is based on 
the funds’ closing net asset values.

Interest income is recognized using the effective interest rate method. Fees that are an integral part of the 
effective yield of the financial asset are recognized as an adjustment to the effective interest rate of the 
instrument. 

Dividend income is recognized when the right to receive payment is established, which is usually the ex-
dividend date. 

Other income, interest income and dividend income are included in investment and other income in the 
consolidated statements of income for all financial assets. 

(o) Foreign currency translation

The Company uses the Canadian dollar as both its functional and presentational currency.

Foreign currency transactions are accounted for at the exchange rates prevailing at the date of the 
transactions. Gains and losses resulting from the settlement of such transactions, and from the translation 
of monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies, are recognized in the consolidated 
statements of income. 

Translation differences on FVTPL non-monetary items are reported as part of the fair value gain or loss. 
Translation differences on AFS non-monetary financial assets, such as foreign denominated AFS 
common equities, are recognized in OCI in the consolidated statements of comprehensive income. On 
derecognition of an AFS non-monetary financial asset, the cumulative exchange gain or loss previously 
recognized in OCI is recognized in the consolidated statements of income.

(p) Earnings per share (“EPS”)

Basic EPS is determined as net income attributed to common shareholders of the Company less 
dividends on First Preferred shares, divided by the weighted average number of common shares 
outstanding for the period. Common shares are determined based on the total Common Shares and 
Series A Preference Shares less the Company’s proportionate interest in its own Common Shares held 
indirectly through investments in associates.

Diluted EPS is determined as net income attributed to common shareholders of the Company less 
dividends on First Preferred Shares, divided by the weighted average number of diluted common shares 
outstanding for the period. Diluted common shares reflect the potential dilutive effect of converting the 
First Preference Shares into Common Shares.  

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
 (all dollar figures in thousands of Canadian dollars, except per share amounts and where otherwise stated) 

E-L Financial Corporation Limited 59



(q) Comprehensive income

Comprehensive income consists of net income and OCI. OCI includes items that may be reclassified 
subsequently to net income: unrealized gains or losses on AFS financial assets, net of amounts 
reclassified to net income (loss), the Company’s share of OCI of its associates and the amortization of 
loss on derivative investments designated as cash flow hedges. OCI also includes items that will not be 
reclassified to net income: remeasurements of post-employment benefit liabilities. All OCI amounts are 
net of taxes.

(r) Provisions

Provisions are recognized when the Company has a present legal or constructive obligation as a result of 
past events, it is probable that an outflow of resources will be required to settle the obligation, and the 
amount can be reliably estimated. If the outflow of economic benefits is not probable, a contingent liability 
is disclosed unless the possibility of an outflow of economic benefits is remote. Any change in estimate of 
a provision is recorded in the consolidated statements of income. Provisions are not recognized for future 
operating losses. Provisions are measured as the present value of the expected expenditures to settle the 
obligation using a discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and 
the risks specific to the obligation. 

(s) Leases

The Company leases certain property and equipment. When the Company enters into a lease as a 
lessee, a right-of-use asset and a lease liability is recognized in the consolidated statements of financial 
position. The initial lease liability is computed based on the present value of the lease payments, 
discounted at the Company's incremental borrowing rate. Subsequent to the initial recognition the lease 
liability is measured at the amortized cost using the effective interest rate method and is included in other 
liabilities. Interest expense is included in operating expenses. The depreciation on the corresponding 
right-of-use asset is included in operating expenses.

(t) Borrowings

Borrowings in subordinated debt and unsecured notes are initially recognized at fair value, net of 
incremental and directly attributable transaction costs, and subsequently measured at amortized cost. 
Interest expense on borrowings is recognized in the consolidated statement of income using the effective 
interest rate method. Borrowings are derecognized when extinguished, with any gain or loss on 
extinguishment recognized in other expenses in the consolidated statement of earnings.

(u) Accounting changes

New accounting pronouncements issued but not yet effective

IFRS 9 Financial Instruments 

IFRS 9, effective for periods beginning on or after January 1, 2018 with retrospective application replaces 
IAS 39 Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement with a new mixed measurement model 
having three measurement categories of amortized cost, fair value through other comprehensive income 
(“FVTOCI”) and FVTPL for financial assets. 

Under IFRS 9, all financial assets currently within the scope of IAS 39 will be measured at either 
amortized cost, FVTOCI or FVTPL. Classification will depend on the business model and the contractual 
cash flow characteristics of the financial asset. All equity instruments will be measured at FVTOCI or 
FVTPL. A debt instrument will be measured at amortized cost only if it is held to collect the contractual 
cash flows and the cash flows represent principal and interest. For financial liabilities designated as at 
FVTPL, the change in the fair value attributable to changes in the liability’s credit risk will be recognized in 
OCI. 
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On September 12, 2016, the IASB published an amendment to IFRS 4 Insurance Contracts (which will be 
subsequently changed to IFRS 17 Insurance Contracts). The amendment provides two solutions for 
insurance companies relating to IFRS 9: 

• a temporary exemption from IFRS 9 for entities that meet specific requirements (applied at the 
reporting entity level); and

• the ‘overlay approach’.

The Company has evaluated the criteria and will apply the temporary exemption for periods beginning 
before January 1, 2023, which allows continued application of IAS 39 instead of adopting IFRS 9, if the 
Company’s activities are ‘predominantly connected with insurance’.  

Per the amendments to IFRS 4 Applying IFRS 9 Financial Instruments with IFRS 4 Insurance Contracts, 
companies applying the temporary exemption are required to disclose fair value information with respect 
to their investments in financial assets whose contractual cash flows reflect solely payments of principal 
and interest on the principal amount outstanding (“SPPI”), to enable users of financial statements to 
compare insurers applying the temporary exemption with entities applying IFRS 9. The Company’s fixed 
income invested assets presented in Note 4 and 5 include cash equivalents, short-term investments, 
bonds, mortgages, loans on policies and policy contract loans and primarily have cash flows that qualify 
as SPPI. Fixed income invested assets which do not have SPPI qualifying cash flows as at December 31, 
2020 and December 31, 2019 include mortgages with fair values of $13,200 and $10,400, respectively.

The Company has considered the total insurance liabilities, which include segregated fund liabilities, 
against total liabilities and have concluded that the Company meets both criteria noted above. 

The Company is currently evaluating the impact of IFRS 9 on its consolidated financial statements.

IFRS 17 Insurance Contracts 

The IASB issued the final IFRS 17 Standard on June 25 2020. IFRS 17 provides a comprehensive 
principle-based framework for the recognition, measurement, presentation and disclosures of all 
insurance contracts.

The new standard will replace IFRS 4 Insurance contracts. IFRS 17 requires entities to measure 
insurance contract liabilities at their current fulfillment cash flows and for revenue to be recognized as the 
service is provided over the coverage period. This new standard is required to be adopted retrospectively, 
if this is impracticable, the modified retrospective or fair value method may be used.

The effective dates for IFRS 17 and IFRS 9 have been deferred to annual reporting periods beginning on 
or after January 1, 2023. The Company is currently assessing the impact of adopting this standard on its 
consolidated financial statements. 
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3.  Operating segments 

In managing its investments, the Company distinguishes between E-L Corporate and its investment in 
Empire Life. The Company’s E-L Corporate segment includes United Corporations Limited (“United”), the 
Company’s closed-end investment subsidiary, investments in associates and investments - corporate. 
Empire Life underwrites life and health insurance policies and provides segregated funds, mutual funds 
and annuity products. 

The following is an analysis of significant items of profit and loss by operating segment, operating 
segment assets and operating segment liabilities, reconciled to the Company’s consolidated financial 
statements. The accounting policies applied by the operating segments are the same as those for the 
Company as a whole.

Year ended December 31, 2020 E-L Corporate Empire Life Total
Revenues
Net premiums $ — $ 860,241 $ 860,241 
Investment and other income  129,914  580,766  710,680 
Share of loss of associates  (28,858)  —  (28,858) 
Fair value change in FVTPL investments  452,883  511,681  964,564 
Realized gain on AFS  —  29,414  29,414 

 553,939  1,982,102  2,536,041 
Expenses
Net claims and benefits  —  1,371,439  1,371,439 
Change in investment contracts provision  —  989  989 
Commissions  —  202,561  202,561 
Operating expenses  35,670  172,371  208,041 
Interest expense  6,360  14,437  20,797 
Premium taxes  —  18,742  18,742 

 42,030  1,780,539  1,822,569 
Income before income taxes  511,909  201,563  713,472 
Income tax expense  65,628  44,332  109,960 
Non-controlling interests in subsidiaries and participating 

policyholders’ interest  85,439  18,381  103,820 
Segment shareholders’ net income $ 360,842 $ 138,850 $ 499,692 

As at  December 31, 2020 E-L Corporate Empire Life Total

Segment assets (1) $ 6,229,470 $ 18,715,753 $ 24,945,223 
Segment liabilities $ 526,053 $ 16,768,683 $ 17,294,736 

(1) Segment assets include investments in associate assets of $266,570.
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Year ended December 31, 2019 E-L Corporate Empire Life Total
Revenues
Net premiums $ — $ 909,841 $ 909,841 
Investment and other income  145,154  587,462  732,616 
Share of income of associates  23,552  —  23,552 
Fair value change in FVTPL investments  646,486  595,712  1,242,198 
Realized loss on AFS investments  —  21,886  21,886 

 815,192  2,114,901  2,930,093 
Expenses
Net claims and benefits  —  1,456,715  1,456,715 
Change in investment contracts provision  —  937  937 
Commissions  —  198,754  198,754 
Operating expenses  35,003  176,240  211,243 
Interest expense  2,183  14,425  16,608 
Premium taxes  —  18,675  18,675 

 37,186  1,865,746  1,902,932 
Income before income taxes  778,006  249,155  1,027,161 
Income tax expense  106,982  58,497  165,479 
Non-controlling interests in subsidiaries and participating 

policyholders’ interest  99,226  17,811  117,037 
Segment shareholders’ net income $ 571,798 $ 172,847 $ 744,645 

As at  December 31, 2019 E-L Corporate Empire Life Total
Segment assets (1) $ 5,788,178 $ 17,960,789 $ 23,748,967 
Segment liabilities $ 345,175 $ 16,020,947 $ 16,366,122 

(1) Segment assets include investments in associate assets of $349,899. 

4.  Investments – corporate

Invested assets

Investments – corporate includes the investments held at the corporate level of E-L Financial and the 
investment holdings of it’s subsidiary, United Corporations Limited (“United”). 

The following table provides a comparison of carrying values by class of asset:

Carrying value 
December 31

2020
December 31

2019

Short-term investments - Canadian corporate $ — $ 13,189 

Preferred shares  1,058  1,058 

Common shares and units
Canadian  741,352  731,691 
U.S.  2,750,146  2,375,662 
Europe and United Kingdom  1,170,713  1,157,509 
Other  1,025,620  991,019 

Total common shares and units  5,687,831  5,255,881 
Total $ 5,688,889 $ 5,270,128 

The Company’s investment in common shares and units includes shares of public and private companies 
and units in pooled funds. As at December 31, 2020 and December 31, 2019 all of the invested assets 
have been designated FVTPL.
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Investments – measured at fair value

The table below provides a comparison of the fair values by class of asset:

Fair value As at December 31, 2020

Asset category
Quoted Prices 

(Level 1)

Significant 
other observable 

inputs 
(Level 2)

Significant 
unobservable 

inputs 
(Level 3)

Total
 fair value

Preferred shares $ — $ — $ 1,058 $ 1,058 

Common shares and units
Canadian  14,621  78,426  648,305  741,352 
U.S.  2,472,958  150,900  126,288  2,750,146 
Europe and United Kingdom  989,339  81,645  99,729  1,170,713 
Other  531,454  440,056  54,110  1,025,620 

Total common shares and units  4,008,372  751,027  928,432  5,687,831 
Total $ 4,008,372 $ 751,027 $ 929,490 $ 5,688,889 

Fair value As at December 31, 2019

Asset category
Quoted Prices 

(Level 1)

Significant 
other observable 

inputs 
(Level 2)

Significant 
unobservable 

inputs 
(Level 3)

Total
 fair value

Short-term investments - Canadian corporate $ — $ 13,189 $ — $ 13,189 

Preferred shares  —  —  1,058  1,058 

Common shares and units
Canadian  12,430  90,255  629,006  731,691 
U.S.  2,146,843  138,154  90,665  2,375,662 
Europe and United Kingdom  994,946  72,950  89,613  1,157,509 
Other  536,826  395,675  58,518  991,019 

Total common shares and units  3,691,045  697,034  867,802  5,255,881 
Total $ 3,691,045 $ 710,223 $ 868,860 $ 5,270,128 

The classification of a financial instrument into a level is based on the lowest level of input that is 
significant to the determination of the fair value. Transfers between fair value hierarchy levels are 
considered effective from the beginning of the reporting period in which the transfer is identified. There 
were no transfers of financial instruments between Level 1, Level 2 or Level 3 for the years ended 
December 31, 2020 or December 31, 2019. 

Included in Level 2 are the Company’s investments in pooled funds and limited partnerships which at 
December 31, 2020 had a carrying value of $751,027 (2019 - $697,034). The Company invests in pooled 
funds and limited partnerships whose objectives range from achieving medium to long-term capital growth 
and whose investment strategies do not include the use of leverage. These investments are managed by 
unrelated asset managers and apply various investment strategies to accomplish their respective 
investment objectives. The Company’s investments are susceptible to market price risk arising from the 
underlying investments. The Company holds redeemable units that entitle the holder to a proportional 
share in the respective assets. The Company has the right to redeem its investments within a 30 to 90 
day period depending on the fund or partnership.

Included in Level 3 are investments in common and preferred shares in private companies. The Company 
utilizes the adjusted net asset method to derive the fair value of investments in private companies by 
reference to the fair value of the underlying net assets, along with assessing a minority marketability 
discount and control block premium, if any. The adjustments are unobservable inputs for fair value 
measurement. The adjusted net asset method has been determined most appropriate for an investment 
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whose value is mainly derived from the holding of assets rather than from deploying those assets as part 
of a broader business. The Company identified a range of possible values which market participants 
could apply to the private companies. This analysis resulted in a range of plus or minus 10% of the fair 
value of the underlying net assets with a best estimate adjustment of zero. Taking this into account, the 
Company applied no minority marketability discount or premium to the fair value estimate of the private 
companies. If the minority marketability discount was 10% or if the premium was 10%, with all other 
variables remaining constant, net assets would have decreased or increased by approximately $80,633 
(2019 - $75,374).

2020 2019

Balance - January 1 $ 868,860 $ 787,322 

Net fair value change  31,930  65,216 

Sales  (1,902)  — 

Purchases  30,602  16,322 

Balance - December 31 $ 929,490 $ 868,860 

Derivative financial instrument

On November 1, 2017, the Company entered into an interest rate swap with a $100,000 notional 
principal. The use of derivatives is measured in terms of notional principal amounts, which serve as the 
basis for calculating payments but is not the actual amount that is exchanged. At December 31, 2020 the 
fair value of the interest rate swap was a liability of $3,263 (2019 - $543).

The contract matures on November 1, 2022. The interest rate swap is valued based on the contract 
notional amount and changes in underlying interest rates, calculating the difference between the fixed and 
floating interest rates at the end of a given period. The interest rate swap is classified as Level 2 as the 
interest rates between the two parties are observable and reliable.

For analysis of the Company’s risks arising from financial instruments, refer to Note 22 – Investment risk 
management.
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5.  Investments – insurance

The Empire Life Insurance Company (“Empire Life”) invested assets

The following table provides a comparison of carrying values by class of asset:

Carrying Value As at December 31, 2020 As at December 31, 2019

Asset category

Fair value
through

profit or loss
Available

for sale

Total
carrying

 value

Fair value
through

profit or loss
Available

for sale

Total
carrying

 value

Short-term investments
Canadian federal government $ 4,999 $ 4,999 $ 9,998 $ 13,988 $ — $ 13,988 
Canadian provincial governments  —  —  —  6,463  —  6,463 
Canadian municipal governments  —  —  —  897  —  897 
Corporate  3,010  —  3,010  11,036  —  11,036 

Total short-term investments  8,009  4,999  13,008  32,384  —  32,384 

Bonds
Federal government  8,013  252,719  260,732  8,050  226,594  234,644 
Provincial governments  3,554,583  543,756  4,098,339  3,706,755  475,970  4,182,725 
Municipal governments  117,558  95,069  212,627  106,418  102,340  208,758 

Total Canadian government bonds  3,680,154  891,544  4,571,698  3,821,223  804,904  4,626,127 

Energy  141,206  62,341  203,547  107,996  60,018  168,014 
Materials  16,193  7,030  23,223  15,799  6,822  22,621 
Industrials  90,584  49,751  140,335  61,155  66,411  127,566 
Consumer discretionary  15,068  6,336  21,404  15,263  991  16,254 
Consumer staples  198,407  72,255  270,662  130,116  65,905  196,021 
Health care  81,884  9,319  91,203  87,721  22,081  109,802 
Financial services  642,664  363,736  1,006,400  615,089  296,760  911,849 
Information technology  181  5,116  5,297  —  —  — 
Communication services  284,443  42,202  326,645  181,108  75,261  256,369 
Utilities  628,449  77,174  705,623  479,903  99,925  579,828 
Real estate  42,655  18,718  61,373  18,145  18,591  36,736 
Infrastructure  418,409  59,328  477,737  319,442  30,810  350,252 

Total Canadian corporate bonds  2,560,143  773,306  3,333,449  2,031,737  743,575  2,775,312 
Total foreign bonds  122,633  —  122,633  108,213  —  108,213 
Total bonds  6,362,930  1,664,850  8,027,780  5,961,173  1,548,479  7,509,652 

Preferred shares - Canadian  606,664  10,238  616,902  463,826  10,203  474,029 

Common shares
Canadian common shares  172,172  47,734  219,906  111,461  44,247  155,708 
Exchange-traded funds  501,905  —  501,905  494,131  —  494,131 
Canadian real estate limited 

partnership units  121,290  —  121,290  120,884  —  120,884 
U.S.  42,046  —  42,046  42,306  —  42,306 
Other  33,553  —  33,553  29,000  —  29,000 

Total common shares  870,966  47,734  918,700  797,782  44,247  842,029 

Derivative assets  5,377  —  5,377  2,930  —  2,930 

Loans and receivables:
Mortgages  —  —  157,214  —  —  169,827 
Loans on policies  —  —  56,458  —  —  55,363 
Policy contract loans  —  —  60,407  —  —  66,520 
Total $ 7,853,946 $ 1,727,821 $ 9,855,846 $ 7,258,095 $ 1,602,929 $ 9,152,734 
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Empire Life investments – measured at fair value

The table below provides a comparison of the fair values by class of asset:

Fair value As at December 31, 2020 As at December 31, 2019

Asset category

Quoted 
Prices 

(Level 1)

Significant other 
observable inputs

(Level 2)
Total

fair value

Quoted 
Prices 

(Level 1)

Significant other 
observable inputs

(Level 2)
Total

fair value

Short-term investments $ — $ 13,008 $ 13,008 $ — $ 32,384 $ 32,384 
Bonds  —  8,027,780  8,027,780  —  7,509,652  7,509,652 
Preferred shares  616,902  —  616,902  474,029  —  474,029 
Common shares  797,009  121,691  918,700  721,105  120,924  842,029 

Derivative assets  5,361  16  5,377  2,928  2  2,930 

Loans and receivables:

Mortgages  —  170,886  170,886  —  175,229  175,229 

Loans on policies  —  56,458  56,458  —  55,363  55,363 

Policy contract loans  —  60,407  60,407  —  66,520  66,520 

Total $ 1,419,272 $ 8,450,246 $ 9,869,518 $ 1,198,062 $ 7,960,074 $ 9,158,136 

The fair value of mortgages has been calculated by discounting cash flows of each mortgage at a 
discount rate appropriate to its remaining term to maturity. The discount rates are determined based on 
regular competitive rate surveys. The fair values of loans on policies and policy contract loans 
approximates their carrying values, due to the life insurance contracts that secure them.

The classification of a financial instrument into a level is based on the lowest level of input that is 
significant to the determination of the fair value. There were no transfers of financial instruments between 
Level 1, Level 2 or Level 3 during the year ended December 31, 2020 or during the year ended 
December 31, 2019.

Impairment

AFS investments

Based on an impairment review of the AFS investments at December 31, 2020, Empire Life reclassified a 
pre-tax loss of $4,252 from OCI to net income due to write downs of impaired AFS common and preferred 
shares (2019 - $1,811). Impairment was assessed on these investments due to a number of factors, 
including the severity of the unrealized loss compared to the cost and the amount of time the investment 
had an unrealized loss.

Loans and receivables

Assets classified as mortgages and policy contract loans are reviewed for possible impairment. As a 
result of this review, mortgages with a recorded value of $6,337 (2019 - $5,531) have been reduced by an 
allowance for impairment of $3,147 (2019 -  $2,678) and policy contract loans with a recorded value of 
$813 (2019 - $813) have been reduced by an allowance for impairment of $444 (2019 - $460). 

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
 (all dollar figures in thousands of Canadian dollars, except per share amounts and where otherwise stated) 

E-L Financial Corporation Limited 67



Empire Life derivative financial instruments

The values of derivative instruments are set out in the following table. The use of derivatives is measured 
in terms of notional principal amounts, which serve as the basis for calculating payments and are 
generally not actual amounts that are exchanged.

December 31, 2020 December 31, 2019

Notional 
Principal

Fair Value 
Assets

Fair Value 
Liabilities

Notional 
Principal

Fair Value 
Assets

Fair Value 
Liabilities

Exchange-traded

Equity index futures $ 104,315 $ 3,325 $ 43 $ 49,964 $ 585 $ 28 

Equity options  122,828  2,033  —  537,772  2,342  — 

Over-the-counter

Foreign currency forwards  34,114  16  7  37,103  3  402 

Cross currency swaps  20,980  3  1,360  20,980  —  1,610 

Total $ 282,237 $ 5,377 $ 1,410 $ 645,819 $ 2,930 $ 2,040 

All contracts mature in less than one year. Fair value of exchange traded derivatives is determined based 
on Level 1 inputs. Foreign currency forward contracts are valued based primarily on the contract notional 
amount, the difference between the contract rate and the forward market rate for the same currency, 
interest rates and credit spreads. 

Cross currency swaps are valued by discounting the future cash flows for both legs at the underlying 
market interest rate curves in each currency applicable at the valuation date. The sum of the cash flows 
denoted in the foreign currency is converted with the spot rate applicable at that time. The foreign 
currency leg, where Empire Life owes interest and principal, produces a negative fair value to Empire Life 
while the Canadian dollar leg produces a positive fair value to Empire Life. The net of these amounts 
represents the reported fair value of the cross currency swap. Contracts for which counterparty credit 
spreads are observable and reliable, or for which the credit-related inputs are determined not to be 
significant to fair value, are classified as Level 2.

For analysis of the risks arising from financial instruments, refer to Note 22 – Investment risk 
management.
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6.  Investments in associates
Investments in associates by operating segment are as follows:

2020 2019
E-L Corporate $ 245,269 $ 332,359 
Empire Life  21,301  17,540 
Total $ 266,570 $ 349,899 

The E-L Corporate segment has two investments in associates, Algoma Central Corporation (“Algoma”) 
and Economic Investment Trust Limited (“Economic”).

Algoma is incorporated in Canada and is listed on the Toronto Stock Exchange under the symbol “ALC”. 
Algoma owns and operates the largest Canadian flag fleet of dry and liquid bulk carriers operating on the 
Great Lakes - St. Lawrence Waterway.

Economic is a closed-end investment corporation incorporated in Canada and is listed on the Toronto 
Stock Exchange under the symbol “EVT”. Economic is an investment vehicle for long-term growth through 
investments in common equities.

2020 2019

Ownership
Carrying 

value Fair value Ownership
Carrying 

value Fair value
Algoma  37.4 % $ 98,306 $ 196,841  37.0 % $ 185,409 $ 184,397 
Economic  24.1 %  146,963  146,963  24.0 %  146,950  146,950 
Total $ 245,269 $ 343,804 $ 332,359 $ 331,347 

The following table details the movement during the year:
2020 2019

Balance, beginning of the year $ 332,359 $ 334,913 

Income recorded in the statements of income:
Share of income  29,552  29,331 
Net impairment loss  (58,410)  (5,779) 

 (28,858)  23,552 
Share of other comprehensive loss  (10,020)  (6,710) 

 (38,878)  16,842 
Dividends received during the year  (48,212)  (19,396) 
Balance, end of the year $ 245,269 $ 332,359 

The E-L Corporate’s associates are measured using the equity method. As at December 31, 2020, the fair 
value of the investments in associates was $343,804 (2019 - $331,347). Fair value is based on the close 
price for each investment multiplied by the corresponding number of common shares held. 

Impairment

The Company is required to test the values of its associates for impairment by comparing their carrying 
values to their recoverable amount which is the higher of their fair value less costs of disposal and their 
values in use. Economic and Algoma have historically traded at discounts to their net asset values. In 
performing its impairment assessments, the Company regards the fair value less costs of disposal as the 
most objective evidence of the net recoverable amounts of Economic and Algoma, since the Company 
cannot unilaterally control the timing of realization of any benefit related to the difference between the 
traded price and their net asset values. 
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Based on an impairment review of the investments in associates at December 31, 2020, an impairment 
loss of $58,410 (2019 - $5,779) on Economic and Algoma has been recorded in net income. Impairment 
was assessed on these investments due to a number of factors, including the severity of the unrealized 
loss compared to the carrying value.

Financial information

Summarized below are the assets, liabilities, revenue, net income and comprehensive income of E-L 
Corporate’s associates.

Algoma Economic
December 31

2020
December 31

2019
December 31

2020
December 31

2019

Cash and cash equivalents $ 103,910 $ 18,865 $ 11,246 $ 36,106 
Other current assets  84,866  95,564  980,608  948,089 
Non-current assets  1,034,320  1,032,948  —  — 

 1,223,096  1,147,377  991,854  984,195 

Current liabilities  179,323  156,845  817  3,093 
Non-current liabilities  483,157  330,111  75,046  77,486 

 662,480  486,956  75,863  80,579 
Net assets $ 560,616 $ 660,421 $ 915,991 $ 903,616 

Algoma Economic
Twelve months ended December 31 2020 2019 2020 2019

Revenue $ 545,660 $ 567,908 $ 35,501 $ 134,354 

Net income $ 45,850 $ 24,159 $ 30,100 $ 113,510 
Other comprehensive loss  (26,787)  (14,342)  —  — 
Total comprehensive income $ 19,063 $ 9,817 $ 30,100 $ 113,510 

At December 31, 2020, Algoma has capital asset commitments of $38,807 (2019 - $105,404). 

E-L Corporate received the following dividends during the year from the associates:

Algoma Economic Total
2020 2019 2020 2019 2020 2019

Dividends received $ 44,545 $ 16,403 $ 3,667 $ 2,993 $ 48,212 $ 19,396 
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7.  Investment and other income

Investment and other income is comprised of the following:

2020 2019
Interest income $ 272,529 $ 278,842 
Fee income  251,343  261,745 
Dividend income  180,560  187,389 
Other  6,248  4,640 
Total $ 710,680 $ 732,616 

2020 2019
Interest income received $ 194,401 $ 193,286 
Dividend income received  134,742  182,930 
Total $ 329,143 $ 376,216 

8.  Cash and cash equivalents 

Cash and cash equivalents are short term, highly liquid instruments that are subject to insignificant 
changes in value and are readily convertible into known amounts of cash. Cash equivalents comprise 
financial assets with maturities of three months or less from the date of acquisition. Cash and cash 
equivalents are measured at fair value under Level 1 or Level 2 of the fair value hierarchy. Components of 
cash and cash equivalents for purposes of the consolidated statements of cash flows are as follows:

2020 2019
Cash $ 273,602 $ 91,509 
Cash equivalents  154,155  211,576 
Total $ 427,757 $ 303,085 

The following table presents the cash and cash equivalents classified by the fair value hierarchy:

Cash and cash equivalents Level 1 Level 2 Total fair value
December 31, 2020 $ 273,602 $ 154,155 $ 427,757 
December 31, 2019 $ 91,509 $ 211,576 $ 303,085 

9.  Other assets

Other assets are comprised of the following:

2020 2019
Accrued investment income(1) $ 79,140 $ 38,187 
Income taxes receivable  41,524  6,771 
Property and equipment  21,038  25,237 
Intangible assets  27,983  22,357 
Other  32,526  33,258 
Total $ 202,211 $ 125,810 

(1) Includes a special dividend from the Company’s investment in associate, Algoma of $37,473 paid in January 2021.

The amount of other assets that the Company expects to receive within the next 12 months is $153,190 
(2019 - $78,216).
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10.  Other liabilities

Other liabilities are comprised of the following: 

2020 2019
Accounts payable $ 64,581 $ 74,445 
Employee benefit liabilities (Note 13)  71,071  43,179 
Income and other taxes payable  9,833  44,592 
Insurance payables  114,938  95,578 
Other  14,314  13 
Total $ 274,737 $ 257,807 

Of the above total, 71,071 (2019 - $43,179) is expected to be settled more than one year after the 
statement of financial position date. 

11.  Guarantees and other contingencies

The Company’s by-laws provide indemnification to its current and former directors, officers and 
employees to the extent permitted by law, against liabilities arising from their service to the Company. The 
broad general nature of these indemnifications does not permit a reasonable estimate of the maximum 
potential amount of any liability.

In connection with its operations, the Company is from time to time named as a defendant in actions for 
damages and costs allegedly sustained by plaintiffs. While it is not possible to estimate the outcome of 
the various proceedings at this time, the Company does not believe that it will incur any material loss or 
expense in connection with such actions.

The Company’s subsidiary, Empire Life, operates in the insurance industry and is subject to legal 
proceedings in the normal course of business. While it is not practicable to forecast or determine the final 
results of all pending or threatened legal proceedings, management does not believe that such 
proceedings (including litigations) will have a material effect on the results and financial position of the 
subsidiary. In certain cases, Empire Life would have recourse against third parties with respect to the 
foregoing items and Empire Life also maintains insurance policies that may provide coverage against 
certain of these items.

The Company has agreed to indemnify the purchaser of The Dominion of Canada General Insurance 
Company for losses arising out of breaches of representations, warranties and covenants following 
closing of the sale on November 1, 2013. The indemnities survive for periods ranging from 21 months to 8 
years, and in some limited cases with no term limitations. The Company has not recorded any liabilities 
with respect to these indemnities and while it is not possible to estimate the outcome of any such matters, 
the Company does not believe it will incur any material loss. The nature of the indemnifications does not 
permit a reasonable estimate of the maximum potential amount of any liability.
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12.  Segregated funds

The following table identifies segregated fund assets by category of asset:

2020 2019
Cash and cash equivalents $ 34,871 $ 8,482 
Short-term investments  410,641  595,621 
Bonds  1,866,564  1,857,955 
Common and preferred shares  6,207,527  6,100,714 
Other assets  20,320  13,577 

 8,539,923  8,576,349 
Less segregated funds held within general fund investments  (82,506)  (77,766) 
Total $ 8,457,417 $ 8,498,583 

The following table presents the investments of the segregated funds measured on a recurring basis at 
fair value classified by the fair value hierarchy:

2020 2019
Level 1 Level 2 Total Level 1 Level 2 Total

Cash and cash equivalents $ 34,871 $ — $ 34,871 $ 8,482 $ — $ 8,482 
Short-term investments  —  410,641  410,641  —  595,621  595,621 
Bonds  —  1,866,564  1,866,564  —  1,857,955  1,857,955 
Common and preferred 

shares  6,207,527  —  6,207,527  6,100,714  —  6,100,714 
Total $ 6,242,398 $ 2,277,205 $ 8,519,603 $ 6,109,196 $ 2,453,576 $ 8,562,772 

There were no transfers between Level 1 and Level 2 during the years ended December 31, 2020 and 
December 31, 2019. There were no level 3 investments as at December 31, 2020 and December 31, 
2019.

The following table presents the change in segregated funds:

2020 2019
Segregated funds - beginning of the year $ 8,498,583 $ 7,822,790 

Additions to segregated funds:
   Amount received from policyholders  774,960  895,265 
   Interest  60,001  64,909 
   Dividends  157,007  165,247 
   Other income  15,676  23,061 
   Net realized gains on sale of investments  11,173  251,403 
   Net unrealized increase in fair value of investments  190,114  756,655 

 1,208,931  2,156,540 
Deductions from segregated funds:
   Amounts withdrawn or transferred by policyholders  1,014,459  1,220,537 
   Management fees and other operating costs  230,898  242,868 

 1,245,357  1,463,405 
Net change in segregated funds held within general fund investments  (4,740)  (17,342) 
Segregated funds - end of the year $ 8,457,417 $ 8,498,583 

Empire Life’s exposure to segregated fund guarantee risk

Segregated fund products issued by Empire Life contain death, maturity and withdrawal benefit 
guarantees. Market price fluctuations impact Empire Life’s estimated liability for those guarantees. 
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13.  Employee benefit plans 

The following tables present financial information for Empire Life’s defined benefit plans.

Pension Benefit Plans
Other Post-Employment

Benefits Plans
2020 2019 2020 2019

Present value of obligations $ (299,762) $ (265,578) $ (9,043) $ (8,777) 
Fair value of plan assets  237,734  231,176  —  — 
Post-employment benefit liability $ (62,028) $ (34,402) $ (9,043) $ (8,777) 

The post-employment benefit liability, net of the cumulative impact of the asset ceiling, is included in the 
consolidated statement of financial position in other liabilities.

The movement in the present value of the Plans’ defined benefit obligations over the year is as follows:

Pension Benefit Plans
Other Post-Employment

Benefits Plans
Present Value of Defined Benefit Obligation 2020 2019 2020 2019

Opening defined benefit obligation $ 265,578 $ 233,611 $ 8,777 $ 8,418 
Current service cost  8,134  6,447  —  — 
Past service cost  —  4,282  —  — 
Interest expense  8,235  8,847  261  302 
Decrease in net income before tax  16,369  19,576  261  302 

Remeasurements
Loss from changes in demographic
    assumptions  4,909  —  —  — 
Loss from changes in financial
    assumptions  21,615  24,347  608  578 
Actuarial loss ( gain) from member experience  1,925  (119)  (239)  (239) 
Decrease in OCI before tax  28,449  24,228  369  339 
Employee contributions  1,406  1,470  —  — 
Benefits paid  (12,040)  (13,307)  (364)  (282) 

Closing defined benefit obligation $ 299,762 $ 265,578 $ 9,043 $ 8,777 

The movement in the fair value of the Plan’s assets over the year is as follows:

Pension Benefit Plans
Fair Value of Defined Benefit Assets 2020 2019

   Fair value at beginning of year $ 231,176 $ 204,047 
   Interest income  7,224  7,805 
   Administrative expense  (300)  (250) 
   Increase in net income before tax  6,924  7,555 
Remeasurements
   Return on plan assets, excluding amounts included in interest income  3,663  22,828 

   Employer contributions  6,605  8,583 
   Employee contributions  1,406  1,470 
   Benefits paid  (12,040)  (13,307) 
Fair value of Plan assets at end of year $ 237,734 $ 231,176 

Operating expenses include $2,368 (2019 - $2,181) of employer contribution related to the defined 
contribution component of the Plan.

Expected contributions (including both employer and employee amounts) to the defined benefit pension 
plans for the year ended December 31, 2020 are approximately $8,702.

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
 (all dollar figures in thousands of Canadian dollars, except per share amounts and where otherwise stated) 

74 E-L Financial Corporation Limited



The Plan invests primarily in Empire Life segregated and mutual funds. The fair value of the underlying 
assets of the funds and other investments are included in the following table:

Pension Assets
2020 2019

Equity
Canadian $ 72,803  31 % $ 77,564  34 %
Foreign  59,309  25 %  52,484  23 %

Total Equity  132,112  56 %  130,048  57 %

Debt
Canadian  70,157  30 %  67,121  29 %

Cash, cash equivalent, accruals  6,477  3 %  7,687  3 %
Mutual Funds  14,627  6 %  12,633  5 %
Other  14,361  5 %  13,687  6 %
Total fair value of assets $ 237,734  100 % $ 231,176  100 %

Fair value is determined based on Level 1 inputs for equities and Level 2 inputs for debt.

The following weighted average assumptions were used in actuarial calculations:

Pension Benefit Plans
Other Post-Employment

Benefits Plans
2020 2019 2020 2019

Defined benefit obligation as at December 31:
Discount rate - defined benefit obligation  2.6 %  3.2 %  2.4 %  3.1 %
Discount rate - net interest  3.2 %  3.9 %  3.1 %  3.7 %
Rate of compensation increase  3.0 %  3.0 % n/a n/a

Assumed health care cost trend rates at December 31:
Initial health care cost trend rate n/a n/a  5.5 %  5.5 %
Cost trend rate declines to n/a n/a  4.0 %  4.0 %
Year ultimate health care cost trend rate is reached n/a n/a 2040 2040

Assumptions (in number of years) relating to future mortality to determine the defined benefit obligation 
and the net benefit cost for the defined benefit pension plans are as follows:

2020 2019
Males aged 65 at measurement date  22.05  21.97 
Females aged 65 at measurement date  24.74  24.66 
Males aged 40 at measurement date  23.90  23.83 
Females aged 40 at measurement date  26.41  26.34 

The last triennial valuation on the Staff Pension Plan was completed in November 2020, as at December 
31, 2019. The next triennial valuation will be completed in 2023, as at December 31, 2022.

Restricted Share Units and Deferred Share Units 

During 2018 a long-term incentive plan was approved by the Board whereby the Company may grant two 
forms of awards: Restricted Share Units (“RSUs”) and Deferred Share Units (“DSUs”) to employees or 
officers of the Company. The RSUs and DSUs granted is equal to the dollar amount of the award, divided 
by the traded market price of one Common Share of the Company on the date of such grant. As dividends 
are paid on the Common Shares of the Company, grants of RSUs and DSUs are increased accordingly. 
Each RSU and DSU will represent the right to receive a distribution from the Company in an amount 
equal to the fair market value of one Common Share. RSUs and DSUs are settled in cash. Each RSU will 
vest and is payable on the third anniversary of the grant date. Each DSU will vest on the fifth anniversary 
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of the grant date and is payable on the date the participant of the plan ceases to be an employee or 
officer of the Company due to retirement or other condition. 

During 2020, 531 RSUs and 238 DSUs were granted, no amounts were distributed or forfeited. At 
December 31, 2020 $852 (2019 - $425) was recognized as other liabilities and $427 (2019 - $305) as an 
operating expense for these awards.

14.  Insurance contract liabilities and reinsurance liabilities

Nature and composition of Empire Life’s insurance contract liabilities and related reinsurance insurance 
contract liabilities include life, health and annuity contracts on a participating and non-participating basis. 

Changes in actuarial assumptions are made based on emerging and evolving experience with respect to 
major factors affecting estimates of future cash flows and consideration of economic forecasts of 
investment returns, industry and internal studies and requirements of the CIA and OSFI. 

Insurance contract liabilities represent the amounts that, together with estimated future premiums and 
investment income, will be sufficient to pay estimated future benefits, dividends, expenses, and premium 
taxes on policies in force. Insurance contract liabilities are determined using accepted actuarial practice 
according to standards established by the CIA and the requirements of OSFI. 

Empire Life reinsures excess risks with Canadian regulated reinsurance companies. The reinsurance 
assets (liabilities) are determined based on both the premiums expected to be paid under reinsurance 
agreements over the duration of the insurance contracts that they support and the insurance claims 
expected to be received by Empire Life when an insured event occurs under those insurance contracts. 
The liability position of some of the reinsurance is due to the excess of future premiums payable over the 
expected benefit of reinsurance. The change in reinsurance liability is primarily related to Empire Life’s 
revised mortality assumptions, which reduce the present value of insurance claims expected to be 
recovered from the reinsurance companies. Empire Life enters into reinsurance agreements only with 
reinsurance companies that have an independent credit rating of “A-” or better. 

Reinsurance transactions do not relieve the original insurer of its primary obligation to policyholders. 

Empire Life is active in most life insurance and annuity product lines across Canada and does not operate 
in foreign markets. 

Empire Life’s insurance contract liabilities are comprised of:

2020 2019

Insurance contract liabilities $ 7,145,461 $ 6,073,868 

Policyholder funds on deposit  34,817  34,224 

Provision for profits to policyholders  36,124  32,924 

$ 7,216,402 $ 6,141,016 
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The change in insurance contract liabilities on a gross and net basis is as follows:

2020 2019
Gross 

insurance 
contract 
liabilities

Reinsurance 
(assets) 
liabilities Net

Gross 
insurance 
contract 
liabilities

Reinsurance 
(assets) 
liabilities Net

Balance, beginning of year $ 6,073,868 $ 698,372 $ 6,772,240 $ 5,176,423 $ 788,801 $ 5,965,224 
Changes in methods and assumptions
Non-participating policies

- changes for expected mortality/morbidity  65,030  (1,116)  63,914  (60,206)  47,618  (12,588) 
- update of mortality table  185,705  (261,583)  (75,878)  137,622  (292,750)  (155,128) 
- lapse/premium assumptions  114,801  (15,614)  99,187  31,968  (5,393)  26,575 
- investment return assumptions  120,160  (23,949)  96,211  119,718  16,964  136,682 
- model enhancements and other  (37,030)  25,363  (11,667)  59,077  10,783  69,860 
- reinsurance recapture  (7,491)  (12,093)  (19,584)  (3,084)  (103,486)  (106,570) 
− deferred future tax liability modeling  (108,116)  (8,527)  (116,643)  —  —  — 

Participating policies
- model enhancements and other changes  (497)  191  (306)  (9,634)  3,967  (5,667) 

Normal changes 
- new business  (30,897)  (1,484)  (32,381)  31,649  2,292  33,941 
- in-force business  769,928  (14,799)  755,129  590,335  229,576  819,911 

Balance, end of year $ 7,145,461 $ 384,761 $ 7,530,222 $ 6,073,868 $ 698,372 $ 6,772,240 

Net changes in methods and assumptions summarized in the above tables are further explained as 
follows: 

Changes in 2020 related to expected mortality projections are primarily related to revised assumptions for 
renewable term business. Changes made in 2019 for expected mortality were primarily related to revised 
projected assumptions for the individual life business, and to projected morbidity assumptions for group 
long-term disability (“Group LTD”) business.

In 2019 the universal life and non-participating individual insurance mortality tables were replaced by 
more recent industry tables. Actual/expected ratios were updated based on a combination of Empire Life  
and industry experience. Partial credit was taken for this change in 2019, with the remainder recognized 
in 2020.

In 2020 the lapse/premium assumption change is related to updates of assumed lapse rates on 
renewable term, non-par whole life and universal life polices as experience continues to unfold. In 2019 
the lapse/premium assumption change was primarily related to updates to assumed lapse rates on 
renewable term policies, including a refinement on skew lapses for non-participating 10-year renewable 
term products.

In 2020 the investment return assumptions change is primarily related to two updates. On the individual 
insurance lines, decreases in the initial reinvestment rate (“IRR”) used in the valuation produced a liability 
increase. For segregated funds, liability increases are mainly due to fund mapping refinements as 
additional experience emerges. The primary drivers of the investment return change for 2019 were 
updates to the IRR and ultimate reinvestment rate (“URR”) in the future scenario. Updates were also 
made to the equity mean reversion rate, the overall equity level in the production valuation model, and to 
the maturity assumptions for preferred shares. However, these items had a less significant impact when 
compared with the IRR and URR updates.

In 2019, the Company enacted significant changes to its reinsurance programs. Specifically, the 
reinsurers of the Company’s individual life policies were notified that in 2020 the Company will increase its 
individual life retention from $500 to $1,500 and the recapture provisions of all eligible reinsurance 
treaties would be enacted. The recapture resulted in a substantial net liability decrease on both the 
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universal life and nonparticipating blocks of business as the present value of future reinsurance premiums 
was greater than the estimated future claims. An additional amount was recognized in 2020 as provisions 
from the actuarial liabilities were released. 

Actuarial standards allow for a wide range of practice with respect to capitalization of the preferred tax 
treatment of dividends on Canadian equities that are supporting actuarial liabilities. In 2020, Empire Life 
updated its projections to be more consistent with industry practice, which resulted in a significant 
reduction in insurance contract liabilities.

Empire Life expects to pay $7,060,918 (2019 - $5,996,977) of insurance contract liabilities and $400,547 
(2019 - $704,339) of reinsurance liabilities more than one year after the consolidated statements of 
financial position date. The remaining balance is expected to be settled within one year.

For additional analysis of Empire Life’s insurance risk please see Note 23 - Insurance risk management.

15.  Capital stock 

2020 2019

Authorized
Issued and 
outstanding

Issued and 
outstanding

Preferred shares
   Series A Preference Shares (1) 402,733  258 $ 1  258 $ 1 
   First Preference Shares, Series 1 (2a) unlimited  4,000,000  100,000  4,000,000  100,000 
   First Preference Shares, Series 2 (2b) unlimited  4,000,000  100,000  4,000,000  100,000 
   First Preference Shares, Series 3 (2c) unlimited  4,000,000  100,000  4,000,000  100,000 
Common Shares unlimited  3,708,576  66,792  4,019,409  72,387 
Total $ 366,793 $ 372,388 

1. The Series A Preference Shares are convertible, at the shareholder’s option, into Common Shares on a 
share for share basis and are entitled, when and if declared, to a non-cumulative dividend of $0.50 per 
share per annum. The Series A Preference Shares and Common Shares are each entitled to one vote per 
share.

2. The First Preference Shares of each series rank pari passu with every other series of First Preference 
Shares and in priority to the Common Shares and the Series A Preference Shares of the Company with 
respect to the payment of dividends and the distribution of assets on the dissolution, liquidation or winding 
up of the Company. As at December 31, 2020 there were three series of First Preference Shares 
outstanding; the First Preference Shares, Series 1, the First Preference Shares, Series 2 and the First 
Preference Shares, Series 3. The First Preference Shares are non-voting unless there has been a 
specified default in the payment of dividends or to approve of modifications attending to the series of 
shares.

(a) The First Preference Shares, Series 1 are entitled, if and when declared, to fixed non-cumulative 
preferential cash dividends at a rate equal to $1.325 per share per annum. The Company may 
redeem for cash the First Preference Shares, Series 1 in whole or in part, at the Company’s option at 
$25.00 per share, in each case together with all declared and unpaid dividends.

The Company may convert all or any part of the outstanding First Preference Shares, Series 1 into 
that number of Common Shares determined by dividing by the then applicable redemption price, 
together with all declared and unpaid dividends to the date of conversion, by the greater of $1.00 and 
95% of the weighted average trading price of the Common Shares on the Toronto Stock Exchange for 
the 20 consecutive trading days ending on the fourth day prior to the conversion date.

(b) The First Preference Shares, Series 2 are entitled, if and when declared, to fixed non-cumulative 
preferential cash dividends at a rate equal to $1.1875 per share per annum. The Company may 
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redeem for cash the First Preference Shares, Series 2 in whole or in part, at the Company’s option at 
$25.00 per share, in each case together with all declared and unpaid dividends.

The Company may convert all or any part of the outstanding First Preference Shares, Series 2 into 
that number of Common Shares determined by dividing by the then applicable redemption price, 
together with all declared and unpaid dividends to the date of conversion, by the greater of $1.00 and 
95% of the weighted average trading price of the Common Shares on the Toronto Stock Exchange for 
the 20 consecutive trading days ending on the fourth day prior to the conversion date.

(c) The First Preference Shares, Series 3, are entitled, if and when declared, to fixed non-cumulative 
preferential cash dividends at a rate equal to $1.375 per share per annum. The Company could 
redeem for cash the First Preference Shares, Series 3 in whole or in part, at the Company’s option 
for: $25.25 per share if redeemed on or after April 17, 2020 and prior to April 17, 2021; and $25.00 
per share if redeemed on or after April 17, 2021, in each case, together with all declared and unpaid 
dividends up to but excluding the date of redemption.

The Company may convert all or any part of the outstanding First Preference Shares, Series 3 into 
that number of Common Shares determined by dividing by the then applicable redemption price, 
together with all declared and unpaid dividends to the date of conversion, by the greater of $1.00 and 
95% of the weighted average trading price of the Common Shares on the Toronto Stock Exchange for 
the 20 consecutive trading days ending on the fourth day prior to the conversion date.

Normal course issuer bid

On March 9, 2020, the Company obtained approval from the TSX to commence a normal course issuer 
bid (“NCIB”) to purchase up to 200,970 Common Shares between March 9, 2020 and March 8, 2021. 
Daily purchases (other than pursuant to a block purchase exemption) on the TSX under the NCIB are 
limited to 1,000 Common Shares. The price that the Company pays for the Common Shares is the 
prevailing market price at the time of acquisition. 

During the second quarter of 2020 the Company had purchased the maximum permitted shares under the 
NCIB totaling 200,970 Common Shares. The total consideration paid for the shares acquired was 
$120,417 with an average price of $599.18 per share.

Substantial issuer bid

On November 9, 2020 the Company announced its intention to commence a substantial issuer bid (“SIB”) 
pursuant to which the Company offered to purchase up to $100,000 of its outstanding Common Shares 
for cash.  

As of December 17, 2020 the Company had taken up and paid for 109,863 Common Shares at a price of 
$750.00 per Share. The Common Shares acquired under the SIB represent an aggregate purchase price 
of $82,396 and were cancelled. 

Dividends

Dividends declared during the year were as follows:

2020 2019
First Preference Shares, Series 1, $1.325 per share $ 5,300 $ 5,300 
First Preference Shares, Series 2, $1.1875 per share  4,750  4,750 
First Preference Shares, Series 3, $1.375 per share  5,500  5,500 
Common Shares, $30.00 (2019 - $5.00) per share (1)  117,425  20,097 
Total $ 132,975 $ 35,647 

(1) The $30.00 Common Share dividend includes quarterly dividends of $1.25 and an additional special cash dividend of $25.00.

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
 (all dollar figures in thousands of Canadian dollars, except per share amounts and where otherwise stated) 

E-L Financial Corporation Limited 79



When calculated on the basis of the Common Shares outstanding less the Company’s proportionate 
interest in its own Common Shares held indirectly through its associate, the total common dividend is 
$114,642 (2019 - $19,635).

The following dividends were declared by the Board of Directors at their meeting on March 3, 2021, with a 
record and payable date of March 31, 2021 and April 16, 2021, respectively:

▪ First Preference Shares, Series 1, $0.33125 per share;
▪ First Preference Shares, Series 2, $0.296875 per share; 
▪ First Preference Shares, Series 3, $0.34375 per share; 
▪ Series A Preference Shares, $0.125 per share; and 
▪ Common Shares, $1.25 per share.

16.  Borrowings

The table below presents the debt obligations of the Company as at December 31:

2020 2019

As at December 31
Interest 

rate

Earliest par call 
or redemption 

date Maturity
Carrying 

value
Fair 

value
Carrying 

value
Fair 

value

Empire Life
Series 2016-1(1)  3.383 % 12/16/21 2026 $ 199,820 $ 199,639 

Series 2017-1(2)  3.664 % 03/15/23 2028  199,622  199,459 

Total subordinated debt $ 399,442 $ 416,654 $ 399,098 $ 410,142 

E-L Corporate
Senior unsecured notes(3)  4.000 % 2050  197,826  215,870  —  — 

Margin loan(4)  5,000  5,000  65,000  65,000 

Total borrowings $ 602,268 $ 637,524 $ 464,098 $ 475,142 
(1) Series 2016-1 Subordinated 3.383% Unsecured Debentures due 2026. From December 16, 2021, interest is payable at 1.95% 

over the 3-month Canadian Deposit Offering Rate (CDOR). 
(2) Series 2017-1 Subordinated 3.664% Unsecured Debentures due 2028. From March 15, 2023, interest is payable at 1.53% over 

CDOR.
(3) The senior unsecured note bears interest at an annual rate of 4.0% calculated and payable semi-annually in arrears on June 22 

and December 22 of each year commencing December 22, 2020 and ending June 22, 2050. 
(4) The margin loan is pledged with $6,250 (2019 - $81,250) of investments from the Investment - corporate portfolio as collateral 

under this loan. Interest on the loan accrues at the three month CDOR plus 40 basis points. 

17.  Operating expenses

Operating expenses include the following:

2020 2019
Salary and benefits expense $ 106,919 $ 107,849 
Rent, maintenance and amortization of right-of-use assets  18,346  15,281 
Professional services  15,697  17,397 
Amortization of assets  12,274  11,030 
Other  54,805  59,686 
Total $ 208,041 $ 211,243 
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18.  Income taxes

Income taxes are assessed on net income before income taxes. The effective tax rate varies from the 
combined statutory rate as follows:

2020 2019
Income taxes at statutory rate $ 188,966 $ 272,621 
Variance as a result of:

Tax-paid dividends  (21,446)  (18,555) 
Non-taxable portion of investment gains  (57,451)  (88,879) 
Other  (109)  292 

Income tax expense $ 109,960 $ 165,479 

The current enacted corporate tax rates as they impact the Company in 2020 stand at 26.5% (2019 - 
26.5%). 

The Company’s income tax expense includes provisions for current and deferred taxes as follows:

2020 2019
Current $ 49,346 $ 93,882 
Deferred  60,614  71,597 
Income tax expense $ 109,960 $ 165,479 

In certain instances the tax basis of assets and liabilities differs from the carrying amount. These 
differences which will give rise to deferred income taxes are reflected in the consolidated statements of 
financial position as follows:

2020 2019
Deferred tax liabilities
Investments $ (291,215) $ (265,866) 
Insurance contract liabilities  (43,851)  (10,882) 
Post-employment benefit plans  17,183  11,169 
Other  (3,704)  (2,889) 
Total $ (321,587) $ (268,468) 

Of the above total, $326,642 (2019 - $271,206) is expected to be paid more than one year after the 
reporting date.  

Change in deferred tax liabilities is comprised of the following items: 

2020 2019
Investments $ 25,349 $ 71,926 
Insurance contract liabilities  32,969  1,015 
Post-employment benefit plans  (6,014)  (1,212) 
Other  815  (1,617) 
Net change $ 53,119 $ 70,112 

Net change is reported in:

2020 2019
Consolidated statements of income $ 60,614 $ 71,597 
Other comprehensive loss  (7,495)  (1,485) 
Net change $ 53,119 $ 70,112 

During 2020, the Company and its subsidiaries paid income tax installments and assessments totaling 
$132,947 (2019 - $78,854) and recovered income taxes totaling $6,033 (2019 - $3,048).
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19.  Earnings per share 

Earnings per share has been calculated by dividing consolidated net income (loss) attributed to common 
equity shareholders of the Company for the year, less dividends on First Preference shares, by the 
amount equal to the total weighted average number of Common Shares outstanding of 3,869,083 (2019 - 
4,019,667) less 93,023 (2019 - 92,754) in reciprocal holdings, which is the Company’s proportionate 
interest in its own Common Shares held indirectly through its associate, Economic.

The following is a reconciliation of the numerators and the denominators of the basic and diluted earnings 
per common share computations: 

2020 2019
Basic earnings per common share:

Net income available to shareholders $ 499,692 $ 744,645 
Less: Dividends on First Preference shares  (15,550)  (15,550) 
Net income after dividends on First Preference shares $ 484,142 $ 729,095 

Weighted average number of Common Shares outstanding (1)  3,776,060  3,926,913 

Basic earnings per common share from net income $ 128.21 $ 185.67 

Diluted earnings per common share:
Net income available to shareholders $ 499,692 $ 744,645 

Weighted average number of Common Shares outstanding (1)  3,776,060  3,926,913 
Dilutive effect of the conversion of First Preference Shares into Common Shares  399,035  411,454 
Weighted average number of diluted Common Shares outstanding (1)  4,175,095  4,338,367 

Diluted earnings per common share from net income $ 119.68 $ 171.64 
(1) Net of reciprocal holdings

20.  Other comprehensive income

The following table summarizes the changes in the components of OCI, net of tax:

2020 2019
Items that may be reclassified subsequently to net income:

Net unrealized fair value change on AFS investments
Unrealized fair value change on AFS investments $ 78,894 $ 65,612 
Less: Realized gain on AFS investments reclassified to net income  (21,620)  (16,002) 

 57,274  49,610 
Share of OCL of associates  (2,219)  (6,069) 

 55,055  43,541 
Items that will not be reclassified to net income:  

Net remeasurement of defined benefit plans  (17,149)  (1,644) 
Share of (OCL) OCI of associates  (6,474)  247 

 (23,623)  (1,397) 
 OCI, net of tax $ 31,432 $ 42,144 
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The following tax amounts are included in each component of OCI:

2020 2019
Items that may be reclassified subsequently to net income:

Net unrealized fair value change on AFS investments
Unrealized fair value change on AFS investments $ 28,490 $ 23,862 
Less: Realized gain on AFS investments reclassified to net income  (7,794)  (5,884) 

 20,696  17,978 
Share of OCL of associates  (339)  (927) 

 20,357  17,051 
Items that will not be reclassified to net income:  

Net remeasurement of defined benefit plans  (6,168)  (597) 
Share of (OCL) OCI of associates  (988)  38 

 (7,156)  (559) 
Total tax recognized in OCI $ 13,201 $ 16,492 

21.  Commitments 

In the normal course of business, investment commitments are outstanding which are not reflected in the 
consolidated financial statements. 

As of December 31, 2020, E-L Corporate has $144,321 (2019 - $86,401) in unfunded commitments in 
limited partnerships. 

Empire Life has $40,012 as of December 31, 2020 (2019 - $22,867) in unfunded commitments as at 
December 31, 2020. These unfunded commitments are payable at any time up to and including 
December 31, 2023.

22.  Investment risk management

The objective of the Company’s risk management process is to ensure that the operations of the 
Company encompassing risk are consistent with the Company’s objectives and risk tolerance, while 
maintaining an appropriate risk/reward balance. The Company is exposed to financial risks arising from 
its investing activities. For investment risks, the Company is exposed to credit risk, liquidity risk and 
various market risks including interest rate risk, equity risk and foreign currency risk.

The disclosures in Notes 4, 5 and 6 provide the breakdown of investments by type and by geographic 
region based on the underlying risk. The fair values of these investments are inherently volatile and 
frequently change in value as a result of factors beyond the Company’s control, including general 
economic and capital market conditions.

In the sections that follow, the Company provides sensitivities and risk exposure measures for certain 
risks. These include sensitivities due to specific changes in market prices and interest rates, based on the 
market prices, interest rates, assets, liabilities and business mix in place as at the calculation dates. The 
sensitivities are calculated independently for each risk factor, assuming that all other risk variables remain 
constant. Actual results may differ materially from these estimates for a variety of reasons, including the 
interaction among these factors when more than one factor changes: changes in actuarial and investment 
return and future investment activity assumptions; actual experience differing from the assumptions; 
changes in business mix, effective tax rates and other market factors and the general limitations of the 
Company’s internal models used for purposes of these calculations. Changes due to new sales or 
maturities, asset purchases/sales or other management actions could also result in material changes to 
these reported sensitivities. For these reasons, the sensitivities should only be viewed as directional 
estimates of the underlying sensitivities for the respective factors based on the assumptions outlined and 
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should not be viewed as predictors for the Company’s future net income, OCI and capital sensitivities. 
Given the nature of these calculations, the Company cannot provide assurance that the actual impact will 
be consistent with the estimates provided. Changes in risk variables in excess of the ranges illustrated 
may result in other than proportionate impacts.

E-L Corporate

E-L Corporate owns investments in global equities and fixed income securities directly and indirectly 
through pooled funds, limited partnerships and other investment companies. In addition, the E-L 
Corporate segment includes the invested assets of United, the Company’s closed-end investment 
subsidiary. E-L Corporate has two significant investments in associates: Economic, a closed-end 
investment company and Algoma, a shipping company.

The Company maintains a strategy of long-term growth through capital appreciation and dividend and 
interest income from its investments. The externally managed investment portfolios have mandates in 
which the manager’s performance is evaluated. Their performance is reviewed by management on a 
monthly basis, evaluating performance over a period of time relative to their mandate. On a quarterly 
basis, the Board of Directors reviews the E-L Corporate investment portfolio, including investment 
performance benchmarked against the relevant indices, exposure by geographic distribution, investment 
concentration and significant movements in the investment portfolios during the period.

Empire Life

The investments held by Empire Life consist of equity and fixed income securities, mortgages and loans. 
Declines in investment values could significantly reduce Empire Life’s net income, shareholder’s equity 
and the adequacy of their regulatory capital. Empire Life has investment policy guidelines in place that 
provide for prudent investment in equity markets within clearly defined limits. Investing activities are 
subject to the Insurance Companies Act (Canada) and to Investment Guidelines established by Empire 
Life’s Investment Committee of the Board of Directors. Empire Life’s Investment Guidelines define 
objectives and eligible investments and impose constraints to limit concentration and other portfolio risks. 
Investment portfolio managers report quarterly to the Investment Committee on portfolio content, 
performance and outlook. Management monitors and reports to the Investment Committee each quarter 
regarding compliance with the investment guidelines.

Credit risk  

Credit risk is the risk that one party to a financial instrument fails to discharge an obligation and causes a 
financial loss to another party. 

The gross credit risk exposure for the Company related to its financial instruments is as follows:

2020 2019
Cash and cash equivalents $ 427,757 $ 303,085 
Short-term investments  13,008  45,573 
Bonds  8,027,780  7,509,652 
Preferred shares  617,960  475,087 
Derivative assets  5,377  2,930 
Mortgages  157,214  169,827 
Reinsurance  141,136  113,107 
Loans on policies  56,458  55,363 
Policy contract loans  60,407  66,520 
Accrued investment income  79,140  38,187 
Insurance receivable  46,533  48,728 
Total $ 9,632,770 $ 8,828,059 
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This credit risk is derived primarily from Empire Life’s investments in bonds, preferred shares, cash and 
cash equivalents, mortgages and from reinsurers under reinsurance agreements. Empire Life manages 
this risk by applying its investment guidelines and product design and pricing risk management policy 
established by Empire Life’s Investment Committee and Risk and Capital Committee. The investment 
guidelines establish minimum credit ratings for issuers of bonds and preferred share investments, and 
provide for concentration limits by issuer. Empire Life’s management and Board committees review credit 
quality relative to investment purchases and also monitor the credit quality of invested assets over time. 

Mortgages, loans on policies, policy contract loans and commercial loans are fully or partially secured. 

The Company has made provisions in its consolidated statements of financial position for credit losses. 
Provisions have been made partly through reduction in the value of the assets and partly through a 
provision in insurance contract liabilities.

The Company has securities lending agreements with its custodian. Under these agreements, the 
custodian may lend securities from the Company’s portfolio to other institutions, as approved by the 
Company, for periods of time.The custodian receives collateral which exceeds the market value of the 
loaned securities. In the event that any of the loaned securities are not returned to the custodian, at its 
option the custodian may either restore to the Company securities identical to the loaned securities or it 
will pay to the Company the value of the collateral up to but not exceeding the market value of the loaned 
securities on the date on which the loaned securities were to have been returned (“Valuation Date”) to the 
custodian. If the collateral is not sufficient to allow the custodian to pay such market value to the 
Company, the custodian shall indemnify the Company only for the difference between the market value of 
the securities and the value of such collateral on the Valuation Date. As a result, there is no significant 
exposure to credit risk associated with these securities lending agreements.

At December 31, 2020 the Company had loaned securities with a fair value of $3,285,748 (2019 - 
$3,581,738) and received approximately $3,367,380 (2019 - $3,680,099) in collateral.

Concentration of credit risk

The following table discloses the holdings of fixed income securities in the ten issuers, excluding the 
federal governments, to which the operating segments had the greatest exposure, as well as exposure to 
the largest single issuer of corporate bonds:

Empire Life
2020 2019

Holdings of fixed income securities* in the 10 issuers (excluding federal 
governments) to which the operating segments had the greatest exposure     $ 4,886,504 $ 4,744,433 

Percentage of the segment’s total cash and investments  49 %  51 %
Exposure to the largest single issuer of corporate bonds $ 236,086 $ 199,877 
Percentage of the segment’s total cash and investments  2 %  2 %

* Fixed income securities include bonds and debentures, preferred shares and short term investments.

a) Investments in bonds and debentures

2020 2019
Empire Life Fair value % Fair value %
AAA $ 394,570  5 % $ 348,815  5 %
AA  2,289,540  28 %  1,167,357  16 %
A  3,910,974  49 %  4,831,528  64 %
BBB  1,429,025  18 %  1,161,952  15 %
BB (and lower ratings)  3,671  — %  —  — %
Total $ 8,027,780  100 % $ 7,509,652  100 %
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Credit ratings are normally obtained from Standard & Poor’s (“S&P”) and Dominion Bond Rating Service 
(“DBRS”). In the event of a split rating, the lower rating is used. Issues not rated by a recognized rating 
agency (i.e. S&P, DBRS, or Moody’s) are rated internally by Empire Life’s Investment Department. The 
internal rating assessment is documented referencing suitable comparable investments rated by 
recognized rating agencies and/or methodologies used by recognized rating agencies.

b) Preferred shares

Empire Life’s preferred share investments are all issued by Canadian companies with 1% (2019 – 1%) of 
these investments rated as P1 as at December 31, 2020, 97% (2019 – 97%) rated as P2 and the 
remaining 2% (2019 - 2%) rated as P3.

c) Mortgages

Empire Life’s mortgages in the province of Ontario represent the largest concentration with $156,445 or 
99% (2019 – $169,058 or 99%) of the total mortgage portfolio.

Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Company will encounter difficulty in meeting obligations associated with its 
financial liabilities that are settled by delivering cash or another financial asset. The Company’s liquidity 
risk management strategy is to ensure that there will be sufficient cash to meet all financial commitments 
and obligations as they become due.

E-L Corporate:

The majority of the Corporate Investment’s obligations relate to its ability to pay annual dividend 
commitments, outstanding investment commitments, interest on the 4.0% senior unsecured notes and 
margin loan (refer to Note 16 - Borrowings) and to meet ongoing operating expenses as they fall due. In 
most years, the Company is able to fund these obligations by its cash flow from net investment income 
earned on its investment portfolio. In addition to this, the Company maintains sufficient liquidity through 
holding short term investments, cash equivalents and high quality marketable investments that may easily 
be sold, if necessary to fund new investment opportunities and to meet any operating cash flow 
deficiencies.The Company also uses a margin loan facility to fund certain investment opportunities or 
provide short term liquidity as required.

E-L Corporate’s liquidity is comprised of $238,401 in cash and cash equivalents at December 31, 2020 
(2019  - $162,752) and short-term investments of $nil (2019 - $13,189).

Empire Life:

The majority of Empire Life’s obligations relate to its policy liabilities, the duration of which varies by line of 
business and expectations relating to key policyholder actions or events (i.e. cash withdrawal, mortality, 
morbidity). The remaining obligations of Empire Life relate to its subordinated debt (refer to Note 16 - 
Borrowings) and ongoing operating expenses as they fall due, which are expected to settle in a very short 
period of time. The Company’s liquidity risk management strategy is to ensure that there will be sufficient 
cash to meet all financial commitments and obligations as they become due.

The actuarial and other policy liability amounts presented on the consolidated statements of financial 
position are based on the present value of the estimated cash flows. Due to the use of assumptions, 
actual cash flows will differ from these estimates. 
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The expected maturity profile of Empire Life’s significant undiscounted financial liabilities and contractual 
commitments as at December 31 are shown in the following tables:

2020
1 year 
or less

1 - 5 
years

5 - 10 
years

Over 10 
years Total

Insurance contract liabilities $ 69,513 $ 157,882 $ 599,674 $ 23,853,965 $ 24,681,034 
Investment contract liabilities  4,081  12,491  12,209  8,996  37,777 
Subordinated debt  14,094  31,960  413,800  —  459,854 
Preferred shares  156,549  93,082  —  —  249,631 
Accounts payable and other liabilities  249,898  32,242  70,421  —  352,561 
Total $ 494,135 $ 327,657 $ 1,096,104 $ 23,862,961 $ 25,780,857 

2019
1 year 
or less

1 - 5 
years

5 - 10 
years

Over 10 
years Total

Insurance contract liabilities $ 71,689 $ 162,523 $ 513,593 $ 23,596,531 $ 24,344,336 
Investment contract liabilities  3,823  12,418  11,665  9,882  37,788 
Subordinated debt  14,094  51,294  439,960  —  505,348 
Preferred shares  13,496  232,280  —  —  245,776 
Accounts payable and other liabilities  227,908  7,044  42,616  —  277,568 
Total liabilities  331,010  465,559  1,007,834  23,606,413  25,410,816 
Operating lease commitments  115  —  —  —  115 
Total $ 331,125 $ 465,559 $ 1,007,834 $ 23,606,413 $ 25,410,931 

The Asset-Liability Management Committee, which meets regularly, monitors the matched position of 
Empire Life’s investments in relation to its liabilities within the various segments of its operations. The 
matching process is designed to require that assets supporting policy liabilities closely match, to the 
extent possible, the timing and amount of policy obligations, and to plan for the appropriate amount of 
liquidity in order to meet its financial obligations as they fall due. Empire Life maintains a portion of its 
investments in cash, cash equivalents and short term investments to meet its short term funding 
requirements. As of December 31, 2020, 2% (2019 - 2%) of cash and investments were held in these 
shorter duration investments.

The following table provides bonds by contractual maturity (using the earliest contractual maturity date):

2020 2019
Fair value % Fair value %

1 year or less $ 188,385  2 % $ 75,119  1 %
1 - 5 years  678,391  8 %  769,237  10 %
5 - 10 years  696,271  9 %  700,976  9 %
Over 10 years  6,464,733  81 %  5,964,320  80 %
Total $ 8,027,780  100 % $ 7,509,652  100 %

Market risk

Market risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate 
because of changes in market prices. Market risk is directly influenced by the volatility and liquidity in the 
markets in which the related financial instruments are traded, expectations of future price and yield 
movements and the composition of the Company’s investment portfolio. For the Company, the most 
significant market risks are interest rate risk, equity risk and foreign currency risk.
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a) Interest rate risk

Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate 
because of changes in market interest rates. Changes in interest rates can result from many factors 
including general market volatility, or specific social, political or economic events. Changing interest rates 
have a direct impact on the fair value of the E-L Corporate and Empire Life’s fixed income investments, 
which total $8.0 billion at December 31, 2020 (2019 - $7.5 billion) on a consolidated basis. Rising interest 
rates will lead to declines in the fair value of these investments and falling interest rates will lead to 
increases in the fair value of these investments.

Empire Life

Empire Life has interest rate risk in its investments and in its products. Certain of Empire Life’s product 
offerings contain guarantees and, if long-term interest rates fall below those guaranteed rates, Empire Life 
may be required to increase policy liabilities against losses, thereby adversely affecting its operating 
results. Interest rate changes can also cause compression of net spread between interest earned on 
investments and interest credited to customers; thereby adversely affecting Empire Life’s operating 
results.

Rapid declines in interest rates may result in, among other things, increased asset calls, and mortgage 
prepayments and require reinvestment at significantly lower yields, which could adversely affect earnings. 
Additionally, during periods of declining interest rates, bond redemptions generally increase, resulting in 
the reinvestment of such funds at lower current rates. Rapid increases in interest rates may result in, 
among other things, increased surrenders. Fluctuations in interest rates may cause losses to Empire Life 
due to the need to reinvest or divest during periods of changing interest rates, which may force Empire 
Life to sell investment assets at a loss. In addition, an interest rate sensitivity mismatch between assets 
and the liabilities that they are designated to support could have an adverse effect on Empire Life’s 
financial position and operating results.

The following tables summarize the estimated immediate financial impact on shareholder’s net income 
and OCI of a result of an immediate change in interest rates:

December 31, 2020
50 bps 

increase
50 bps 

decrease
100 bps 
increase

100 bps 
decrease

Shareholders’ net income $  11,478 $  (12,251) $  22,272 $  (25,367) 
Shareholders’ OCI $  (51,862) $  61,591 $  (93,995) $  132,911 

December 31, 2019
50 bps 

increase
50 bps 

decrease
100 bps 
increase

100 bps 
decrease

Shareholders’ net income $  20,620 $  (22,827) $  39,275 $  (48,139) 
Shareholders’ OCI $  (45,488) $  54,077 $  (82,385) $  116,744 

b) Equity risk

The Company maintains a strategy of long-term growth through investments in common equities as 
management believe that over long periods of time, common equities, as an asset class, will outperform 
fixed income instruments or balanced funds. The Company regularly reviews its portfolio and, while 
expecting and tolerating the volatility associated with such investments, attempts to mitigate its exposure 
to this risk through diversification.

Empire Life manages market price risk exposure mainly through investment limits. The Investment 
Committee of Empire Life meets quarterly to review the composition and performance of managed 
assets. 

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
 (all dollar figures in thousands of Canadian dollars, except per share amounts and where otherwise stated) 

88 E-L Financial Corporation Limited



E-L Corporate 

The following table summarizes the potential impact on E-L Corporate of a change in global equity 
markets. E-L Corporate used a 10% increase or decrease in equity markets as such a change is 
considered to be a reasonably possible change in equity markets based on historic results and is a useful 
comparator as it is commonly used. E-L Corporate used a 20% increase or decrease in its equity market 
sensitivity to illustrate that changes in equity markets in excess of 10% may result in both linear and non-
linear impacts, and a 20% change in equity markets is a commonly used additional sensitivity factor.

The calculations below assume that all other variables are held constant and that all of E-L Corporate’s 
equities move according to a one-to-one correlation with the equity markets.

2020 2019
Effect on 

shareholders’ 
net income

Effect on 
shareholders’ 

OCI

Effect on 
shareholders’ 

net income

Effect on 
shareholders’ 

OCI
Corporate Investments:

Investments - corporate
10% fluctuation  $  410,951  $ nil  $  379,359  $ nil
20% fluctuation  $  821,902  $ nil  $  758,718  $ nil

Investments in associates
10% fluctuation  $  16,487  $ nil  $  15,701  $ nil
20% fluctuation  $  32,974  $ nil  $  31,402  $ nil

Empire Life

Empire Life has risks related to global equity markets in its investments and in its products. The risk of 
fluctuation of the market value of Empire Life’s segregated funds is generally assumed by the 
policyholders and unit holders, respectively. Market value variations of such assets will result in variations 
in the income of the Empire Life to the extent management fees are determined in relation to the value of 
such funds. A significant and steady decline of the securities markets may result in net losses on such 
products which could adversely affect Empire Life. Additionally, certain of Empire Life’s segregated fund 
products contain guarantees upon death, maturity or withdrawal, where the guarantee may be triggered 
by the market performance of the underlying funds. If a significant market decline is experienced, the 
resulting increased cost of providing these guarantees could have an adverse effect on Empire Life’s 
financial position, LICAT position and results of operations. Empire Life has reinsured a portion of its 
segregated fund death benefit guarantee. Empire Life also has a semi-static, economic hedging program. 
The objective of the economic hedging program is to partially protect Empire Life from possible future 
LICAT ratio declines that might result from adverse stock market price changes. The program presently 
employs put options and futures on key equity indices. Improper use of these instruments could have an 
adverse impact on earnings. Empire Life manages this risk by applying limits established by the 
Investment Committee in its investment guidelines, which set out permitted derivatives and permitted 
uses for derivatives, as well as limits to the use of these instruments. In particular, no leverage is 
permitted in the use of derivatives and strict counterparty credit restrictions are imposed.

The following table summarizes the estimated potential impact on Empire Life of a change in global equity 
markets. Empire Life uses a 10% increase or decrease in equity markets as a reasonably possible 
change in equity markets. The Company has also disclosed the impact of a 20% increase or decrease in 
Empire Life’s equity market sensitivity. The amounts in the following table include the effect of Empire 
Life’s general fund equity risk economic hedging program. For segregated fund guarantees the level of 
sensitivity is highly dependent on the level of the stock market at the time of performing the estimate. If 
period end equity markets are high relative to market levels at the time that segregated fund policies were 
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issued, the sensitivity is reduced. If period end equity markets are low relative to market levels at the time 
that segregated fund policies were issued, the sensitivity is increased. 

The amounts shown below represent the impact on shareholders’ net income, including segregated fund 
guarantees. 

2020 2019

Effect on 
shareholders’ 
net income(1)

Effect on 
shareholders’ 

OCI

Effect on 
shareholders’ 
net income(1)

Effect on 
shareholders’ 

OCI
Empire Life 

10% increase  $  116,486  $  3,490  $  13,713  $  3,225 
10% decrease  $  (23,191)  $  (3,490)  $  (17,411)  $  (3,225) 
20% increase  $  136,042  $  6,980  $  31,152  $  6,449 
20% decrease  $  (102,410)  $  (6,980)  $  (79,638)  $  (6,449) 

(1) Includes the estimated impact on fee income net of trailer commissions after tax for a three month period.

Concentration of common equity holdings

E-L Corporate’s largest exposure to common equities relates to its investment in associates of $245,269 
(2019 – $332,359) which represents 4% (2019 – 6%) of E-L Corporate’s total assets.

The following table identifies the concentration of common equity holdings within investments - insurance:

Empire Life 2020 2019
Exposure to the ten largest common share holdings $ 675,244 $ 648,049 
As a percentage of the segment’s total cash and investments  7 %  7 %
Exposure to the largest single issuer of common shares $ 447,166 $ 444,366 
As a percentage of the segment’s total cash and investments  5 %  5 %

c) Foreign currency risk

Foreign currency risk is the risk that the fair value or cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate 
because of changes in exchange rates and create an adverse effect on earnings and equity when 
measured in the Company’s functional currency.

The Company’s exposure to foreign currency is limited to its investments in common shares and units. 
The U.S. dollar represents the largest currency exposure. In addition, the Company has exposure to 
several currencies worldwide, reflecting the global diversity of its non-Canadian portion of its investments. 
These investments are managed by third party investment managers, with decisions regarding exposure 
to currency risk being part of the investment manager’s strategy. 

A 10% fluctuation in the U.S. dollar would have the following impact: 

E-L Corporate: Approximately $211,643 (2019 – $183,197) on shareholders’ net income and $10,726 
(2019 – $11,757) on other comprehensive income.

Empire Life: Approximately $nil (2019 – $nil) on shareholders’ net income and $nil (2019 – $nil) on other 
comprehensive income.

23.  Insurance risk management

The objective of Empire Life’s risk management process is to ensure that the operations of Empire Life 
encompassing risk are consistent with Empire Life’s objectives and risk tolerance, while maintaining an 
appropriate risk/reward balance. The Company is exposed to insurance risks through its insurance 
subsidiary. 
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The Company and Empire Life have created Risk Management Policies. Oversight and management of 
the policies falls under the authority of senior management, Risk Management Committees, where 
applicable, and the Board of Empire Life.

Empire Life provides a broad range of life insurance, health insurance and wealth management products, 
employee benefit plans, and financial services that are concentrated by segment as follows: 

Wealth Employee Individual Capital

(millions of dollars) Management Benefits Insurance & Surplus Total
2020 2019 2020 2019 2020 2019 2020 2019 2020 2019

Net premium income $ 94.6 $ 159.1 $ 357.0 $ 360.4 $ 408.6 $ 390.3 $ — $ — $ 860.2 $ 909.8 
Fee and other income  238.2  249.0  12.6  12.5  0.4  0.2  0.1  —  251.3  261.7 
Total $ 332.8 $ 408.1 $ 369.6 $ 372.9 $ 409.0 $ 390.5 $ 0.1 $ — $ 1,111.5 $ 1,171.5 

Insurance risk is the risk that actual experience related to claims, benefit payments, expenses, cost of 
embedded product options and cost of guarantees associated with insurance risks, does not emerge as 
expected. Empire Life is exposed to various insurance risks as a result of the business it writes, including: 
mortality, policyholder behaviour (termination or lapse), expenses, morbidity, longevity, product design 
and pricing risk, underwriting and claims risk and reinsurance risk. 

Economic and environmental events, such as natural disasters, human-made disasters as well as 
pandemics, could occur in regions where Empire Life has significant insurance coverage, impacting 
financial results. 

Empire Life regularly evaluates its exposure to foreseeable risks through stress testing techniques 
including Financial Condition Testing (“FCT”) analysis. 

The principal risk Empire Life faces under insurance contracts is the risk that experience on claims, policy 
lapses and operating expenses will not emerge as expected. To the extent that emerging experience is 
more favourable than assumed in the valuation, income will emerge. If emerging experience is less 
favourable, losses will result. Therefore, the objective of Empire Life is to establish sufficient insurance 
liabilities to cover these obligations with reasonable certainty. 

The computation of insurance liabilities and related reinsurance recoverable requires “best estimate” 
assumptions covering the remaining life of the policies. Assumptions in use are based on past 
experience, current internal data, external market indices and benchmarks which reflect current 
observable market trends and other published information. These assumptions are made for mortality, 
morbidity, longevity, lapse, expenses, inflation and taxes. Due to the long-term risks and measurement 
uncertainties inherent in the life insurance business, a margin for adverse deviations from best estimates 
is calculated separately for each variable and included in policy liabilities. These margins are intended to 
allow for possible deterioration in experience and to provide greater confidence that policy liabilities are 
adequate to pay future benefits. The effect of these margins is to increase policy liabilities over the best 
estimate assumptions. 

The margins for adverse deviation used by Empire Life are within the target range established by the CIA. 
A correspondingly larger margin is included in the insurance contract liabilities if an assumption is 
susceptible to change or if there is more uncertainty about the best estimate assumption. Each margin is 
reviewed annually for continued appropriateness. 

Policy liability assumptions are reviewed and updated at least annually by Empire Life’s Appointed 
Actuary. The impact of changes in those assumptions is reflected in earnings in the year of the change. 
Details related to the changes in assumptions are also discussed with the Audit Committee of the Board. 
The methods for arriving at the most important of these assumptions are outlined below. Also included are 
measures of Empire Life’s estimated net income sensitivity to changes in best estimate assumptions in 
the non-participating insurance liabilities, based on a starting point and business mix as of December 31, 
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2019. For participating business it is assumed that changes will occur in policyholder dividend scales 
corresponding to changes in best estimate assumptions such that the net change in participating 
insurance contract liabilities is immaterial.

Mortality

Empire Life carries out annual internal studies of its own mortality experience. The valuation mortality 
assumptions are based on a combination of this experience and recent CIA industry experience. An 
increase in the rate of mortality will lead to a larger number of claims (and claims could occur sooner than 
anticipated), which for life insurance, will increase expenditures and reduce profits for the shareholders.

For non-participating insurance business, a 2% increase in the best estimate mortality assumption would 
increase policy liabilities thereby decreasing shareholders’ net income by approximately $17,000 (2019 - 
$15,700). 

For annuity business, lower mortality is financially adverse so a 2% decrease in the best estimate 
mortality assumption would increase policy liabilities thereby decreasing shareholders’ net income by 
approximately $8,900 (2019 - $3,300).

Policyholder behaviour (termination or lapse)

Policy termination (lapse) and surrender assumptions are based on a combination of Empire Life’s own 
internal termination studies (conducted annually) and recent CIA industry experience. Separate policy 
termination assumptions are used for permanent cash-value business, for renewable term insurance, 
term insurance to age 100 and for universal life insurance. In setting policy termination rates for 
renewable term insurance, it is assumed that extra lapses will occur at each renewal point and that 
healthy policyholders are more likely to lapse at that time than those who have become uninsurable. 

Acquisition costs may not be recovered fully if lapses in the early policy years exceed those in the 
actuarial assumptions. An increase in policy termination rates early in the life of the policy would tend to 
reduce profits for shareholders. An increase in policy termination rates later in the life of the policy would 
tend to increase profits for shareholders if the product is lapse supported (such as term insurance to age 
100), but decrease shareholder profits for other types of policies.

For non-participating insurance and annuity business a 10% adverse change in the lapse assumption 
would result in an increase to policy liabilities thereby decreasing shareholders’ net income by 
approximately $182,400 (2019 - $151,400). For products where fewer terminations would be financially 
adverse to Empire Life, the change is applied as a decrease to the lapse assumption. Alternatively, for 
products where more terminations would be financially adverse to Empire Life, the change is applied as 
an increase to the lapse assumption.

Expenses

Policy liabilities provide for the future expense of administering policies in force, renewal commissions, 
general expenses and taxes. Expenses associated with policy acquisition and issue are specifically 
excluded. The future expense assumption is derived from internal cost studies and includes an 
assumption for inflation. 

An increase in the level of expenses would result in an increase in expenditure thereby reducing profits 
for the shareholders.

For non-participating insurance business and annuity business combined, a 5% increase in the 
maintenance expense assumption would result in an increase to policy liabilities thereby reducing 
shareholders’ net income by approximately $9,700 (2019 - $6,300).
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Morbidity

Empire Life carries out annual internal studies of its own morbidity experience where morbidity refers to 
both the rates of accident or sickness and the rates of recovery from the accident or sickness. The 
valuation assumptions are based on a combination of internal experience and recent CIA industry 
experience. 

For individual and group critical illness business, the incidence rates (or rates of accident or sickness) are 
the key assumption related to morbidity. An increase in incidence rates would result in an increase in the 
number of claims which increases expenditures and reduces shareholders’ profits. For group long-term 
disability business the termination rates (or rates of recovery) are the key assumption related to morbidity. 
A decrease in termination rates would result in disability claims persisting longer which increases 
expenditures.

For non-participating insurance business where the morbidity is a significant assumption, a 5% adverse 
change in the assumption would result in an increase to policy liabilities thereby reducing shareholders’ 
net income by approximately $8,300 (2019 - $7,900).

Product design and pricing risk

Empire Life is subject to the risk of financial loss resulting from transacting insurance business where the 
costs and liabilities assumed in respect of a product exceed the expectations reflected in the pricing of the 
product. This risk may be due to an inadequate assessment of market needs, a poor estimate of the 
future experience of several factors, such as mortality, morbidity, lapse experience, future returns on 
investments, expenses and taxes, as well as the introduction of new products that could adversely impact 
the future behaviour of policyholders. 

For certain types of contracts, all or part of this risk may be shared with or transferred to the policyholder 
through dividends and experience rating refunds or through the fact that Empire Life can adjust the 
premiums or future benefits if experience turns out to be different than expected. For other types of 
contracts, Empire Life assumes the entire risk and thus must carry out a full valuation of the commitments 
in this regard. Empire Life may transfer some of this risk through a reinsurance arrangement.

Empire Life manages product design and pricing risk through a variety of enterprise-wide programs and 
controls. The key programs and controls are described as follows. Empire Life has established policy 
liabilities in accordance with standards set forth by the CIA. Experience studies (both company-specific 
and industry level) are factored into ongoing valuation, renewal and new business processes so that 
policy liabilities, as well as product design and pricing, take into account emerging experience. Empire 
Life has established an active capital management process that includes a Capital Management Policy 
and capital management levels that exceed regulatory minimums. As prescribed by regulatory authorities, 
the Appointed Actuary conducts FCT and reports annually to the Audit Committee on Empire Life’s 
financial condition, outlining the impact on capital levels should future experience be adverse. Empire Life 
has also developed a Product Design and Pricing Risk Management Policy for each of its major product 
lines. This policy, which is established by management and approved by the Risk and Capital Committee 
of the Board, defines Empire Life’s product design and pricing risk management philosophy. The policy 
sets out product design and pricing, approval authorities, product concentration limits, and required 
product development monitoring processes and controls.

Underwriting and claims risk

Empire Life is subject to the risk of financial loss resulting from the selection and underwriting of risks to 
be insured and from the adjudication and settlement of claims. Many of Empire Life’s individual insurance 
and group disability products provide benefits over the policyholder’s lifetime. Actual claims experience 
may differ from the mortality and morbidity assumptions used to calculate the related premiums. 
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Catastrophic events such as earthquakes, acts of terrorism or an influenza pandemic in Canada could 
result in adverse claims experience. 

In addition to the risk management controls described above under Product Design and Pricing Risk, 
Empire Life also manages underwriting and claims risk through its Underwriting and Liability Risk 
Management Policy for each of its major product lines. This policy is established by management and 
approved by the Risk and Capital Committee of the Board. Together, these policies define Empire Life’s 
underwriting and claims management philosophy. These policies also set out product line insurance risk 
tolerances, underwriting criteria, underwriting and liability concentration limits, claims approval 
requirements, underwriting and claims processes and controls, approval authorities and limits, and 
ongoing risk monitoring requirements. Empire Life uses reinsurance to mitigate excessive exposure to 
adverse mortality and morbidity experience. Management reviews and establishes retention limits for its 
various product lines and the Board approves changes to these retention limits.

Reinsurance risk

Empire Life is subject to the risk of financial loss due to inadequate reinsurance coverage or a default of a 
reinsurer. Amounts reinsured per life vary according to the type of protection and the product. Empire Life 
also maintains a catastrophe reinsurance program, which provides protection in the event that multiple 
insured lives perish in a common accident or catastrophic event. Although Empire Life relies on 
reinsurance to mitigate excessive exposure to adverse mortality and morbidity experience, reinsurance 
does not release it from its primary commitments to its policyholders and it is exposed to the credit risk 
associated with the amounts ceded to reinsurers. The availability and cost of reinsurance are subject to 
prevailing reinsurance market conditions, both in terms of price and availability, which can also affect 
earnings. 

The Reinsurance Risk Management Policy establishes reinsurance objectives and limits, and requires 
ongoing evaluation of reinsurers for financial soundness. As reinsurance does not release a company 
from its primary commitments to its policyholders, an ongoing oversight process is critical. Management 
reports annually to the Risk and Capital Committee of the Board on reinsurance activities. Most of Empire 
Life’s reinsurance is on an excess basis, meaning Empire Life retains 100% of the risk up to its retention 
level. Effective April 1, 2020, Empire Life updated its single life retention limit for new business to $1,500 
in face amount (previously $500). For some insurance risk categories and/or products, retention levels 
below this maximum are applied. Reinsurance is used to limit losses, minimize exposure to significant 
risks and to provide capacity for growth. As a result of the retention limit increase, recapture provisions of 
all eligible reinsurance treaties were exercised commencing April 1, 2020. These activities result in an 
increase in insurance risk for Empire Life, which it deems acceptable.

As a result of this reinsurance strategy, Empire Life utilizes lower than average levels of reinsurance, 
compared to Canadian competitors, and absorbs the resultant negative impact on short-term earnings 
due to additional sales strain. Empire Life does not have any assumed reinsurance business.

24.  Capital management 

The Company’s capital management process is designed to protect capital and build shareholder value 
over the long-term. Effective capital management includes maintaining sufficient liquidity to be able to pay 
dividends to the Company’s preferred shareholders, satisfy issuer credit ratings requirements, as well as 
providing flexibility to pursue strategic opportunities. Total capital on a consolidated basis at 
December 31, 2020, consisted of the Company’s shareholders’ equity of $6,473,999 (2019 - $6,274,772), 
non-controlling interests in subsidiaries of $1,132,340 (2019 - $1,067,961) and participating policyholders’ 
interests of $44,148 (2019 - $40,112).

Empire Life manages its regulatory capital in order to meet the regulatory capital adequacy requirements 
of the Insurance Companies Act (Canada) as established and monitored by OSFI. OSFI has implemented 
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the Life Insurance Capital Adequacy Test (“LICAT”) framework to monitor capital adequacy. Under this 
framework, Empire Life’s capital adequacy is measured as a ratio of Available Capital plus Surplus 
Allowance and Eligible Deposits divided by a Base Solvency Buffer. The components of the LICAT ratio 
are determined in accordance with the guidelines defined by OSFI. The regulator has established a 
Supervisory Target Total Ratio of 100% and a Supervisory Target Core Ratio of 70%. As at December 31, 
2020 and December 31, 2019 Empire Life was in compliance with the applicable regulatory capital ratios.

25.  Related party transactions

The Company has investments in related parties which includes investments in associates of 245,269 
(2019 - $332,359) and investments in other related parties within investments - corporate of $889,751 
(2019 - $853,383). The ultimate controlling party of the Company and these related parties, is The 
Honourable Henry N.R. Jackman together with a trust created in 1969 by his father, Henry R. Jackman.

The Company received administrative service fees of $517 (2019 - $512) from related parties during the 
year.

Compensation of key management personnel of the Company is as follows: 

2020 2019
Salaries and other benefits $ 3,836 $ 3,431 
Post-employment benefits  393  543 
Total $ 4,229 $ 3,974 

26.  Subsidiaries 

The principal subsidiaries are:

i) E-L Financial Services Limited (100.0% owned), whose operating subsidiary is Empire Life (99.4% 
(2019 - 99.4%) owed). Empire underwrites life and health insurance policies and provides segregated 
funds, and annuity products. Empire Life’s (wholly-owned) mutual fund subsidiary, Empire Life 
Investments Inc. is a registered Investment Funds Manager.

ii) United (52.7% (2019 - 52.2%) owned) which is a closed-end investment company traded on the 
Toronto Stock Exchange under the symbol “UNC”. United is an investment vehicle for long-term growth 
through investments in common equities. United has a reporting date of March 31, therefore, certain 
adjustments have been made for the purpose of inclusion in the Company’s consolidated financial 
statements.
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The following table summarizes the statements of financial position for the operating subsidiaries:

Empire Life United
2020 2019 2020 2019

NCI percentage  0.6 %  0.6 %  47.3 %  47.8 %

Cash and cash equivalents $ 189,356 $ 140,333 $ 67,290 $ 37,712 
Investments  9,855,846  9,152,734  2,060,823  1,898,438 
Segregated funds  8,457,417  8,498,583  —  — 
Other  213,134  169,139  16,139  11,666 
Total assets  18,715,753  17,960,789  2,144,252  1,947,816 

Insurance and investment contract liabilities  (7,216,402)  (6,141,016)  —  — 
Reinsurance liabilities  (384,761)  (698,372)  —  — 
Deferred tax  (35,711)  (8,805)  (63,119)  (52,315) 
Subordinated debt  (399,442)  (399,098)  —  — 
Segregated funds  (8,457,417)  (8,498,583)  —  — 
Other  (274,950)  (275,073)  (16,704)  (6,939) 
Total liabilities  (16,768,683)  (16,020,947)  (79,823)  (59,254) 
Net assets  1,947,070  1,939,842  2,064,429  1,888,562 
Participating policyholders’ interests  (44,148)  (40,112)  —  — 
Preferred shareholders’ interest  (149,500)  (149,500)  (7,747)  (7,747) 
Net assets available to common shareholders $ 1,753,422 $ 1,750,230 $ 2,056,682 $ 1,880,815 

NCI - common shareholders $ 9,881 $ 10,356 $ 965,212 $ 900,358 
NCI - preferred shareholders  149,500  149,500  7,747  7,747 
Total NCI $ 159,381 $ 159,856 $ 972,959 $ 908,105 

The following table summarizes the statements of income and comprehensive income:
Empire Life United

For the year ended 2020 2019 2020 2019

Revenue $ 1,982,102 $ 2,114,901 $ 260,765 $ 272,421 

Net income  157,231  190,658  211,836  220,951 
Other comprehensive income  40,465  48,686  —  — 
Total comprehensive income $ 197,696 $ 239,344 $ 211,836 $ 220,951 

Total comprehensive income allocated to NCI $ 14,577 $ 14,899 $ 100,482 $ 105,702 
Dividends declared to NCI $ 9,698 $ 9,037 $ 13,523 $ 13,493 

The following table summarizes the cash flows:

Empire Life United
Summarized cash flows 2020 2019 2020 2019
Cash flows from operating activities $ 273,257 $ 368,409 $ 15,846 $ (10,791) 
Cash flows from investing activities $ (19,672) $ (336,685) $ 49,730 $ 23,245 
Cash flows from financing activities $ (204,562) $ (96,312) $ (35,998) $ (27,815) 

In the first quarter of 2016, Empire Life issued to the public 5,980,000 Non-Cumulative Rate Reset 
Preferred Shares, Series 1 (Series 1 Preferred Shares) at $25 per share. Holders of Series 1 Preferred 
Shares are entitled to receive fixed non-cumulative quarterly dividends yielding 5.75% annually, as and 
when declared by the Board of Directors of Empire Life, for the initial period ending on and including April 
17, 2021. Thereafter, the dividend rate will be reset every five years at a rate equal to the 5-year 
Government of Canada bond yield plus 4.99%. Holders of Series 1 Preferred Shares will have the right, at 
their option, to convert their shares into Non-Cumulative Floating Rate Preferred Shares, Series 2 (Series 
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2 Preferred Shares), subject to certain conditions, on April 17, 2021 and on April 17 every five years 
thereafter. Holders of the Series 2 Preferred Shares will be entitled to receive non-cumulative quarterly 
floating dividends, as and when declared by the Board of Directors of Empire Life, at a rate equal to the 
three-month Government of Canada Treasury Bill yield plus 4.99%. Subject to regulatory approval, 
Empire Life may redeem the Series 1 Preferred Shares, in whole or in part, at par, on April17, 2021 and 
every five years thereafter.

The cost of issuance of the Series 1 Preferred Shares, $5,150 less $1,375 of income tax, was charged to 
retained earnings.

Empire Life is registered under the Insurance Companies Act, Canada and is regulated by the OSFI. Any 
dividends paid by Empire Life must comply with regulatory requirements.

Shareholders’ entitlement to $3,594 (2019 - $3,369) of shareholders’ equity is contingent upon future 
payment of dividends to participating Empire Life policyholders.

27.  COVID-19 pandemic

In March 2020, the World Health Organization declared a pandemic related to the COVID-19 virus. The 
spread of the pandemic, given its severity and scale has affected and may continue to affect the 
Company's financial results, its customers and continues to pose risks to the Canadian economy. The 
Company continues to adjust its operations, where necessary, as government restrictions and measures 
evolve.

The duration and impact of the COVID-19 pandemic cannot currently be determined. If the pandemic is 
prolonged, including the possibility of subsequent waves, or further diseases emerge that give rise to 
similar effects, the adverse impact on the economy could deepen and results in further volatility and 
declines in equity markets and interest rates, increases in credit risk, insurance claims, or disruptions in 
business operations. These economic conditions may contribute to uncertainty over the carrying value of 
certain assets and liabilities in these financial statements. The Company has considered these events 
and their effects when applying the measurement techniques for critical accounting estimates and 
judgments provided in note 2(b). The potential effect on the Company's financial results due to 
fluctuations in equity markets and interest rates are provided in note 22.

28.  Subsequent event

On February 17, 2021, Empire Life issued $200 million of Limited Recourse Capital Notes Series 1 
(“LRCN Series 1”) with recourse limited to assets held by a third party trustee in a trust which will be 
consolidated in these financial statements. Payments of interest and principal in cash on the LRCN Series 
1 are made at the discretion of Empire Life and non-payment of interest and principal in cash does not 
constitute an event of default. In the event of a non-payment of interest, the sole remedy of note holders 
shall be the delivery of the holders’ proportionate share of the trust assets. In such an event, the delivery 
of the trust assets will represent the full and complete extinguishment of the Company’s obligations under 
the LRCN Series 1.

The trust assets consist of $200 million of Empire Life Non-Cumulative 5-year Fixed Rate Reset Preferred 
Shares, Series 5 which were issued concurrently with the LRCN Series 1 at a rate of $1000 per Series 5. 
Holders of the LRCN Series 1 are entitled to receive semi-annual payments at a rate of 3.625% per 
annum until April 17, 2026. Thereafter, the yield will reset every five years at a rate equal to the 5-year 
Government of Canada bond yield plus 3.082%.
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Summary of Consolidated Results (unaudited)

2020 2019 2018 2017 2016

Premium income $ 860,241 $ 909,841 $ 873,605 $ 834,214 $ 881,500 
Share of (loss) income from investments in associates  (28,858)  23,552  9,817  35,840  (12,084) 
Fair value change in fair value through profit or loss 

investments  964,564  1,242,198  (512,135)  799,351  170,931 
Realized gain (loss) on available for sale investments  29,414  21,886  (1,411)  47,545  28,588 
Investment and other income  710,680  732,616  706,816  655,628  590,866 
Total revenues  2,536,041  2,930,093  1,076,692  2,372,578  1,659,801 
Policy benefits  1,371,439  1,456,715  549,443  1,070,044  828,612 
Operating expenditures including 
   commissions and premium taxes  451,130  446,217  438,016  406,486  398,327 
Income taxes  109,960  165,479  32,232  142,974  80,916 

 603,512  861,682  57,001  753,074  351,946 
Policyholders’ and non-controlling 
    interest portion of income  103,820  117,037  25,900  84,972  18,803 
E-L Financial shareholders’ net income $ 499,692 $ 744,645 $ 31,101 $ 668,102 $ 333,143 

Net income per share - basic $ 128.21 $ 185.67 $ 3.96 $ 166.17 $ 80.88 

Assets
Cash and cash equivalents $ 427,757 $ 303,085 $ 332,558 $ 338,989 $ 419,906 
Investments in associates  266,570  349,899  334,913  330,050  309,644 
Investments - corporate  5,688,889  5,270,128  4,596,188  4,853,200  4,341,596 
Investments - insurance operations  9,855,846  9,152,734  8,073,649  8,265,212  7,235,918 
Insurance receivable  46,533  48,728  46,701  46,294  53,097 
Other assets  202,211  125,810  140,636  124,005  141,322 

 16,487,806  15,250,384  13,524,645  13,957,750  12,501,483 
Segregated funds  8,457,417  8,498,583  7,822,790  8,681,892  8,082,033 

$ 24,945,223 $ 23,748,967 $ 21,347,435 $ 22,639,642 $ 20,583,516 

Liabilities
Insurance contract liabilities $ 7,216,402 $ 6,141,016 $ 5,242,462 $ 5,430,098 $ 5,065,962 
Other liabilities  1,620,917  1,726,523  1,743,581  1,956,575  1,518,064 
Policyholders’ and non-controlling interest  1,176,488  1,108,073  1,015,305  1,018,128  963,258 

 10,013,807  8,975,612  8,001,348  8,404,801  7,547,284 
Capital stock  366,793  372,388  372,388  372,388  372,388 
Retained earnings  6,050,795  5,878,228  5,168,573  5,171,997  4,538,540 
Accumulated other comprehensive income (loss)  56,411  24,156  (17,664)  8,564  43,271 

 6,473,999  6,274,772  5,523,297  5,552,949  4,954,199 
 16,487,806  15,250,384  13,524,645  13,957,750  12,501,483 

Segregated funds  8,457,417  8,498,583  7,822,790  8,681,892  8,082,033 
$ 24,945,223 $ 23,748,967 $ 21,347,435 $ 22,639,642 $ 20,583,516 
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Summary of Empire Life (unaudited)

2020 2019 2018 2017 2016

Premium income $ 860,241 $ 909,841 $ 873,605 $ 834,214 $ 881,500 

Fair value change in fair value through 
    profit or loss investments  356,755  490,381  (318,039)  239,407  11,873 

Realized gain on fair value through 
    profit or loss investments  154,926  105,331  11,900  57,188  20,114 
Realized gain (loss) on available for sale
    investments  29,414  21,886  (1,411)  5,816  11,739 

Investment and other income  580,766  587,462  572,369  537,980  483,282 

Total revenues  1,982,102  2,114,901  1,138,424  1,674,605  1,408,508 

Policy benefits  1,822,525  1,649,199  511,938  1,027,222  898,751 

Operating expenditures including commissions 
    and premium taxes  (46,052)  212,777  437,611  416,961  298,890 

Income and capital taxes  48,398  62,267  40,986  54,522  53,701 

 157,231  190,658  147,889  175,900  157,166 

Profits allocated to policyholders  4,047  3,219  (3,052)  (4,666)  (3,439) 

Profits allocated to non-policyholders  14,334  14,592  14,403  10,809  9,106 

Net contribution to E-L $ 138,850 $ 172,847 $ 136,538 $ 169,757 $ 151,499 

Premium income by line of business

Wealth Management $ 94,581 $ 159,115 $ 154,860 $ 135,542 $ 175,832 

Employee Benefits  357,039  360,383  339,852  330,563  338,908 

Individual Insurance  408,621  390,343  378,893  368,109  366,760 

Total premiums $ 860,241 $ 909,841 $ 873,605 $ 834,214 $ 881,500 

Assets including segregated funds $ 18,715,753 $ 17,960,789 $ 16,269,697 $ 17,394,547 $ 15,862,176 
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Summary of Financial Progress Since the Company’s Inception
(Unaudited)

Year ending 
December

Total 
Assets

Net 
Premiums

Total 
Revenues

Shareholders’ 
Equity

Net Income
(Loss)

Net Income
(Loss) Per

Share

1969 $ 161,787 $ 41,256 $ 49,966 $ 21,447 $ 2,032 $ 0.58 
1970  178,204  48,024  57,637  24,656  2,607  0.75 
1971  192,863  52,386  62,985  27,007  2,504  0.72 
1972  212,319  57,570  69,404  30,824  4,352  1.25 
1973  234,926  67,732  81,221  34,707  4,278  1.22 
1974  257,732  76,487  92,117  37,155  2,118  0.60 
1975  282,000  88,314  105,793  39,741  2,990  0.85 
1976  323,131  111,484  131,560  45,824  6,375  1.82 
1977  376,428  134,419  158,446  55,047  9,970  2.86 
1978  450,606  150,607  179,995  70,323  7,252  2.08 
1979  487,206  147,330  181,869  82,604  13,084  3.26 
1980  536,926  164,708  204,357  97,422  11,300  2.81 
1981  585,110  195,967  242,631  92,162  (1,860)  (0.46) 
1982  630,645  218,042  273,265  100,691  8,662  2.15 
1983  706,425  219,067  281,979  129,134  28,464  7.08 
1984  777,270  230,445  300,345  150,766  26,954  6.71 
1985  1,118,141  356,232  441,180  140,111  (9,671)  (2.41) 
1986  1,400,171  435,795  537,969  154,593  18,436  4.59 
1987  1,545,769  480,742  602,617  187,455  21,846  5.44 
1988  1,666,086  477,787  610,928  222,944  36,097  8.98 
1989  1,832,250  547,353  696,924  256,575  40,258  10.01 
1990  1,928,160  568,217  727,841  255,463  7,208  1.80 
1991  2,341,396  667,477  820,109  276,464  31,725  7.89 
1992  2,783,297  737,292  933,083  322,706  18,700  4.65 
1993  2,944,319  706,822  914,718  362,925  41,619  10.36 
1994  3,029,425  637,915  812,062  402,734  41,055  10.21 
1995  3,052,601  723,330  900,179  443,953  43,555  10.83 
1996  3,598,443  766,606  964,533  498,320  57,814  14.38 
1997  5,130,087  805,187  1,135,463  667,634  166,386  41.39 
1998  5,522,285  822,513  1,109,457  951,114  57,165  14.22 
1999  5,756,343  875,594  1,185,846  1,001,548  52,599  13.09 
2000  6,253,408  918,065  1,267,189  1,139,691  73,389  18.26 
2001  6,385,555  966,826  1,306,988  1,250,974  77,480  19.27 
2002  6,433,194  1,107,295  1,380,163  1,267,385  51,512  12.81 
2003  7,308,559  1,358,119  1,652,951  1,375,394  46,870  11.66 

This chart is drawn from the individual annual reports and has not been restated for any subsequent changes in accounting 
    policies. 

1985 - The Canadian Indemnity Company was acquired

1986 - Montreal Life Insurance Company was acquired

1991 - Canadian operations of SAFECO Corporation were acquired

1997 - Colonia Life Insurance Company was acquired - Investment in National Trustco Inc. was sold

1998 - E-L Financial’s Corporate Investments were recorded at market value versus cost basis
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Summary of Financial Progress Since the Company’s Inception
(Unaudited)

Year ending 
December

Total 
Assets

Net 
Premiums

Total 
Revenues

Shareholders’
Equity

Shareholders’ 
Comprehensive 
Income (Loss)

Comprehensive
Income (Loss) 

Per Share

2004 $ 8,279,929 $ 1,543,086 $ 1,893,119 $ 1,582,143 $ 129,886 $ 31.91 
2005  9,830,984  1,600,708  2,201,191  1,815,670  293,703  86.68 
2006  11,206,412  1,628,870  2,320,794  2,197,721  372,520  109.97 
2007  12,835,288  1,630,208  2,162,946  2,500,446  81,860  21.58 
2008  10,912,997  1,709,435  1,600,148  2,015,202  (470,235)  (144.42) 
2009  12,902,041  1,925,902  2,153,506  2,250,943  249,876  72.28 
2010  13,974,077  2,008,040  2,725,184  2,433,377  195,293  55.94 
2011  14,599,583  1,972,790  2,805,547  2,519,393  (57,752)  (17.24) 
2012  16,662,339  2,022,797  3,010,100  2,981,573  481,774  118.96 
2013  15,885,492  821,544  1,644,896  3,752,880  871,577  217.99 
2014  17,911,247  867,493  2,391,237  4,166,228  428,032  105.04 
2015  18,967,193  835,216  1,989,764  4,676,524  523,132  129.26 
2016  20,583,516  881,500  1,659,801  4,954,199  315,961  76.50 
2017  22,639,642  834,214  2,372,578  5,552,949  633,395  157.33 
2018  21,347,435  873,605  1,076,692  5,523,297  4,873  (2.72) 
2019  23,748,967  909,841  2,930,093  6,274,772  786,465  196.32 
2020  24,945,223  860,241  2,536,041  6,473,999  531,947  136.75 

This chart is drawn from the individual annual reports and has not been restated for any subsequent changes in accounting 
   policies. 

2005 -  Changes in fair value of E-L Financial’s Corporate Investments are recognized in income in the period in which the change 
             occurs

2007 -  All investments are carried at fair value except for those which do not have a quoted price in an active market. The change 
            in fair value of certain investments are reflected in net income (‘held for trading investments) with the remainder in other
            comprehensive income (‘available for sale’ investments). Comprehensive income consists of net income and other
            comprehensive income.

2011 -  Conversion to International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”)

2012 - United Corporation Limited became a subsidiary of E-L Financial Corporation Limited

2013 - The Dominion of Canada General Insurance Company was sold
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Glossary of Terms 
Accumulated Other Comprehensive Income (“AOCI”)
A separate component of shareholders’ and policyholders’ equity which includes net unrealized gains and 
losses on available for sale securities, unamortized gains and losses on cash flow hedges, unrealized 
foreign currency translation gains and losses and the Company’s share of AOCI from its associates. 
These items have been recognized in comprehensive income, but excluded from net income.

Active Market
An active market is a market in which the items traded are homogeneous, willing buyers and sellers can 
normally be found at any time and prices are available to the public.

Available For Sale (“AFS”) Financial Assets
Non-derivative financial assets that are designated as available for sale or that are not classified as loans 
and receivables, held to maturity investments, or held for trading. 

Canadian Asset Liability Method (“CALM”)
The prescribed method for valuation of policy liabilities in Canada. CALM is a prospective basis of 
valuation that uses the full gross premium for the policy, the estimated expenses and obligations under 
the policy, current expected experience assumptions plus a margin for adverse deviations, and scenario 
testing to assess interest rate risk and market risks.

Canadian Institute of Actuaries (“CIA”)
As the national organization of the Canadian actuarial profession, the CIA means to serve the public 
through the provision by the profession of actuarial services and advice of the highest quality. The CIA 
ensures that the actuarial services provided by its members meet accepted professional standards; and 
assists actuaries in Canada in the discharge of their professional responsibilities.

Canadian Life and Health Insurance Association (“CLHIA”)
The CLHIA is an organization representing life insurance and health insurance providers in Canada. The 
industry develops guidelines, voluntarily and proactively, to respond to emerging issues and to ensure 
consumer interests are protected.

Chartered Professional Accountants of Canada (“CPA Canada”)
Canada’s not-for-profit association for Chartered Professional Accountants (“CPA”) provides information 
and guidance to its members, students and capital markets. Working in collaboration with its provincial 
member organizations, CPA Canada supports the setting of accounting, auditing and assurance 
standards for business, not-for-profit organizations and government, and develops and delivers education 
programs.

Earnings on Surplus
This source of earnings represents the pre-tax earnings on the shareholders’ capital and surplus funds.

Effective Interest Method
The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortized cost of a financial asset or a 
financial liability and of allocating the interest income or interest expense over the relevant period. The 
effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash payments or receipts 
through the expected life of the financial instrument or, when appropriate, a shorter period to the net 
carrying amount of the financial asset or financial liability.

Expected Profit from In-Force Business
This source of earnings represents the profit Empire Life expects to generate on in-force business if 
experience is in line with the Empire Life’s best estimate assumptions for mortality, morbidity, persistency, 
investment returns, expenses and taxes. 
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Experience Gains and Losses
This source of earnings represents gains or losses due to the difference between actual experience and 
the best estimate assumptions.

Fair Value Through Profit or Loss (“FVTPL”)
Invested assets are classified as financial instruments at FVTPL if they are held for trading, or if they are 
designated by management under the fair value option.

Impact of New Business
Writing new business typically adds economic value to a life insurance company. At the point of sale, new 
business may have a positive or negative impact on earnings. A negative impact (new business strain) will 
result when the provision for adverse deviation included in the actuarial liabilities at the point of sale 
exceeds the expected profit margin in the product pricing. The impact of new business also includes any 
excess acquisition expenses not covered by product pricing at the point of issue.

International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”)
Refers to the international accounting standards that were adopted in Canada, effective January 1, 2011; 
these are now Canadian Generally Accepted Accounting Principles.

Life Insurance Capital Adequacy Test (“LICAT”)
The LICAT measures the capital adequacy of an insurer and is one of several indicators used by OSFI to 
assess an insurer's financial condition. The LICAT Ratio is the ratio of eligible capital to the base solvency 
buffer, each as calculated under OSFI's published guidelines.

Management Actions and Changes in Assumptions
This source of earnings component includes earnings generated by management actions during the year 
(e.g. acquisition or sale of a block of business, changes to product price, fees or asset mix, etc.) or the 
impact of changes in assumptions or methodology used for the calculation of actuarial liabilities for in-
force business.

Other Comprehensive Income (“OCI”) Loss (“OCL”)
Unrealized gains and losses, primarily on financial assets backing Capital and Surplus, are recorded as 
OCI or OCL. When these assets are sold or written down the resulting gain or loss is reclassified from 
OCI to net income. Remeasurements of post-employment benefit liabilities are also recorded as OCI or 
OCL. These remeasurements will not be reclassified to net income and will remain in AOCI.

Office of the Superintendent of Financial Institutions Canada (“OSFI”)
The primary regulator of federally chartered financial institutions and federally administered pension plans 
in Canada. OSFI’s mission is to safeguard policyholders, depositors and pension plan members from 
undue loss.

Participating Policies (“PAR”)
The participating account includes all policies issued by Empire Life that entitle its policyholders to 
participate in the profits of the participating account. Empire Life has discretion as to the amount and 
timing of dividend payments which take into consideration the continuing solvency of the participating 
account.

Return on Common Shareholders’ Equity (“ROE”)
A profitability measure that presents the net income available to common shareholders as a percentage of 
the average capital deployed to earn the income. Quarterly and year to date returns are calculated on an 
annualized basis.

SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION
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HEAD OFFICE:

Tenth Floor, 165 University Avenue, Toronto, Ontario, M5H 3B8
Phone: 416-947-2578
Fax: 416-362-2592

TRANSFER AGENT AND REGISTRAR:

Computershare Investor Services Inc.
100 University Avenue, 9th Floor, Toronto, Ontario M5J 2Y1
Toll Free: 1-800-564-6253
www.computershare.com/service

STOCK EXCHANGE LISTINGS:

Common Shares ELF
First Preference Shares, Series 1 ELF.PR.F
First Preference Shares, Series 2 ELF.PR.G
First Preference Shares, Series 3 ELF.PR.H

WEBSITE:

www.e-lfinancial.ca

REPORTING PROCEDURE FOR ACCOUNTING MATTERS

If you have a complaint regarding accounting, internal controls or a concern regarding questionable 
accounting, you should submit your written complaint or concern to:

Mr. James Billett
E-L Financial Corporation Limited
165 University Avenue, 10th Floor
Toronto, Ontario
M5H 3B8
Email: jfbillett@rogers.com
Phone: 416-284-6440

You may submit your complaint or concern anonymously. Your submission will be kept confidential and 
will be treated in accordance with the Company’s policy for reporting accounting or auditing matters.
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